WORLD TRADE

ORGANIZATION

WT/DS406/AB/R 4 April 2012

(12-1741)

Original: English

UNITED STATES – MEASURES AFFECTING THE PRODUCTION AND SALE OF CLOVE CIGARETTES

AB-2012-1

Report of the Appellate Body

I.	Intro	duction	1
II.	Argu	ments of the Participants and the Third Participants	5
	A.	Claims of Error by the United States – Appellant	5
		 Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Like Products"	5 6
		 Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Treatment No Less Favourable" Article 2.12 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Reasonable Interval" 	
	B.	Arguments of Indonesia – Appellee	
		 Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Like Products"	15
		(b) Consumer Tastes and Habits	
		 Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Treatment No Less Favourable" Article 2.12 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> – "Reasonable Interval" 	
	C.	Arguments of the Third Participants	
	C.	1. Brazil	
		2. Colombia	
		3. European Union	
		 Mexico	
		 5. Norway 6. Turkey 	
III.	Issue	s Raised in This Appeal	
IV.		ground	
V.	Artic	le 2.1 of the TBT Agreement	37
	A.	Introduction	
	B.	The Panel's Finding that Clove Cigarettes and Menthol Cigarettes are "Like Products" within the Meaning of Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement	41
		1. "Like Products" under Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i>	42
		2. End-Uses	
		 Consumer Tastes and Habits Conclusion on "Like Products" 	
	C.	The Panel's Finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA Accords Imported Clove Cigarettes Less Favourable Treatment than That Accorded to Domestic	
		Menthol Cigarettes, within the Meaning of Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement	
		 Introduction "Treatment No Less Favourable" under Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i> 	
		 Product Scope of the "Treatment No Less Favourable" Comparison 	
		 Temporal Scope of the "Treatment No Less Favourable" Comparison 	
		(a) Application of Article 2.1 of the <i>TBT Agreement</i>	72
		(b) Article 11 of the DSU	
		5. Detrimental Impact on Imported Products	
		 (a) Application of Article 2.1 (b) Article 11 of the DSU 	
		 Conclusion on "Treatment No Less Favourable" 	

	D.	Conclusions under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement	82
VI.	Article	2.12 of the TBT Agreement	83
	A.	Introduction	83
	B.	The Interpretative Value of Paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision	84
	C.	The Panel's Finding that the United States Acted Inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement	94
VII.	Finding	s and Conclusions	101

Annex I Notification of an Appeal by the United States, WT/DS406/6

CASES	CITED	IN	THIS	REPORT
CABLD	ULLD	11.4	THD	KLI OK I

Short Title	Full case title and citation
Australia – Salmon	Appellate Body Report, <i>Australia – Measures Affecting Importation of Salmon</i> , WT/DS18/AB/R, adopted 6 November 1998, DSR 1998:VIII, 3327
Border Tax Adjustments	Working Party Report, <i>Border Tax Adjustments</i> , L/3464, adopted 2 December 1970, BISD 18S/97
Brazil – Retreaded Tyres	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Measures Affecting Imports of Retreaded Tyres</i> , WT/DS332/AB/R, adopted 17 December 2007, DSR 2007:IV, 1527
Canada – Provincial Liquor Boards (US)	GATT Panel Report, <i>Canada – Import, Distribution and Sale of Certain Alcoholic Drinks by Provincial Marketing Agencies</i> , DS17/R, adopted 18 February 1992, BISD 39S/27
Canada – Wheat Exports and Grain Imports	Appellate Body Report, <i>Canada – Measures Relating to Exports of Wheat and Treatment of Imported Grain</i> , WT/DS276/AB/R, adopted 27 September 2004, DSR 2004:VI, 2739
Chile – Alcoholic Beverages	Appellate Body Report, <i>Chile – Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages</i> , WT/DS87/AB/R, WT/DS110/AB/R, adopted 12 January 2000, DSR 2000:I, 281
Chile – Alcoholic Beverages	Panel Report, <i>Chile – Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages</i> , WT/DS87/R, WT/DS110/R, adopted 12 January 2000, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS87/AB/R, WT/DS110/AB/R, DSR 2000:I, 303
Chile – Price Band System	Appellate Body Report, <i>Chile – Price Band System and Safeguard Measures</i> <i>Relating to Certain Agricultural Products</i> , WT/DS207/AB/R, adopted 23 October 2002, DSR 2002:VIII, 3045 (Corr.1, DSR 2006:XII, 5473)
Chile – Price Band System (Article 21.5 – Argentina)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Chile – Price Band System and Safeguard Measures Relating to Certain Agricultural Products – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Argentina</i> , WT/DS207/AB/RW, adopted 22 May 2007, DSR 2007:II, 513
Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes	Appellate Body Report, <i>Dominican Republic – Measures Affecting the Importation and Internal Sale of Cigarettes</i> , WT/DS302/AB/R, adopted 19 May 2005, DSR 2005:XV, 7367
EC – Approval and Marketing of Biotech Products	Panel Report, <i>European Communities – Measures Affecting the Approval and Marketing of Biotech Products</i> , WT/DS291/R, WT/DS292/R, WT/DS293/R, Add.1 to Add.9, and Corr.1, adopted 21 November 2006, DSR 2006:III-VIII, 847
EC – Asbestos	Appellate Body Report, <i>European Communities – Measures Affecting Asbestos and Asbestos-Containing Products</i> , WT/DS135/AB/R, adopted 5 April 2001, DSR 2001:VII, 3243
EC – Bananas III	Panel Reports, European Communities – Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas ("EC – Bananas III"), WT/DS27/R/ECU (Ecuador) / WT/DS27/R/GTM, WT/DS27/R/HND (Guatemala and Honduras) / WT/DS27/R/MEX (Mexico) / WT/DS27/R/USA (US), adopted 25 September 1997, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS27/AB/R, DSR 1997:II, 695 to DSR 1997:III, 1085

Short Title	Full case title and citation
EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)	Appellate Body Reports, <i>European Communities – Regime for the</i> <i>Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas – Second Recourse to</i> <i>Article 21.5 of the DSU by Ecuador</i> , WT/DS27/AB/RW2/ECU, adopted 11 December 2008, and Corr.1 / <i>European Communities – Regime for the</i> <i>Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas – Recourse to Article 21.5 of</i> <i>the DSU by the United States</i> , WT/DS27/AB/RW/USA and Corr.1, adopted 22 December 2008
EC – Bed Linen (Article 21.5 – India)	Appellate Body Report, <i>European Communities – Anti-Dumping Duties on Imports of Cotton-Type Bed Linen from India – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by India</i> , WT/DS141/AB/RW, adopted 24 April 2003, DSR 2003:III, 965
EC – Fasteners (China)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Certain Iron or Steel Fasteners from China, WT/DS397/AB/R, adopted 28 July 2011
EC – Hormones	Appellate Body Report, <i>EC Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products</i> (<i>Hormones</i>), WT/DS26/AB/R, WT/DS48/AB/R, adopted 13 February 1998, DSR 1998:I, 135
EC – Sardines	Appellate Body Report, <i>European Communities – Trade Description of Sardines</i> , WT/DS231/AB/R, adopted 23 October 2002, DSR 2002:VIII, 3359
EC and certain member States – Large Civil Aircraft	Appellate Body Report, European Communities and Certain Member States – Measures Affecting Trade in Large Civil Aircraft, WT/DS316/AB/R, adopted 1 June 2011
Japan – Agricultural Products II	Appellate Body Report, <i>Japan – Measures Affecting Agricultural Products</i> , WT/DS76/AB/R, adopted 19 March 1999, DSR 1999:I, 277
Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II	Panel Report, <i>Japan – Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages</i> , WT/DS8/R, WT/DS10/R, WT/DS11/R, adopted 1 November 1996, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS8/AB/R, WT/DS10/AB/R, WT/DS11/AB/R, DSR 1996:I, 125
Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II	Appellate Body Report, <i>Japan – Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages</i> , WT/DS8/AB/R, WT/DS10/AB/R, WT/DS11/AB/R, adopted 1 November 1996, DSR 1996:I, 97
Japan – Apples	Appellate Body Report, <i>Japan – Measures Affecting the Importation of Apples</i> , WT/DS245/AB/R, adopted 10 December 2003, DSR 2003:IX, 4391
Korea – Various Measures on Beef	Appellate Body Report, <i>Korea – Measures Affecting Imports of Fresh,</i> <i>Chilled and Frozen Beef</i> , WT/DS161/AB/R, WT/DS169/AB/R, adopted 10 January 2001, DSR 2001:I, 5
Mexico – Taxes on Soft Drinks	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Tax Measures on Soft Drinks and Other Beverages</i> , WT/DS308/AB/R, adopted 24 March 2006, DSR 2006:I, 3
Philippines – Distilled Spirits	Appellate Body Reports, <i>Philippines – Taxes on Distilled Spirits</i> , WT/DS396/AB/R / WT/DS403/AB/R, adopted 20 January 2012
Philippines – Distilled Spirits	Panel Reports, <i>Philippines – Taxes on Distilled Spirits</i> , WT/DS396/R / WT/DS403/R, adopted 20 January 2012, as modified by Appellate Body Reports WT/DS396/AB/R / WT/DS403/AB/R
Thailand – Cigarettes (Philippines)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Thailand – Customs and Fiscal Measures on Cigarettes from the Philippines</i> , WT/DS371/AB/R, adopted 15 July 2011

Short Title	Full case title and citation
US – Carbon Steel	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Countervailing Duties on Certain Corrosion-Resistant Carbon Steel Flat Products from Germany</i> , WT/DS213/AB/R and Corr.1, adopted 19 December 2002, DSR 2002:IX, 3779
US – Clove Cigarettes	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Affecting the Production and Sale of Clove Cigarettes</i> , WT/DS406/R, circulated to WTO Members 2 September 2011
US – Gasoline	Panel Report, <i>United States – Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline</i> , WT/DS2/R, adopted 20 May 1996, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS2/AB/R, DSR 1996:I, 29
US – Section 337 Tariff Act	GATT Panel Report, <i>United States Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930</i> , L/6439, adopted 7 November 1989, BISD 36S/345
US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Final Anti-Dumping Measures on Stainless Steel from Mexico</i> , WT/DS344/AB/R, adopted 20 May 2008, DSR 2008:II, 513
US – Steel Safeguards	Appellate Body Report, United States – Definitive Safeguard Measures on Imports of Certain Steel Products, WT/DS248/AB/R, WT/DS249/AB/R, WT/DS251/AB/R, WT/DS252/AB/R, WT/DS253/AB/R, WT/DS254/AB/R, WT/DS258/AB/R, WT/DS259/AB/R, adopted 10 December 2003, DSR 2003:VII, 3117
US – Tuna (II) (Mexico)	Panel Report, United States – Measures Concerning the Importation, Marketing and Sale of Tuna and Tuna Products, WT/DS381/R, circulated to WTO Members 15 September 2011
US – Tuna II (Mexico)	Panel Report, United States – Measures Concerning the Importation, Marketing and Sale of Tuna and Tuna Products, WT/DS381/R, circulated to WTO Members 15 September 2011 [appeal in progress]
US – Upland Cotton (Article 21.5 – Brazil)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Brazil</i> , WT/DS267/AB/RW, adopted 20 June 2008, DSR 2008:III, 809
US – Wheat Gluten	Appellate Body Report, United States – Definitive Safeguard Measures on Imports of Wheat Gluten from the European Communities, WT/DS166/AB/R, adopted 19 January 2001, DSR 2001:II, 717
US – Wool Shirts and Blouses	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measure Affecting Imports of Woven Wool Shirts and Blouses from India</i> , WT/DS33/AB/R, adopted 23 May 1997, and Corr.1, DSR 1997:I, 323

Abbreviation	Description
Doha Ministerial Decision	Doha Ministerial Decision on Implementation-Related Issues and Concerns, Decision of 14 November 2011, WT/MIN(01)/17
DSB	Dispute Settlement Body
DSU	Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FDA Guidance	Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff, "General Questions and Answers on the Ban of Cigarettes that Contain Characterizing Flavors (Edition 2)", 23 December 2009 (Panel Exhibit IND-41)
FFDCA	United States Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, <i>United States Code</i> , Title 21, Chapter 9
FSPTCA	United States Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, Public Law No. 111-31, 123 Stat. 1776 (22 June 2009) (Panel Exhibit US-7)
GATT 1994	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994
House Report	House Energy and Commerce Committee Report, H.R. No. 111-58, Pt. 1 (2009) (Panel Exhibits IND-2 and US-67)
ILC	International Law Commission
March 2011 TPSAC Report	Report by the Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee to the FDA, March 2011 available at <http: downloads<br="" www.fda.gov="">/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/Tobacco ProductsScientificAdvisoryCommittee/UCM247689.pdf></http:>
Panel Report	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Affecting the Production and Sale of Clove Cigarettes</i> , WT/DS406/R
Section 907(a)(1)(A)	Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA (as amended by the FSPTCA), codified at <i>United States Code</i> , Title 21, Chapter 9, section 387g(a)(1)(A)
TBT Agreement	Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade
Vienna Convention	Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, done at Vienna, 23 May 1969, 1155 UNTS, 8 International Legal Materials 679
WHO	World Health Organization
Working Procedures	Working Procedures for Appellate Review, WT/AB/WP/6, 16 August 2010
WTO	World Trade Organization
WTO Agreement	Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization

ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS REPORT

WORLD TRADE ORGANIZATION APPELLATE BODY

United States – Measures Affecting the Production and Sale of Clove Cigarettes

United States, *Appellant* Indonesia, *Appellee*

Brazil, *Third Participant* Colombia, *Third Participant* Dominican Republic, *Third Participant* European Union, *Third Participant* Guatemala, *Third Participant* Mexico, *Third Participant* Norway, *Third Participant* Turkey, *Third Participant*

AB-2012-1

Present:

Oshima, Presiding Member Ramírez-Hernández, Member Van den Bossche, Member

I. Introduction

1. The United States appeals certain issues of law and legal interpretations developed in the Panel Report, *United States – Measures Affecting the Production and Sale of Clove Cigarettes*¹ (the "Panel Report"). The Panel was established on 20 July 2010 to consider a complaint by Indonesia with respect to a measure adopted by the United States that prohibits cigarettes with characterizing flavours, other than tobacco or menthol.

2. Before the Panel, Indonesia claimed that the United States acted inconsistently with its substantive and procedural obligations under the *Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade* (the "*TBT Agreement*") and the *General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* (the "GATT 1994"). In particular, Indonesia claimed that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the United States Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act² (the "FFDCA")—as amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act³ (the "FSPTCA")—was inconsistent with Articles 2.1, 2.2, 2.5, 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.12, and 12.3 of the *TBT Agreement*. Alternatively, Indonesia claimed that Section 907(a)(1)(A) was inconsistent with Article III:4 of the GATT 1994⁴, and could not be justified under Article XX(b) thereof.⁵

¹WT/DS406/R, 2 September 2011.

²Codified at *United States Code*, Title 21, Chapter 9, section 387g(a)(1)(A).

³United States Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, Public Law No. 111-31, 123 Stat. 1776 (22 June 2009) (Panel Exhibit US-7).

⁴Panel Report, para. 3.1.

⁵Panel Report, para. 7.299 (referring to Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, paras. 114-127).

3. The Panel Report was circulated to Members of the World Trade Organization (the "WTO") on 2 September 2011. The Panel found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) was inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* because it accorded to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like menthol cigarettes of national origin.⁶ Having found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) was inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, the Panel declined to rule on Indonesia's alternative claim under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 and on the United States' related defence under Article XX(b) of the GATT 1994.⁷

4. The Panel further found that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.9.2 of the *TBT Agreement* by failing to notify to WTO Members, through the Secretariat, the products to be covered by the proposed Section 907(a)(1)(A), together with a brief indication of its objective and rationale, at an appropriate early stage when amendments and comments were still possible.⁸ The Panel also found that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* by not allowing an interval of no less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A).⁹

5. Conversely, the Panel rejected Indonesia's claims under Articles 2.2, 2.5, 2.8, 2.9.3, 2.10, and 12.3 of the *TBT Agreement*. More specifically, the Panel found that Indonesia failed to demonstrate that Section 907(a)(1)(A) was inconsistent with Article 2.2 of the *TBT Agreement* to the extent that its ban on clove cigarettes was more trade restrictive than necessary to fulfil the legitimate objective of reducing youth smoking, taking account of the risks non-fulfilment would create.¹⁰ The Panel also concluded that Indonesia failed to demonstrate that the United States had acted inconsistently with Article 2.5 of the *TBT Agreement*, because Indonesia did not request the United States to explain the justification for Section 907(a)(1)(A) "in terms of Articles 2.2 and 2.4 of the *TBT Agreement*".¹¹ Similarly, the Panel found that Indonesia failed to demonstrate that it would be "appropriate" to formulate the technical regulation in Section 907(a)(1)(A) in terms of "performance" rather than design or descriptive characteristics, within the meaning of Article 2.8 of the *TBT Agreement*.¹²

6. The Panel further found that Indonesia failed to demonstrate that the United States had acted inconsistently with Article 2.9.3 of the *TBT Agreement*, because Indonesia did not request the

⁶Panel Report, paras. 7.293 and 8.1(b).

⁷Panel Report, paras. 7.294, 7.310, 8.3, and 8.4.

⁸Panel Report, paras. 7.550 and 8.1(f).

⁹Panel Report, paras. 7.595 and 8.1(h).

¹⁰Panel Report, paras. 7.432 and 8.1(c).

¹¹Panel Report, paras. 7.461, 7.463, and 8.1(d).

¹²Panel Report, paras. 7.497, 7.498, and 8.1(e).

United States to provide particulars or copies of Section 907(a)(1)(A) while it was still in draft form.¹³ The Panel also found that, in the absence of any evidence or arguments that "urgent problems of safety, health, environmental protection or national security" arose or threatened to arise upon adoption of Section 907(a)(1)(A), Article 2.10 of the *TBT Agreement* would not be applicable to the present dispute.¹⁴ Finally, the Panel found that Indonesia failed to demonstrate that the United States had acted inconsistently with Article 12.3 of the *TBT Agreement* by failing to take account of the special development, financial, and trade needs of Indonesia in the preparation and application of Section 907(a)(1)(A).¹⁵

7. Accordingly, the Panel recommended that the Dispute Settlement Body (the "DSB") request the United States to bring Section 907(a)(1)(A) into conformity with its obligations under Articles 2.1, 2.9.2, and 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.¹⁶

8. On 5 January 2012, the United States notified the DSB of its intention to appeal certain issues of law covered in the Panel Report and certain legal interpretations developed by the Panel, pursuant to Articles 16.4 and 17 of the *Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes* (the "DSU"), and filed a Notice of Appeal¹⁷ and an appellant's submission pursuant to Rules 20 and 21, respectively, of the *Working Procedures for Appellate Review*¹⁸ (the "*Working Procedures*"). On 23 January 2012, Indonesia filed an appellee's submission.¹⁹ On 26 January 2012, Brazil, Colombia, the European Union, Mexico, Norway, and Turkey each filed a third participant's submission.²⁰ On the same date, the Dominican Republic and Guatemala notified their intention to appear at the oral hearing as third participants.²¹

9. On appeal, the United States claims that the Panel erred in finding that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. In particular, the United States claims that the Panel erred in finding that imported clove cigarettes and domestic menthol cigarettes were like products within the meaning of Article 2.1. The United States also challenges the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic like products. The United States claims further that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in reaching these findings. The United States also claims that the Panel erred in finding that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* by not

¹³Panel Report, paras. 7.549, 7.551, and 8.1(g).

¹⁴Panel Report, para. 7.507.

¹⁵Panel Report, paras. 7.649 and 8.1(i).

¹⁶Panel Report, para. 8.6.

¹⁷WT/DS406/6 (attached as Annex I to this Report).

¹⁸WT/AB/WP/6, 16 August 2010.

¹⁹Pursuant to Rule 22 of the *Working Procedures*.

²⁰Pursuant to Rule 24(1) of the *Working Procedures*.

²¹Pursuant to Rule 24(2) of the Working Procedures.

allowing an interval of no less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A). The United States conditionally appeals the Panel's reliance on the jurisprudence developed under Article XX(b) of the GATT 1994 in its assessment of Indonesia's claims under Article 2.2, should Indonesia appeal the Panel's finding that the United States did not act inconsistently with Article 2.2 of the *TBT Agreement*. Indonesia did not raise an other appeal of any issues under Article 2.2 of the *TBT Agreement*. Therefore, the condition on which the United States bases its appeal of the Panel's findings under Article 2.2 is not met.

10. Two *amicus curiae* briefs were received by the Appellate Body in relation to this appeal: on 24 January 2012 from the Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Cancer Society, the American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network, the American Lung Association, the American Medical Association, and the American Public Health Association; and on 26 January 2012 from the O'Neill Institute for National and Global Health Law at the Georgetown University Law Center. The Appellate Body Division hearing the appeal gave the participants and third participants an opportunity to express their views on the *amicus curiae* briefs referred to above. The Division did not find it necessary to rely on these *amicus curiae* briefs in rendering its decision.

11. On 25 January 2012, the Presiding Member of the Division received a letter from the Director-General of the World Health Organization (the "WHO") expressing interest and offering technical assistance in this appeal in areas covered by the WHO's mandate. The Division thanked the WHO Director-General for her letter, and indicated that it would reflect on the need for such assistance. The Division asked the participants and third participants to comment on the letter from the WHO. Of the participants, the United States submitted comments, and of the third participants, the European Union commented. In the light of the fact that the parties had placed a considerable amount of materials regarding WHO legal instruments and the WHO's work in the area of tobacco control on the Panel record, and mindful of its mandate on appeal under Article 17.6 of the DSU, the Division did not deem it necessary to request assistance from the WHO.

12. The oral hearing in this appeal was held on 9 and 10 February 2012. The participants and six of the third participants (Brazil, Colombia, Guatemala, Mexico, Norway, and Turkey) made oral opening statements. The participants and third participants subsequently responded to questions posed by the Members of the Division hearing the appeal.

II. Arguments of the Participants and the Third Participants

A. Claims of Error by the United States – Appellant

1. <u>Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement – "Like Products"</u>

13. The United States claims on appeal that the Panel erred in its interpretation and specific application of the term "like products" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and requests the Appellate Body to reverse the Panel's findings in this respect. In particular, while agreeing with the overall approach adopted by the Panel in its like product analysis—that is, one that determines likeness based on the traditional "likeness" criteria, and in the light of the legal provision at issue and of the public health nature of the measure being challenged²²—the United States contends that the Panel conducted an "incomplete and flawed" analysis with respect to two of the traditional "likeness" criteria, namely, end-uses and consumer tastes and habits.²³

(a) End-Uses

14. The United States claims that the Panel erred by failing to perform a complete analysis of the different end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes and by concluding that the end-use for both products is "to be smoked".²⁴ In the United States' view, the Panel improperly dismissed the possible different end-uses presented by the United States—that is, satisfying an addiction to nicotine, and creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and aroma of the smoke²⁵— and erroneously based its ultimate conclusion on an "overly narrow analysis".²⁶

15. The United States submits that a panel, when conducting an end-use analysis, must consider the different uses of the products in question and not just the use that is a "common denominator" between the products. In this regard, the United States relies on statements of the Appellate Body in EC - Asbestos that "a panel must also examine the other, *different* end-uses for products" and that "[i]t is only by forming a complete picture of the various end-uses of a product that a panel can assess the significance of the fact that products share a limited number of end-uses."²⁷ According to the United States, it is undisputed that both clove and menthol cigarettes are used for smoking, but the Panel improperly limited its analysis to considering only such common use between the products while ignoring other relevant end-uses. Menthol cigarettes, the United States posits, are used to

²²United States' appellant's submission, paras. 37 and 41.

²³United States' appellant's submission, para. 42.

²⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 43 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.199).

²⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 44.

²⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 45.

 $^{^{27}}$ United States' appellant's submission, para. 45 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 119 (original emphasis)).

"satisfy the nicotine addictions of millions of smokers in the United States", whereas clove cigarettes are primarily used "for experimentation and special social settings" and generally are not smoked to satisfy nicotine addiction in the US market.²⁸

16. The United States further takes issue with the Panel's rejection of the different end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes based on the argument that these end-uses are related to the reasons why a person might smoke a cigarette, and maintains that the Panel erred in finding that end-uses and consumer tastes and habits are "mutually exclusive concepts".²⁹ Referring to the Appellate Body report in EC - Asbestos, the United States notes that, although consumer tastes and habits constitute a "likeness" criterion separate from end-uses, consumer preferences are nonetheless relevant to how products are capable of being used.³⁰ However, the United States contends that the Panel incorrectly considered end-uses "absent the relevant, real-world context"³¹ of how the products at issue are used in the relevant market. Clove and menthol cigarettes have different and "multi-faceted" end-usesthat is, "habitual use and satisfying addiction versus occasional, experimental use"³²—which cannot, in the United States' view, be reduced to the simple, undisputed fact that both types of cigarettes are used for smoking. This is particularly true, the United States adduces, where the public health context relates to the different ways in which cigarettes are used in the relevant market. According to the United States, the Panel erred by failing to consider the "complete picture" and by disregarding evidence relating to such differences in use.³³

(b) **Consumer Tastes and Habits**

17. The United States claims that the Panel failed to perform a complete analysis of consumer tastes and habits related to clove and menthol cigarettes. In the United States' view, the Panel first made a legal error by excluding the tastes and habits of current adult consumers from its analysis. The United States further contends that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU by refusing to examine evidence on how consumers in the relevant market use clove and menthol cigarettes.³⁴

18. First, the United States maintains that the Panel erred in determining that it need not examine the tastes and habits of current adult consumers as part of its analysis. In the United States' view, by disregarding how current consumers perceive and use the products at issue, the Panel erroneously

²⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 46.

²⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 48.

³⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 47 (quoting Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos, para. 102). ³¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 48.

³²United States' appellant's submission, para. 49.

³³United States' appellant's submission, para. 49.

³⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 50.

limited the scope of consumer tastes and habits to one aspect of the public health basis for Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA—use by young people—and failed to capture the other aspect use by adult smokers-thereby nullifying consumer tastes and habits as a meaningful criterion.³⁵ Consistent with the principle stated by the Appellate Body in EC - Asbestos, the Panel was required to examine evidence related to each of the criteria set forth in the GATT Working Party report in Border Tax Adjustments, and to weigh "all of the relevant evidence".³⁶ Accordingly, the United States claims that the Panel committed a fundamental error in excluding, a priori, an essential element from the analysis of consumer tastes and habits.³⁷

Moreover, the United States posits that, given the particular nature of this dispute, the tastes 19. and habits of current adult consumers are highly relevant. First, Section 907(a)(1)(A) draws regulatory distinctions among cigarettes based not only on their appeal to potential smokers, but based on their uses by current adult smokers as well. Banning cigarettes that are used by adults on a regular basis entails a risk of "straining the healthcare system or exacerbating the illicit market".³⁸ Second, clove and other banned flavoured cigarettes are used in very small numbers and almost exclusively by young people, thus being "trainer" or "starter" cigarettes, whereas menthol cigarettes are consumed by 20 to 26 per cent of adult smokers in the United States.³⁹ Consequently, the United States argues, the products at issue pose different public health challenges: clove cigarettes present a unique risk to young, uninitiated smokers, while menthol cigarettes also have a significant impact on adults.⁴⁰ Finally, the particular flavour matters, in the sense that adult smokers seldom use clove-flavoured cigarettes and do not perceive them to be like menthol cigarettes.⁴¹

20. The United States further claims that the exclusion of current adult consumer tastes and habits cannot be justified by the Panel's finding on the declared legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) to prevent new young smokers from becoming addicted to cigarettes.⁴² Albeit agreeing with the Panel that the characteristics of the products at issue must be examined in the light of the public health basis of the measure at issue⁴³, the United States contends that there is no textual basis in Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement to limit the consideration of the public health distinctions to the immediate objective

³⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 58.

³⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 56 (quoting Appellate Body Report, EC – Asbestos, paras. 109 (in turn referring to GATT Working Party Report, Border Tax Adjustments) and 113 (original emphasis)).

³⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 53.

³⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 54.

³⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 58 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 2.24, 2.25, and 7.391).

⁴⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 55.

⁴¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 58.

⁴²United States' appellant's submission, para. 59 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 7.116, 7.119, 7.201, and 7.206). ⁴³United States' appellant's submission, para. 59 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 7.245-7.249).

of the measure.⁴⁴ Rather, technical regulations inevitably reflect a balancing of other considerations relevant to public welfare-in this case, the additional health concerns associated with heavily used cigarettes, such as possible increases in unregulated black market cigarettes or strain on the healthcare system.⁴⁵ The United States submits that the Panel based its exclusion of current adult consumers on a narrow view of the measure's objective, which was actually targeting a group of tobacco products "that *uniquely* appeal to youth" without precluding access by adults to those cigarettes that are "most heavily used in the U.S. market".⁴⁶ Even assuming that the Panel was correct to limit its assessment of the product distinctions on the basis of the primary legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) that is, the "reduction of youth smoking"—the United States contends that, precisely because of the measure's distinction between adult and youth smoking behaviour, the Panel was required to take into account the comparative patterns of use in the relevant market.⁴⁷

Second, the United States claims that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the 21. DSU by disregarding critical evidence on how consumers use and perceive the products⁴⁸, and thereby came to a "fatally flawed" conclusion on consumer tastes and habits.⁴⁹ In the United States' view, the Panel improperly disregarded critical survey evidence submitted by both parties on the basis that it was not clear and that the information presented therein was "not directly comparable", without duly examining such evidence according to its probative force.⁵⁰ According to the United States, the survey data were particularly relevant because the data provided evidence on how consumers and potential consumers "used and perceived different cigarettes in the United States".⁵¹ In addition, the United States argues that the Panel based its conclusions entirely on speculation and conjecture, without any evidentiary support on the record, and ultimately concluded that, for potential consumers, arguably, "any cigarette would likely be fine to start smoking".⁵² However, the United States submits, the reports used as evidence by the Panel "do not tell the whole story", because they focus on cigarettes with characterizing flavours, but do not present the whole picture as to how cigarettes actually are used and perceived in the United States, the relevant market in this dispute.⁵³ According

⁴⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 60 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.116).

⁴⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 61.

⁴⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 61. (original emphasis)

⁴⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 63.

⁴⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 64.

⁴⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 68.

⁵⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 67 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.210). The United States also stresses that, in the section of the Panel Report devoted to its analysis under Article 2.2 of the TBT Agreement, the Panel did rely upon the information provided in the surveys on market share. (Ibid., para. 66) ⁵¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 67. (original emphasis)

⁵²United States' appellant's submission, para. 68 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.214).

⁵³United States' appellant's submission, para. 69 (referring to United States' response to Panel Question 44, para. 110; and Indonesia's response to Panel Question 44, para. 97).

to the United States, the handling of the evidence by the Panel falls short of an objective assessment of the facts and is therefore incompatible with the Panel's duty under Article 11 of the DSU.⁵⁴

2. <u>Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* – "Treatment No Less Favourable"</u>

22. The United States claims that the Panel erred in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like domestic products, and requests the Appellate Body to reverse this finding. The United States also requests the Appellate Body to find that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU when it found: (i) that there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol at the time of the ban; and (ii) that Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposes no costs on any US entity.

23. First, the United States argues that the Panel erroneously limited the scope of the products to be compared for the purposes of its less favourable treatment analysis to one banned imported product-Indonesian clove cigarettes-and one non-banned like domestic product-menthol cigarettes-thereby reaching the "flawed conclusion" that Indonesian clove cigarettes are treated less favourably than like domestic products.⁵⁵ Referring to the Appellate Body report in EC – Asbestos, the United States posits that "the relevant analysis is how the measure treats like imported products, as a group, and like domestic products, as a group".⁵⁶ Accordingly, the Panel was required to consider the "treatment of all domestic and imported cigarettes with characterizing flavors".⁵⁷ However, in the United States' view, the Panel improperly excluded, with respect to like domestic products, the treatment accorded by the measure to domestic cigarettes with other characterizing flavours and, with respect to like imported products, the treatment accorded to menthol cigarettes from other countries.⁵⁸ According to the United States, a proper less favourable treatment analysis that considers all cigarettes that meet the criteria of "like products" demonstrates that Section 907(a)(1)(A) bans only products comprising "a very small market segment in the United States", and "does not alter the conditions of competition" as between like imported products, as a group, and like domestic products, as a group.⁵⁹

24. For the United States, the reference to treatment accorded to the products imported from the territory of "*any other* Member" in Article 2.1 does not compel the conclusion that only the treatment

⁵⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 69 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *EC – Hormones*, para. 133).

⁵⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 74.

⁵⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 75 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 100). See also Panel Report, *US – Tuna II (Mexico)*, para. 7.295.

⁵⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 77. (original underlining) Albeit disagreeing with the Panel's conclusion that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products, the United States stresses that "other cigarettes with characterizing flavors ... would meet the Panel's criteria and thus belong to the category of cigarettes deemed by the Panel to be like products." (*Ibid.*, para. 78 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.247))

⁵⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 79.

⁵⁹United States' appellant's submission, paras. 80 and 81. (original underlining)

accorded to the complaining Member's products are relevant.⁶⁰ In the United States' view, the main purpose of a *de facto* less favourable treatment analysis is to assess whether Section 907(a)(1)(A) legitimately draws distinctions among like products or whether it creates "a proxy for singling out the like products of the complaining Member for less favorable treatment".⁶¹ In order to make such an assessment, the analysis should consider the entire range of like products addressed by the measure. The question of less favourable treatment is not answered by the sole fact that clove cigarettes were banned while a single like domestic product (menthol cigarettes) was not. In this case, the United States contends that the ban affected some imported and domestic products, but "did not affect other domestic and imported like products".⁶²

In addition, to the extent that the Panel took the view that it was limited by its terms of 25. reference to consider only the products mentioned in Indonesia's request for the establishment of a panel⁶³, the United States claims that the Panel erred in concluding that Indonesia, as the complaining party, "set the field of products to be compared"⁶⁴—that is, "imported clove cigarettes *versus* domestic menthol cigarettes".⁶⁵ While defining which measures and claims a panel may consider, the terms of reference do not define the scope of the relevant products to analyze with respect to a discrimination claim, nor do they limit which defences a responding party may invoke.⁶⁶ The United States notes that the question of which products should be compared in the less favourable treatment analysis was a point of argument between the parties in the present dispute, and stresses that the complainant cannot a priori limit the scope of the comparison by its selection of products in its panel request.

26. Second, the United States takes issue with the Panel's statement that, "at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol."⁶⁷ The United States submits that such a statement reflects a "mis-application of the legal standard" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.⁶⁸ The Panel "improperly restrict[ed] the legal analysis" when it limited the comparison to only products that were on the market at the time the ban went into effect, without regard to the years preceding or forthcoming. Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement does not contain any "rigid temporal limitation" to the evidence a panel may consider in conducting a less favourable treatment analysis.⁶⁹ Therefore, the Panel should have taken into account the fact that

⁶³Request for the Establishment of a Panel by Indonesia, WT/DS406/2.

⁶⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 84 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.275).

⁶¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 84.

⁶²United States' appellant's submission, para. 85. (original underlining)

⁶⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 87.

⁶⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 86 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.147 (original emphasis)). ⁶⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 87.

⁶⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 90 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.289).

⁶⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 91.

⁶⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 91.

there were domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol in the years preceding the effective date of the ban.⁷⁰ Moreover, the Panel incorrectly dismissed the fact that Section 907(a)(1)(A) was enacted specifically "to respond to an *emerging* trend of products" that US producers "were actively exploring".⁷¹ In that respect, the United States stresses that the focus of Section 907(a)(1)(A) was "primarily U.S. production", and that it is not unusual that producers will stop investing in products "even before the ban goes into effect". This should not be construed, however, as evidence that US production "was not affected".⁷²

27. Third, the United States claims that the Panel failed to make an objective assessment of the facts, in violation of Article 11 of the DSU, by ignoring unrebutted evidence showing that cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol were marketed in the United States at the time of the ban. The facts on record do not support the Panel's finding that there were no domestically produced flavoured cigarettes—other than menthol—at the time of the ban. In particular, the United States recalls that the Panel had already found that: (i) there was at least one domestically produced brand of clove cigarettes on the market prior to the ban⁷³; (ii) the list of cigarettes authorized for sale in 2008 and 2009 in several US states included at least 20 different brands of domestic flavoured cigarettes other than menthol; and (iii) by 2008, just one year before the ban went into effect, at least four US companies were producing flavoured cigarettes.⁷⁴

28. Fourth, the United States claims that the Panel erred in concluding that any detriment to the competitive conditions for clove cigarettes in the US market could not be explained by factors unrelated to the foreign origin of the products. Even assuming *arguendo* that the Panel had properly identified the like imported and domestic products to be compared, its analysis of whether the less favourable treatment accorded to clove cigarettes was related to the origin of the imported products was in error.⁷⁵

29. For the United States, under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, a technical regulation may impose costs or burdens associated with imported products as compared to like domestic products without necessarily according less favourable treatment to the imported product, where these burdens

⁷⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 92 (referring to Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, footnote 29 to para. 22; United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 51; ACNielson 2008 Data on Flavored Cigarettes in the United States (Panel Exhibit US-52); Examples of Cigarettes Certified for Sale in the United States as of 2009 (Panel Exhibit US-62); New York List of Fire-Safe Certified Cigarettes as of 20 January 2009 (Panel Exhibit US-63); and Maine List of Fire-Safe Certified Cigarettes as of 29 July 2009 (Panel Exhibit US-64)).

⁷¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 93. (original emphasis)

⁷²United States' appellant's submission, para. 94.

⁷³United States' appellant's submission, para. 97 (referring to Panel Report, para. 2.27).

⁷⁴United States' appellant's submission, paras. 97 and 98 (quoting Panel Report, paras. 2.27, 2.28, and footnote 524 to para. 7.289, in turn quoting Panel Exhibits US-52 and US-62 (*supra*, footnote 70)).

⁷⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 99.

are explained by a factor or circumstance other than the origin of the products.⁷⁶ In this regard, the United States stresses that there are a number of prior WTO reports in which a detrimental effect on an imported product was not related to its origin, but rather to other factors—such as the product's particular market share or import profile, a difference in the real or perceived safety of the products at issue, or the choices of the producers themselves, as private actors.⁷⁷ According to the United States, the Panel failed to consider any arguments or evidence bearing upon other relevant factors (unrelated to origin) that could have explained the detriment to the competitive situation of imported clove cigarettes.⁷⁸

30. In the United States' view, in finding that the reason for excluding menthol cigarettes from the ban under Section 907(a)(1)(A) related to "the costs that might be incurred by the United States were it to ban menthol cigarettes"⁷⁹, the Panel failed to examine whether the detriment to the competitive situation of clove cigarettes was related to their origin.⁸⁰ Besides the fact that "it is unclear" what the Panel meant by "costs", the United States submits that the text of Article 2.1 requires panels to focus on the comparative treatment of products. Therefore, Article 2.1 contains "no basis" for a comparison of costs imposed on foreign producers with those avoided by "any U.S. entity".⁸¹ In any case, the United States posits, the Panel's finding does not show that any detrimental effect to the competitive conditions for clove cigarettes compared to menthol cigarettes was related to the national origin of imported products. In fact, the costs incurred by the United States if it were to ban menthol cigarettes—that is, "the potential impact on the health care system and the potential development of a black market and smuggling of menthol cigarettes"⁸²—would remain unaltered regardless of where menthol cigarettes were imported.⁸³

31. In addition, the United States claims that the Panel acted inconsistently with its duties under Article 11 of the DSU by finding, without an appropriate evidentiary basis⁸⁴, that Section 907(a)(1)(A) does not impose "*any* costs on *any* U.S. entity".⁸⁵ The United States recalls that Article 11 requires a panel to refrain from issuing "affirmative findings that lack a basis in the

⁷⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 101 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.269; Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96; and United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 137-144).

⁷⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 102 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96; Panel Report, *EC – Approval and Marketing of Biotech Products*, para. 7.2514; Panel Report, *US – Tuna II (Mexico)*, paras. 7.331, 7.332, and 7.340; and United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 138 and 140).

⁷⁸United States' appellant's submission, paras. 103 and 104.

⁷⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 105 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.289).

⁸⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 105.

⁸¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 106.

⁸²United States' appellant's submission, para. 107 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.289).

⁸³United States' appellant's submission, para. 107.

⁸⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 113.

⁸⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 109. (original emphasis)

evidence contained in the panel record".⁸⁶ In this dispute, the United States posits, there was no basis for the Panel to conclude that the measure avoids costs to any US entity, as underscored by the fact that the Panel "barely cited the record".⁸⁷ According to the United States, the Panel ignored the fact that the United States Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") was charged with enforcing the measure, thereby incurring "costs" as a US entity.⁸⁸ Moreover, the Panel did not take into account that the effect of the measure on US production was "pre-emptive and closed off a potential market that U.S. producers were actively exploring", nor did it consider that, by reducing youth smoking, Section 907(a)(1)(A) reduces demand for all cigarettes and thus "shrinks the U.S. adult cigarette market".⁸⁹

3. <u>Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement – "Reasonable Interval"</u>

32. The United States claims that the Panel's analysis under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* contains three errors that led it to find, incorrectly, that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12. First, the United States argues that the Panel attributed an incorrect "interpretative value" to the Doha Ministerial Decision on Implementation-Related Issues and Concerns⁹⁰ (the "Doha Ministerial Decision") in interpreting the meaning of Article 2.12. Second, the United States argues that the Panel incorrectly found that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12. Lastly, the United States argues that, regardless of whether the Panel was correct in finding that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12, the Panel incorrectly determined that the United States did not rebut Indonesia's arguments.⁹¹

33. The United States first claims that the Panel attributed an incorrect "interpretative value" to paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision by treating paragraph 5.2 as though it were an authoritative interpretation adopted by the Ministerial Conference pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization* (the "*WTO Agreement*"), despite not having found that it has this legal status. The United States further argues that the legal value of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is, at most, a "means of supplemental interpretation" under Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties*⁹² (the "*Vienna Convention*").⁹³ Therefore, while paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision may be used to confirm the meaning of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, it may not be applied as a

⁸⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 110 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Wheat Exports and Grain Imports*, para. 181).

⁸⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 110.

⁸⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 110.

⁸⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 111.

⁹⁰Decision of 14 November 2011, WT/MIN(01)/17.

⁹¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 123.

⁹²Done at Vienna, 23 May 1969, 1155 UNTS 331; 8 International Legal Materials 679.

⁹³United States' appellant's submission, para. 126.

"rule" that can be relied upon as the exclusive basis for concluding that the term "reasonable interval" means "not less than six months".94

34. According to the United States, the Doha Ministerial Decision "preceded by several months"⁹⁵ a TBT Committee decision that took note of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision and, therefore, the Ministerial Conference could not have acted on a recommendation of the Council for Trade in Goods, as Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement requires for the adoption of multilateral interpretations of agreements contained in Annex 1 to the WTO Agreement.

35. Second, the United States claims that the Panel incorrectly found that Indonesia had established a prima facie case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 where it did not establish that the interval period was unreasonable in the light of the impact on the ability of exporting Members to adapt to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA.⁹⁶ The United States submits that Indonesia never provided any evidence or legal argument that demonstrates that the three-month period allowed by the United States prejudiced the ability of any foreign producer, including Indonesian producers, to adapt to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A).⁹⁷

36. The United States argues further that, "[e]ven assuming *arguendo* that the Panel was correct in deciding that the elements of the *prima facie* case could be drawn exclusively from paragraph 5.2", the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had succeeded in establishing a prima facie case under the terms of that paragraph⁹⁸, because Indonesia would have had to establish "with evidence and argument" that Section 907(a)(1)(A) presents a "normal" situation and does not constitute one of the non-urgent cases where it would be reasonable to have a shorter interval.⁹⁹ The United States submits that Indonesia would also have had to establish that "allowing an interval period of at least six months would not render the fulfillment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective".¹⁰⁰

37. According to the United States, the Panel based its finding that Indonesia had established a prima facie case entirely on a "single" statement made by Indonesia that "neither the Act itself nor any other statement by the United States indicates that having [Section 907(a)(1)(A)] enter into force 90 days after signing was necessary to fulfill the objectives of the Act".¹⁰¹ According to the United States, "Indonesia's assertion does not demonstrate what the Panel claimed Indonesia needed

⁹⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 126 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.559). (footnote omitted) ⁹⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 125.

⁹⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 131.

⁹⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 133.

⁹⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 135.

⁹⁹United States' appellant's submission, paras. 135 and 138.

¹⁰⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 136.

¹⁰¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 147 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.587, in turn quoting Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, para. 145).

to prove—that a six month interval period would be effective in fulfilling the legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A)".¹⁰²

38. Third, the United States claims that, even if Indonesia did establish a *prima facie* case, the Panel improperly found that the United States did not rebut that *prima facie* case. According to the United States, "no matter what weight"¹⁰³ is attributed to the Doha Ministerial Decision, Indonesia was required to establish a *prima facie* case under the terms of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. In the United States' view, the evidence and argument before the Panel on whether the interval period chosen allowed time for Indonesian producers to adapt their products to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) showed that "the difference between the three and six month interval periods had *no impact* on Indonesian producers".¹⁰⁴ According to the United States, the fact that "Indonesian producers, even 16 months after the enactment of the FSPTCA, had not adjusted their product lines to produce tobacco or menthol-flavoured cigarettes"¹⁰⁵ is sufficient evidence to rebut the *prima facie* case that the Panel found Indonesia to have established. Accordingly, the Panel committed legal error in finding that "the United States has not rebutted" Indonesia's *prima facie* case.¹⁰⁶

B. Arguments of Indonesia – Appellee

1. <u>Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement – "Like Products"</u>

39. Indonesia requests the Appellate Body to reject the United States' appeal against the Panel's finding that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. In Indonesia's view, the United States' objection is not about the legal findings of the Panel, but about the appropriate weight to give to certain evidence and findings of fact. According to Indonesia, in many of its claims, the United States is simply attempting to disguise its disagreement with the Panel's findings of fact as legal error.¹⁰⁷ Indonesia also recalls that the United States did not appeal the Panel's conclusion that clove and menthol cigarettes share similar physical characteristics.¹⁰⁸

¹⁰²United States' appellant's submission, para. 149. (footnote omitted)

¹⁰³United States' appellant's submission, para. 132.

¹⁰⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 152. (original emphasis)

¹⁰⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 152 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.583).

¹⁰⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 153 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.594).

¹⁰⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 65.

¹⁰⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 66.

(a) End-Uses

40. Indonesia takes issue with the United States' contention that the Panel "over-simplified" its analysis in finding that the end-use of both products at issue is "to be smoked".¹⁰⁹ In Indonesia's view, the United States' claim that clove and menthol cigarettes have different end-uses because clove cigarettes are smoked only occasionally while menthol cigarettes are used regularly by addicted smokers has no merit and should be rejected by the Appellate Body. At the outset, Indonesia recalls that, in *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, the United States correctly noted that "there is no support for the [] proposition that a product consumed on special occasions cannot be in competition with a routinely purchased product".¹¹⁰

41. Indonesia first submits that the Panel examined end-uses pursuant to prior guidance from the Appellate Body. In particular, in accordance with the Appellate Body's guidance in EC – Asbestos, the Panel noted that the definition of "end-uses" is "the extent to which two products are *capable* of performing the same function".¹¹¹ According to Indonesia, in its finding with respect to end-uses, the Panel also properly gave special consideration to the fact that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is a public health measure aimed at addressing youth smoking. In Indonesia's view, moreover, even assuming *arguendo* that the end-uses put forward by the United States were pertinent ones, the United States presented no evidence showing that clove and menthol cigarettes were not both capable of performing the end-uses of satisfying a nicotine addiction and creating a pleasurable experience.¹¹² In addition, Indonesia contends that the Panel did not dismiss out-of-hand the possibility that products may have more than one end-use, but rather simply concluded that the products at issue in the present case did not have the specific end-uses suggested by the United States.¹¹³

42. Second, Indonesia submits that the Panel did not ignore the alternative end-uses for the products at issue proposed by the United States, but rather went to great lengths to consider the evidence regarding end-uses, including those additional end-uses put forth by the United States. According to Indonesia, the Panel addressed the question of whether "regular use" is different from "occasional use", and carefully laid out in its Report the United States' argument that delivering nicotine to addicted smokers must be considered as a separate end-use. However, the Panel eventually found that the United States' argument on end-uses was "circular".¹¹⁴ Indeed, Indonesia

¹⁰⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 67.

¹¹⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 68 (quoting Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 71).

¹¹¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 71 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.191, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 117). (original emphasis)

¹¹²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 73.

¹¹³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 74 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.198).

¹¹⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 75.

argues, the Panel simply was not persuaded by the merits of the argument of the United States¹¹⁵ and proceeded to conclude—based on evidence showing that both clove and menthol cigarettes were capable of delivering nicotine¹¹⁶—that the end-use of both types of cigarettes was "to be smoked".¹¹⁷ Although the United States asserted that there was an "occasional"-use cigarette market, it provided little evidence in support of this claim.¹¹⁸ Accordingly, Indonesia submits that the Panel did not commit errors of law or fail to make an objective assessment of the evidence, and requests the Appellate Body to uphold the Panel's conclusion that clove and menthol cigarettes share the same end-use of "being smoked".¹¹⁹

(b) Consumer Tastes and Habits

43. Indonesia first submits that the Panel did not commit a legal error in its analysis of consumer tastes and habits, but rather conducted a thorough analysis, acted consistently with guidance from the Appellate Body and, after weighing all the evidence on the record, concluded that consumer tastes and habits are similar with respect to clove and menthol cigarettes. In Indonesia's view, the United States simply disagrees with the Panel's conclusion.¹²⁰ According to Indonesia, when presenting its claims of error, the United States ignored the Appellate Body's view that it is not necessary to show actual substitution by consumers when assessing "the extent to which consumers perceive and treat the products as alternative means of performing particular functions in order to satisfy a particular want or demand".¹²¹ Indonesia contends that the United States failed to present evidence showing that consumers, whether adult or youth, would be unwilling to substitute clove and menthol cigarettes for the end-use of smoking. Indonesia argues that the United States is wrong in presuming that consumer tastes and habits must be identical to be like, considering that the Appellate Body found that products that are close to being perfectly substitutable can be like products. Indonesia further submits that there is sufficient evidence on record supporting the fact that young smokers and pre-smoking youth view clove and menthol cigarettes "as at least close to substitutable".¹²²

44. Indonesia disagrees with the United States' claim that the Panel erred by failing to include addicted adult smokers in the comparison of consumer tastes and habits. In its view, the Panel's first obligation was to determine the objective of the measure, and then determine which consumers to

¹¹⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 77.

¹¹⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 78 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.196).

¹¹⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 76 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.199).

¹¹⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 78 (referring to United States' response to Panel Question 41, paras. 104-106).

¹¹⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 79.

¹²⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 80.

 $^{^{121}}$ Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 81 (quoting Appellate Body Report, EC – Asbestos, para. 101). (emphasis added by Indonesia omitted)

¹²²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 82 (referring to Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 149). (original emphasis)

compare "in light of the context and the object and purpose of the provision at issue" and of the measure.¹²³ Indonesia recalls that the United States initially agreed with the Panel's focus on the public health aspects of Section 907(a)(1)(A), and only subsequently took issue with the Panel's linkage "of the consideration of likeness under Article 2.1 with the objective of the measure".¹²⁴ According to Indonesia, the Panel did not fail to consider Section 907(a)(1)(A) as an integral whole. Rather, in the light of the measure's objective of reducing youth smoking, the Panel concluded that "the perception of consumers, or rather potential consumers, can only be assessed with reference to the health protection objective of the technical regulation at issue".¹²⁵

45. Indonesia further submits that, contrary to what the United States alleges, the Panel did not exclude current consumers from its analysis, since it did include current young smokers. According to Indonesia, what the Panel did was not to include the tastes and habits of adults in its analysis¹²⁶, but to lay out very carefully the basis for its decision to focus on current and pre-smoking youth.¹²⁷ Indonesia notes that the Panel established that the purpose of Section 907(a)(1)(A) was to reduce youth smoking, whereas it rejected that a second objective of the measure was to avoid the potential negative consequences or costs associated with banning products to which tens of millions of adults are chemically and psychologically addicted.¹²⁸ Accordingly, the Panel evaluated the consumer tastes and habits of youth, following the guidance set out by the Appellate Body to consider the "particular provision in which the term 'like' is encountered as well as by the context and the circumstances that prevail in any given case to which that provision may apply".¹²⁹

46. Second, Indonesia submits that, in considering evidence regarding consumer tastes and habits, the Panel did not exceed its discretion as the trier of facts, and made an objective assessment of the facts in accordance with Article 11 of the DSU. Indonesia notes, at the outset, that the United States inaccurately cited to the Panel Report when adducing that the Panel focused only on potential young smokers.¹³⁰ On the contrary, Indonesia posits, the Panel specifically identified the consumers at issue

¹²³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 83 (quoting Appellate Body Report, EC – Asbestos, paras. 88 and 89). (emphasis added by Indonesia omitted)

¹²⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 84 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 60). ¹²⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 86 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.119).

¹²⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 87 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 54). ¹²⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 88 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.119).

¹²⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 90 and 91.

¹²⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 92 (quoting Appellate Body Report, Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II, p. 21, DSR 1996:I, 97, at 114).

¹³⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 100 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 64).

in this case as "young smokers and potential young smokers".¹³¹ In addressing the United States' specific claims, Indonesia argues that the Panel did not wilfully disregard or distort evidence. Rather, in Indonesia's view, the Panel carefully reviewed the survey evidence and devoted two paragraphs and five footnotes in its Report to explain that the survey data did not provide clear guidance on comparing consumer tastes and habits, given that the research parameters varied from survey to survey.¹³² Indonesia contends that the Panel's approach to the survey evidence hardly amounts to excluding it a priori but, rather, that the Panel, acting within its discretion, simply did not place the same importance on the evidence concerning addicted adult smokers as did the United States.¹³³

47. Indonesia further submits that the Panel did not make affirmative findings of fact that were not grounded on evidence. In Indonesia's view, while not relying on certain evidence put forward by the United States, the Panel identified and relied on other evidence on the record proving that both clove and menthol cigarettes were "trainer" or "starter" cigarettes that appeal to youth.¹³⁴ According to Indonesia, the Panel methodically described a number of sources of evidence (the FDA, the American Lung Association, the WHO, the National Survey on Drug Use and Health, and the Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Council) indicating that flavoured cigarettes appeal to youth and novice smokers because their characterizing flavours mask the harshness of tobacco. It was based on this evidence that the Panel concluded that all these flavoured cigarettes are perceived as vehicles to start smoking.¹³⁵

48. Lastly, Indonesia adds that the Panel did not commit an egregious error in declining to accord the same weight as the United States sought regarding the addiction rates of use of clove and menthol cigarettes by youth and adults. Referring to Appellate Body reports in EC – Bed Linen (Article 21.5 – India), Australia - Salmon, and Canada - Wheat Exports and Grain Imports, Indonesia highlights that panels are given "great latitude"¹³⁶ in determining what evidence to consider in evaluating the validity of claims and that a panel's decision not to rely on some of the facts submitted by one of the parties would not by itself constitute legal error.¹³⁷ In conclusion, Indonesia requests the Appellate Body to reject the United States' claims with respect to the Panel's findings on consumer tastes and

¹³¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 100 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.232). (emphasis added by

Indonesia) ¹³²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 104 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 7.209 and 7.210 and footnotes 426-430 thereto).

¹³³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 106.

¹³⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 111.

¹³⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 112-114.

¹³⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 116.

¹³⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 115-117 (referring to Appellate Body Report, EC – Bed Linen (Article 21.5 - India), para. 177; Appellate Body Report, Australia - Salmon, para. 267; and Appellate Body Report, Canada – Wheat Exports and Grain Imports, para. 186).

habits, and to uphold the Panel's determination that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products for purposes of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.¹³⁸

2. <u>Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* – "Treatment No Less Favourable"</u>

49. Indonesia claims that the Panel did not err in finding that, under Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, imported clove cigarettes are treated less favourably than domestic menthol cigarettes for the purposes of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. In particular, Indonesia contends that the Panel did not commit error in identifying the products to be compared for its less favourable treatment analysis, and properly found that the less favourable treatment accorded to clove cigarettes cannot be explained by factors unrelated to their foreign origin. Indonesia further maintains that the Panel did not fail to make an objective assessment of the facts in evaluating the evidence before it, thereby acting consistently with Article 11 of the DSU.

50. First, Indonesia argues that the United States misinterprets the Appellate Body report in EC – Asbestos and the panel report in US - Tuna II (Mexico) as requiring the Panel to have included treatment of cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than clove and menthol in its less favourable treatment analysis.¹³⁹ While the panels in both of the above disputes had conducted an initial like product analysis of a group of products¹⁴⁰, the scope of the like products to be considered in evaluating less favourable treatment was limited to the imported and domestic products at issue, and did not extend to "other potentially 'like' products in general".¹⁴¹ Since the products at issue in this dispute had been identified as being imported clove cigarettes and domestically produced menthol cigarettes in the United States, the Panel correctly assessed likeness only as between these two categories of products and, as a consequence, properly identified those products for comparison in its less favourable treatment analysis.¹⁴² Moreover, because neither party argued before the Panel that clove cigarettes were like cigarettes with other characterizing flavours, had the Panel included cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than clove and menthol in its analysis, it would have made a finding on a claim that was not before it, thus acting inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU.¹⁴³

51. Indonesia further rejects the United States' contention that the Panel incorrectly narrowed the scope of products to be compared on the basis of its terms of reference. Indonesia dismisses this

¹³⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 118.

¹³⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 121 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 77).

¹⁴⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 126.

¹⁴¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 130.

¹⁴²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 139 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.277).

¹⁴³Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 140 and 141; see also para. 142 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 173).

argument as speculative and emphasizes that the Panel referred to its terms of reference in the context of its like products analysis.¹⁴⁴ The Panel never contemplated that flavoured cigarettes other than clove and menthol cigarettes could be included in the like products analysis, which would be consistent with its terms of reference. Moreover, Indonesia's panel request and its subsequent submissions demonstrate that Indonesia raised no claims and made no arguments with respect to cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than clove or menthol.¹⁴⁵ Accordingly, the question of whether the Panel's terms of reference "could have allowed a finding of likeness" between clove cigarettes and other flavoured cigarettes "is moot".¹⁴⁶ Indonesia considers that, "absent a finding of likeness between clove and cigarettes with other characterizing flavors", the Panel could not have included these other flavoured cigarettes in its less favourable treatment analysis.¹⁴⁷

Second, Indonesia argues that the Panel did not exceed its discretion when considering the 52. effect of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on those products that existed at the time the measure went into effect. Indonesia characterizes the United States' argument in this respect as "irrelevant"¹⁴⁸, and adds that the Panel acted within the limits of its discretion in determining the time period for which a comparison was to be made. While Indonesia agrees that there is "no rigid temporal limitation"¹⁴⁹ on the timeframe for analyzing less favourable treatment, neither is there a mandate to consider any specific timeframe for this analysis.¹⁵⁰ Moreover, Indonesia submits that the United States is arguing that the Panel should have assessed the treatment of the imported product—clove cigarettes—and a domestic product that had not been found to be like-other flavoured cigarettes. However, the "relevant comparison" had to be whether the measure at issue modified the conditions of competition "to the detriment of imported clove cigarettes as compared to menthol cigarettes, which were not banned".¹⁵¹

Third, Indonesia disagrees with the United States' claim that the Panel acted inconsistently 53. with Article 11 of the DSU by failing to consider evidence demonstrating that cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than clove or menthol were being sold in the United States at the time the measure went into effect. According to Indonesia, because the appropriate products for comparison in the less favourable treatment analysis were clove and menthol cigarettes, the existence of other flavoured cigarettes at the time the ban was imposed is immaterial. Furthermore, Indonesia

¹⁴⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 147 and 148 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 86; and Panel Report, paras. 7.124-7.127).

¹⁴⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 149 and 150 (referring to Indonesia's panel request, pp. 1-2; and Indonesia's responses to Panel Questions 27 and 85).

¹⁴⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 150.

¹⁴⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 150.

¹⁴⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 151.

¹⁴⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 152 (quoting United States' appellant's submission, para. 89).

¹⁵⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 152; see also para. 154 (quoting Panel Report, US – Tuna II (*Mexico*), paras. 7.299 and 7.300). ¹⁵¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 157.

submits that the Panel did consider and weigh the evidence submitted by the United States regarding the availability of other flavoured cigarettes, but eventually did not find it compelling.¹⁵² Indonesia also points out that evidence on the record showed that the domestically produced brand of clove cigarettes "accounted for a negligible share of all clove cigarettes sold in the United States".¹⁵³ In Indonesia's view, the fact that the Panel did not place the same weight on such evidence as did the United States does not amount to a violation of Article 11 of the DSU.

54. Fourth, Indonesia takes issue with the United States' claim that the Panel applied the incorrect legal framework in determining whether the less favourable treatment accorded to clove cigarettes could be explained by factors unrelated to their foreign origin. Indonesia observes that the Appellate Body jurisprudence regarding Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 provides useful guidance in the present dispute¹⁵⁴ and that, under that provision, a less favourable treatment analysis only involves determining whether a measure has the effect of modifying the conditions of competition to the detriment of imported products.¹⁵⁵ According to Indonesia, the United States' claim that no less favourable treatment exists when the detrimental effect on an imported product is not attributable to its foreign origin, but to some other factor, is based on a "misreading" of the Appellate Body report in Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes.¹⁵⁶ On this basis, Indonesia posits, the United States is "attempt[ing] to create a new criterion" when it suggests that a finding of less favourable treatment under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement would be possible only if a measure's detrimental effects are tied to the foreign origin of the imported product at issue.¹⁵⁷ In fact, no panel or Appellate Body report has ever required under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 "both 'a less favourable treatment' test and a second test 'based on national origin'".¹⁵⁸ In other words, Indonesia contends that the Panel's conclusion that imported clove cigarettes are treated less favourably than domestic menthol cigarettes-because the former are banned from the US market, whereas the latter

¹⁵²Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 158 and 162 (referring to Panel Report, footnote 524 to para. 7.289).

¹⁵³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 164 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 2.26 and 2.27; and letter dated 25 March 2008 from the President of the Tobacco Merchants Association, Inc. (Panel Exhibit IND-12)).

¹⁵⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 169 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.269, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 137; and Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96).

¹⁵⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 172 (referring to Indonesia's opening statement at the first Panel meeting, paras. 26 and 58; Indonesia's response to Panel Question 52; and Indonesia's second written submission to the Panel, para. 99).

¹⁵⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 173 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96).

¹⁵⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 174 (referring to Brazil's oral statement at the Panel meeting with the third parties, para. 11; and Indonesia's second written submission to the Panel, para. 98).

¹⁵⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 179-181 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 135; and Appellate Body Report, *Thailand – Cigarettes (Philippines)*, paras. 128 and 134; and referring to Panel Report, *Mexico – Taxes on Soft Drinks*, paras. 8.114-8.122).

are not—is *per se* sufficient to make a finding that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.¹⁵⁹

55. In addition, Indonesia disagrees with the United States' claim that the Panel failed to make an objective assessment of the facts as required by Article 11 of the DSU when it found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) did not impose any costs on any US entity without an adequate evidentiary basis. Indonesia contends that there was evidence on the record demonstrating that: (i) the exception for menthol cigarettes under the measure at issue was the result of a political compromise with the US tobacco industry and an effort to protect domestic jobs¹⁶⁰; and (ii) that the sole reason for excluding menthol cigarettes from the ban was to spare the United States from the costs it might otherwise incur.¹⁶¹ In evaluating and weighing such evidence, the Panel assessed the facts within the limits of its discretion, and thus did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU.

3. <u>Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement – "Reasonable Interval"</u>

56. Indonesia submits that the Panel assigned the correct interpretative value to paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, and properly found that Indonesia established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, which the United States failed to rebut.¹⁶²

57. First, Indonesia contends that the United States incorrectly claims that the Panel declined to formally determine whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is an "authoritative interpretation" adopted by the Ministerial Conference pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*. According to Indonesia, the Panel "clearly concluded" that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is "a binding interpretation".¹⁶³ Moreover, Indonesia disagrees with the United States that the Ministerial Conference, in adopting paragraph 5.2, did not act upon the recommendation of the Council for Trade in Goods, as Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* requires. According to Indonesia, the preamble of the Doha Ministerial Decision indicates that the Decision and the interpretations contained therein were adopted on the basis of discussions carried out within the General Council and the WTO subsidiary bodies.

¹⁵⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 172.

¹⁶⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 187 (referring to Indonesia's second written submission to the Panel, para. 118; S. Saul, "Cigarette Bill Treats Menthol with Leniency", *New York Times*, 13 May 2008 (Panel Exhibit IND-87); and S. Saul, "Bill to Regulate Tobacco Moves Forward", *New York Times*, 3 April 2008 (Panel Exhibit IND-88)).

¹⁶¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 189 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.289, in turn quoting United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 23-25; and United States' response to Panel Questions 40, 89, and 109).

¹⁶²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 195.

¹⁶³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 196 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.575).

In response to the United States' argument that the Doha Ministerial Decision is "at most"¹⁶⁴ a 58. supplementary means of interpretation within the meaning of Article 32 of the Vienna Convention, Indonesia submits that the Panel properly determined that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is a "subsequent agreement between the parties" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the Vienna Convention.¹⁶⁵ Moreover, Indonesia argues that the Panel did not err in its interpretation of the term "normally" in paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision. According to Indonesia, the Panel correctly concluded that the term "normally" must be interpreted as meaning "under normal or usual conditions; as a rule".¹⁶⁶

59. Second, Indonesia submits that the Panel did not err in finding that Indonesia had established a prima facie case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement. According to Indonesia, the United States incorrectly argues that the Panel based its finding that Indonesia had established a prima facie case "exclusively" on the basis of the text of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision.¹⁶⁷ Indonesia contends that the Panel Report clearly shows that the Panel considered both Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* and paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision.¹⁶⁸ Indonesia contends that this is "categorically stated" by the Panel when it noted that "Indonesia ha[d] persuaded the Panel that, in the light of Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement and paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, an interval of less than six months was not reasonable in the circumstances of this case".¹⁶⁹

60. In response to the United States' argument that Indonesia provided no evidence or argumentation that the three-month interval period prejudiced the ability of Indonesian producers to adapt to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, Indonesia contends that it adduced sufficient argument and evidence to establish a presumption that the United States had acted inconsistently with its obligation under Article 2.12.¹⁷⁰ According to Indonesia, it did "establish[] a prima facie case that the 90-day interval provided by the United States was significantly shorter than the 6 months" normally required.¹⁷¹ Indonesia submits that, following the elements stipulated in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, as well as in the binding interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, Indonesia set forth in its written and oral submissions, as well as in its Panel exhibits, legal arguments and evidence to raise the presumption

¹⁶⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 205 (quoting United States' appellant's submission, para. 126). ¹⁶⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 206.

¹⁶⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 220 and 221.

¹⁶⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 223 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, para. 128). ¹⁶⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 227.

¹⁶⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 230 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.594).

¹⁷⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 233.

¹⁷¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 237.

that its claim against the United States under Article 2.12 was true.¹⁷² Accordingly, Indonesia submits that the Panel did not commit a legal error in finding that Indonesia had established a prima facie case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement.

61. Third, with regard to the United States' claim that, even assuming that the Panel correctly found that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case, the Panel committed legal error in finding that the United States had not rebutted Indonesia's prima facie case, Indonesia responds that, since it had made out a prima facie case, the onus shifted to the United States "to bring forward evidence and arguments to disprove the claim".¹⁷³ Since the 90-day interval provided by the United States was significantly shorter than the six months normally required, the burden shifted to the United States to refute the claimed inconsistency. According to Indonesia, the Panel correctly stressed that the United States had failed to explain why it deemed that allowing a longer interval period between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) would not have been effective in fulfilling the objective pursued by the measure, while a three-month interval was.¹⁷⁴ Indonesia also posits that the United States did not explain why six months would have been ineffective, especially taking into account that it did not notify Section 907(a)(1)(A) as an urgent measure pursuant to Article 2.10 of the TBT Agreement.¹⁷⁵

62. According to Indonesia, the Panel weighed and balanced the evidence and arguments on the record and, while it was "convinced of the validity of the claim advanced by Indonesia", it "was not convinced by the rebuttal arguments" presented by the United States.¹⁷⁶ In Indonesia's view, therefore, the Panel acted consistently with its duties since, "in the absence of effective refutation by the defending party, a panel, as a matter of law, is required to rule in favor of the complaining party presenting the *prima facie* case".¹⁷⁷

C. Arguments of the Third Participants

> 1. Brazil

63. Brazil generally agrees with the views expressed by the Panel concerning the legal standard for the assessment of likeness under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement. For Brazil, the absence of a provision similar to Article III:1 of the GATT 1994, combined with the sixth recital of the preamble

¹⁷²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 234.

¹⁷³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 240 (quoting Appellate Body Report, US – Wool Shirts and *Blouses*, pp. 16-17, DSR 1997:I, 323, at 338). ¹⁷⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 240 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.593).

¹⁷⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 241 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.593).

¹⁷⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 242. (underlining omitted)

¹⁷⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 243 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.591, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, EC - Hormones, para. 104; Appellate Body Report, Japan - Agricultural Products II, paras. 98 and 136; and Appellate Body Report, Japan - Apples, para. 159).

of the *TBT Agreement*, seems to indicate that the objectives of a technical regulation should play an important role in ascertaining the characteristics of products alleged to be like.¹⁷⁸ Despite there being no direct reference in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* to the legitimate objectives of the technical regulation, Brazil notes that the use of an overarching analytical concept to inform all paragraphs of a provision is an issue that has already been accepted in WTO jurisprudence.¹⁷⁹ In Brazil's view, the objective pursued by a Member adopting a technical regulation is a central element of the likeness analysis under Article 2.1, given its context and object and purpose.¹⁸⁰ However, Brazil posits, it does not seem reasonable to require a panel to examine the intentions of the regulator and its implications that go beyond the explicit legitimate objective of a measure. The objectives pursued through technical regulations must be assessed as objectively as possible¹⁸¹, looking at the measure's structure, architecture, and design.¹⁸² Once the legitimate objectives pursued by a Member are properly revealed, Brazil is of the view that they should inform the likeness analysis under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

64. Brazil further notes that the United States pursues an interpretation of the term "treatment no less favourable" that would require evidence of origin-based detrimental effects to the imported product as a prerequisite for showing *de facto* discrimination.¹⁸³ Accordingly, Brazil explains, the United States considers that if any factor, other than the foreign origin of the product, were found to be the basis for the discrimination, there would be no violation of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. In Brazil's view, both under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 and under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, a key question is to what extent the application of a measure results in less favourable treatment to the like imported product, regardless of the measure's stated objective.¹⁸⁴ The difference between these two provisions is that, while under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* the measure's objectives are relevant in defining whether the products at issue are like, under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, likeness is assessed from a competition perspective.¹⁸⁵ Under both provisions, Brazil contends, once the imported and domestic products are found to be like, the manner in which the measure is applied and the prevailing circumstances of the relevant market for the affected products are more important in a less favourable treatment determination than the measure's determination.

¹⁷⁸Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 8.

¹⁷⁹Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 11 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 98; and Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 119).

¹⁸⁰Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 14.

¹⁸¹Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 17.

¹⁸²Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 20 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II*, p. 29, DSR 1996:I, 97, at 120; Appellate Body Report, *Chile – Alcoholic Beverages*, paras. 61 and 62; and Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 112).

¹⁸³Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 23 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, paras. 101-106).

¹⁸⁴Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 28 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II*, p. 28, DSR 1996:I, 97, at 119).

¹⁸⁵Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 29.

objectives. According to Brazil, this conclusion is even more relevant in the context of an analysis of a *de facto* discrimination.¹⁸⁶

2. <u>Colombia</u>

65. Colombia submits that the Panel erred in its legal interpretation of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision. In its view, the Panel decided to give the Doha Ministerial Decision the status of an authoritative interpretation because it was agreed by all WTO Members meeting in the form of the Ministerial Conference, the highest ranking body of the WTO.¹⁸⁷ According to Colombia, however, this legal conclusion is incorrect. Colombia notes that the Ministerial Conference did not act on the basis of a recommendation by the Council overseeing the functioning of the TBT Agreement as mandated by Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement, and, consequently, the first condition of Article IX:2 was not present in this case.¹⁸⁸ Furthermore, the Panel dismissed this condition on the basis that it was only a formal requirement. Colombia considers such reasoning to be in error: first, because the procedural nature of a condition does not mean that it can be overlooked¹⁸⁹; and, second, because the fact that all Members agreed on a certain interpretation is not sufficient to conclude that such interpretation was adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement. With respect to the latter point, Colombia submits that neither the Ministerial Conference nor the General Council have the authority to disregard the previously given consent by all WTO Members embodied in the covered agreements.¹⁹⁰ Colombia further is of the view that the Appellate Body should clarify whether the Doha Ministerial Decision could be considered to constitute, pursuant to Article 31(3)(a) of the Vienna Convention, a "subsequent agreement between the parties" on the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement.¹⁹¹

3. <u>European Union</u>

66. The European Union first submits that the term "like product" appears to be used by the parties and the Panel in two different ways. The first use relates to the "comparison <u>between</u> the import and domestic sides" (the "horizontal line")¹⁹², while the second use concerns the "relationship <u>among</u> the things that are to be considered together" as a product on both the import and domestic sides (the "vertical line").¹⁹³ In the European Union's view, the "horizontal line" comparison requires the import and domestic categories to be described in terms that are identical in all respects, otherwise

¹⁸⁶Brazil's third participant's submission, para. 30.

¹⁸⁷Colombia's third participant's submission, para. 6 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.576).

¹⁸⁸Colombia's third participant's submission, para. 10.

¹⁸⁹Colombia's third participant's submission, para. 14.

¹⁹⁰Colombia's third participant's submission, para. 15.

¹⁹¹Colombia's third participant's submission, para. 19.

¹⁹²European Union's third participant's submission, para. 17. (original underlining)

¹⁹³European Union's third participant's submission, para. 18. (original underlining)

one cannot meaningfully test for *de facto* discrimination.¹⁹⁴ The "vertical line" comparison, on the other hand, does not require that all things within the set of a "product" be identical in all respects because the comparison is made on the basis of a market definition (that is, by reference to cross-elasticity of supply and demand), hence quite heterogeneous things can be taken together as a single product.¹⁹⁵ The European Union is of the view that, to determine whether there is *de facto* discrimination, it is necessary to consider whether the regulatory distinction is related to the foreign origin of the product.¹⁹⁶ For this reason, the European Union contends that even if clove and menthol cigarettes would be reasonably grouped together as part of a "product", this does not mean that the situation in respect of menthol cigarettes and youth smoking, and clove cigarettes and youth smoking, is necessarily the same or similar.¹⁹⁷

With respect to the less favourable treatment analysis under Article 2.1 of the 67. TBT Agreement, the European Union stresses that the relationship between trade and regulation is complex.¹⁹⁸ In its view, the problem is to distinguish between the exercise of regulatory autonomy that is acceptable, and that which is not.¹⁹⁹ This necessarily entails looking at whether the design of the measure is, expressly or by proxy, related to the foreign origin of the regulated products. The European Union also considers that any "countervailing explanations" should be considered together with the inquiry into whether there is some relation with foreign origin, because such an approach provides for the most flexibility when considering a wide range of potential factual situations.²⁰⁰ In addition, the European Union raises concerns regarding the Panel's approach in allocating the burden of proof under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.²⁰¹ In particular, according to the European Union, the Panel seems to reason that, because both menthol and clove cigarettes appeal to youth, the only plausible explanation for the failure to extend the ban to menthol cigarettes is de facto discrimination.²⁰² However, this reasoning overlooks the possibility advocated by the United States that the attractiveness of clove cigarettes to youth is more pronounced than in the case of menthol cigarettes.²⁰³ The European Union contends that the Panel did not explain how Indonesia had discharged its burden of proving that the situation with respect to menthol cigarettes and youth smoking was the same as or similar to the situation with respect to clove cigarettes.²⁰⁴ If Indonesia

¹⁹⁴European Union's third participant's submission, para. 19.

¹⁹⁵European Union's third participant's submission, para. 20.

¹⁹⁶European Union's third participant's submission, para. 21.

¹⁹⁷European Union's third participant's submission, para. 23.

¹⁹⁸European Union's third participant's submission, para. 32.

¹⁹⁹European Union's third participant's submission, para. 33.

²⁰⁰European Union's third participant's submission, para. 44.

²⁰¹European Union's third participant's submission, para. 51.

²⁰²European Union's third participant's submission, para. 54.

²⁰³European Union's third participant's submission, para. 54 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, paras. 32-36, 54, 55, and 61-63).

²⁰⁴European Union's third participant's submission, para. 56.

failed to provide evidence in that respect, the European Union wonders how Indonesia may be considered to have discharged its burden of proof with respect to an alleged "in fact" breach of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.²⁰⁵

68. Lastly, with respect to Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, the European Union considers that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is relevant either pursuant to Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, or as a fact.²⁰⁶ It further contends that Indonesia had the burden of proving, under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, that the time actually allowed by the measure was not reasonable.²⁰⁷ With respect to the question of whether or not six months would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objective pursued, the European Union finds nothing in the Doha Ministerial Decision that expressly reverses the burden of proof.²⁰⁸ It recalls, in that regard, that the Appellate Body in *EC – Sardines* placed the burden of proof on the complainant under Article 2.4 of the *TBT Agreement*.²⁰⁹

4. <u>Mexico</u>

69. Mexico submits that it is difficult to incorporate the objective of a technical regulation into the like products analysis. In its view, when the purpose of a technical regulation is to protect the highest values, such as human life or health, the analysis of the four criteria will itself be sufficient to reach a correct interpretation of likeness because "the product differences themselves will have inspired the objective of the technical regulation, and not the opposite".²¹⁰ Mexico contends, in particular, that the consumer tastes and habits criterion needs to be approached very carefully because regulatory intervention by a Member can "shape consumer perceptions".²¹¹ Moreover, Mexico submits that the creation of sub-categories of like products on the basis of different end-uses, as suggested by the United States, could lead to circumvention of the disciplines in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.²¹² Mexico further stresses that, if regulatory distinctions could be used to determine like products, this could "render the concept of *de facto* discrimination meaningless".²¹³

70. With respect to the Panel's less favourable treatment analysis, Mexico disagrees with the United States that the group of like imported products should include like imported products from all WTO Members and not just from the complaining Member. According to Mexico, the term "any

²⁰⁵European Union's third participant's submission, para. 57.

²⁰⁶European Union's third participant's submission, para. 62.

²⁰⁷European Union's third participant's submission, para. 63.

²⁰⁸European Union's third participant's submission, para. 66.

 $^{^{209}}$ European Union's third participant's submission, para. 67 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC* – *Sardines*, paras. 259-282).

²¹⁰Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 15.

²¹¹Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 16.

²¹²Mexico's third participant's submission, paras. 17-19.

²¹³Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 21.

[Member]" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* provides "considerable flexibility" when assessing conformity with this provision, and hence the focus can be on like products from "*one* Member, *some* Members or *all* Members".²¹⁴ In Mexico's view, the Panel correctly focused on the treatment accorded to like products from Indonesia. In addition, contrary to the United States' argument that the Panel should have compared the treatment accorded to imported and like domestic products as a group, Mexico submits that the Panel's "efficient approach" to applying the "group" comparison when determining less favourable treatment was "not a legal error".²¹⁵ On the contrary, the Panel properly found that the "vast majority" of imports of Indonesian cigarettes with characterizing flavours were banned while "all or almost all" of the US cigarettes with characterizing flavours were excluded from the ban.²¹⁶

71. Mexico lastly addresses three additional issues concerning the less favourable treatment analysis. First, it agrees with the Panel's reasoning that a measure is discriminatory when it minimizes the costs for the domestic producers while triggering costs to the foreign producers. In Mexico's view, the Panel's approach is also applicable to any case where the technical regulation is designed in such a way that, either de facto or de jure, avoids or minimizes costs for the domestic producers and triggers costs to the foreign producers.²¹⁷ Second, with respect to the United States' argument that there is no temporal limitation on the analysis of *de facto* less favourable treatment²¹⁸, Mexico posits that the date of a panel's establishment is "the key date" when assessing whether de facto discrimination exists.²¹⁹ Mexico considers that, although past and possibly future events may inform an assessment of *de facto* discrimination at the time of the establishment of the panel, "great care must be taken when incorporating such facts into the assessment".²²⁰ Third, Mexico is concerned with the interpretation that the non-discrimination obligations in Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement are not violated if the adverse impact is primarily the result of factors "unrelated to the foreign origin of the product".²²¹ According to Mexico, *de facto* discrimination precisely occurs, by its very nature, when the challenged measure does not, on its face, discriminate on the basis of origin.

²¹⁴Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 40. (original emphasis)

²¹⁵Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 43.

²¹⁶Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 48 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 7.276-7.279).

²¹⁷Mexico's third participant's submission, paras. 53 and 54.

²¹⁸Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 56 (referring to United States' appellant's submission, paras. 91-94).

²¹⁹Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 57.

²²⁰Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 59.

²²¹Mexico's third participant's submission, para. 65 (quoting United States' appellant's submission, para. 101; and referring to Panel Report, para. 7.259, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96).

5. Norway

Norway agrees with the United States that a panel's terms of reference are not limited by the 72. products listed in a panel request.²²² In this regard, Norway is not convinced by the Panel's reasoning that "the identification of the specific products at issue in a panel request pertains to the claim at issue".²²³ In Norway's view, since the product scope of the likeness analysis may influence the outcome of a discrimination claim, a panel should be entitled to define "the product scope of its own analysis" to determine the existence of discrimination, "without being subject to limitations chosen by the complainant, for whatever reason, in its panel request".²²⁴

73. With respect to the analysis of less favourable treatment, Norway first notes that the Panel compared "one like product (i.e. clove cigarettes), from one source (i.e. Indonesia), to one like domestic product in the United States (i.e. menthol cigarettes)".²²⁵ In its view, however, the Panel should have compared the impact of the measure at issue on "all like imported products, from all WTO Members" vis-à-vis its impact "on all like domestic products".²²⁶ According to Norway, the correct starting point for the analysis should be "the entire group of products identified as like products".²²⁷ Second, Norway disagrees with the United States' assertion that, because its measure distinguishes between cigarettes "on the basis of an origin-neutral criterion derived from a legitimate regulatory purpose", it is WTO-consistent.²²⁸ In Norway's view, the United States appears to "stretch the Appellate Body's statement in Dominican Republic - [Import and Sale of] Cigarettes too far"²²⁹, to circumstances that differ from those prevailing in that dispute. A proper assessment of *de facto* discrimination turns on whether the like imported products are predominantly subject to less favourable treatment, while like domestic products are predominantly subject to more favourable treatment. If there is such *de facto* discrimination, whether a measure's policy objective justifies that discrimination belongs more properly to the analysis under an applicable exception.²³⁰

²²²Norway's third participant's submission, para. 5.

²²³Norway's third participant's submission, para. 6 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.139).

²²⁴Norway's third participant's submission, para. 7.

²²⁵Norway's third participant's submission, para. 12 (referring to Panel Report, paras. 7.274 and 7.275). (original emphasis)

²²⁶Norway's third participant's submission, para. 12. (original emphasis)

²²⁷Norway's third participant's submission, para. 13 (referring to Panel Report, US - Tuna (II) (Mexico), para. 7.295, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 100). (original underlining) ²²⁸Norway's third participant's submission, para. 15. (original emphasis)

²²⁹Norway's third participant's submission, para. 20 (referring to Appellate Body Report, Dominican *Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96). ²³⁰Norway's third participant's submission, para. 21.

6. Turkey

74. Turkey considers that the Panel did not commit a legal error in its general interpretation of the term "like products" in Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement. In its view, the Panel properly considered the TBT Agreement as immediate context while also taking into account the jurisprudence on Article III:4 of the GATT 1994.²³¹ Turkey thus contends that the Panel correctly found that the declared legitimate public health objective of the measure, namely, reducing youth smoking, "must permeate and inform [its] likeness analysis".²³² Regarding the general assessment of the criteria for determining likeness, Turkey notes that the Appellate Body has rejected a "one-fits-all" approach and has advocated a case-by-case analysis.²³³ As for the end-use criterion, Turkey believes that a competition-based approach to determine likeness should not be as influential under the TBT Agreement as under Article III of the GATT 1994. Instead, the public health aspect of the measure "creates the immediate context".²³⁴ With respect to consumer tastes and habits, Turkey considers the Panel's focus on the relevant group of consumers-young smokers-not to be erroneous. In its view, it is not necessary to show that consumers are "actually substituting one product for the other"; rather, it is sufficient to show that consumers "can potentially substitute" them.235

75. Turkey further submits that the Panel did not commit legal error in limiting its analysis to a comparison between treatment of menthol cigarettes and clove cigarettes under Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA. In its view, the Panel was under an obligation to make a comparison between the products specified in its terms of reference because, "at least in this case", the product specification was part of Indonesia's claim itself.²³⁶ In addition, Turkey notes that, in a less favourable treatment analysis, detrimental effects stemming from factors other than the origin of a product are "an essential issue".²³⁷ In assessing this key issue, Turkey contends, the critical benchmark is whether imported and domestic products are treated equally, taking account of all economic and social factors. Turkey therefore considers that the Panel was correct in concluding that the purpose of the TBT Agreement would be defeated if Members were "allowed to remove their domestic products" from the application of technical regulations "to avoid potential costs that it might otherwise incur".²³⁸

²³¹Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 4 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.117).

²³²Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 5 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.116).

²³³Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 7 (quoting Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos,

para. 101). ²³⁴Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 11.

²³⁵Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 15.

²³⁶Turkey's third participant's submission, paras. 18 and 19.

²³⁷Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 21.

²³⁸Turkey's third participant's submission, para. 22 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.291).

III. Issues Raised in This Appeal

- 76. The following issues are raised in this appeal:
 - (a) Whether the Panel erred in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and in particular:
 - Whether the Panel erred in finding that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and in particular:
 - whether the Panel performed an incomplete analysis of the different end-uses of the products at issue;
 - whether the Panel erred in its analysis of consumer tastes and habits; and
 - whether the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in its assessment of consumer tastes and habits;
 - (ii) Whether the Panel erred in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and in particular:
 - whether the Panel improperly narrowed the product scope of its analysis by comparing treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes and to domestic menthol cigarettes;
 - whether the Panel erred in assessing less favourable treatment at the time the ban on flavoured cigarettes came into effect;
 - whether the Panel erred in finding that the detrimental impact on competitive opportunities of imported clove cigarettes could not be explained by reasons unrelated to the foreign origin of those products; and
 - whether the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to imported clove

cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes; and

- Whether the Panel erred in finding that, by failing to allow an interval of not less than (b) six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A)of the FFDCA, the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, and in particular:
 - (i) whether the Panel attributed an incorrect "interpretative value" to paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision in interpreting the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement; and
 - (ii) whether the Panel incorrectly found that Indonesia had established a prima facie case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement that the United States failed to rebut.

IV. Background

Before commencing our analysis of the issues of law and legal interpretations raised in this 77. appeal, we briefly outline certain pertinent facts and background information. This dispute concerns Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the United States Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act²³⁹ (the "FFDCA"). Section 907(a)(1)(A) was added to the FFDCA by Section 101(b) of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act²⁴⁰ (the "FSPTCA")²⁴¹, and became law on 22 June 2009.²⁴²

78. Under Section 907(a)(1)(A), beginning three months after the enactment of the FSPTCA -that is, as from 22 September 2009:

> ... a cigarette or any of its components (including the tobacco, filter, or paper) shall not contain, as a constituent ... or additive, an artificial or natural flavour (other than tobacco or menthol) or an herb or spice, including strawberry, grape, orange, clove, cinnamon, pineapple, vanilla, coconut, liquorice, cocoa, chocolate, cherry, or coffee, that is a characterizing flavour of the tobacco product or tobacco smoke.

79. The specific objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) is not set forth in the FSPTCA itself. However, a report prepared by the House Energy and Commerce Committee²⁴³ (the "House Report")

²³⁹Supra, footnote 2.

²⁴⁰Supra, footnote 3.

²⁴¹Panel Report, para. 2.4.

²⁴²Panel Report, para. 2.5 (referring to Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, footnote 1 to para. 1). ²⁴³H.R. Rep. No. 111-58, Pt. 1 (2009) (Panel Exhibits IND-2 and US-67).

articulates both the objectives of the FSPTCA overall, and of Section 907(a)(1)(A) in particular. According to the House Report, "[t]he objectives of [the FSPTCA] are to provide the Secretary with the proper authority over tobacco products in order to protect the public health and to reduce the number of individuals under 18 years of age who use tobacco products."²⁴⁴ The House Report also explains the purpose of Section 907(a)(1)(A) as follows:

Consistent with the overall intent of the bill to protect the public health, including by reducing the number of children and adolescents who smoke cigarettes, Section 907(a)(1)(A) is intended to prohibit the manufacture and sale of cigarettes with certain 'characterizing flavors' that appeal to youth.²⁴⁵

80. According to the Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff²⁴⁶ ("FDA Guidance"), Section 907(a)(1)(A) applies to all flavoured tobacco products²⁴⁷ that meet the definition of a "cigarette" in Section 3(1) of the Federal Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act²⁴⁸, that is: "(A) any roll of tobacco wrapped in paper or in any substance not containing tobacco"; or "(B) any roll of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, is likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette described [under] (A)."²⁴⁹ The ban contained in Section 907(a)(1)(A) also extends to flavoured loose tobacco and rolling papers, and filters intended to be used in "roll-your-own" cigarettes.²⁵⁰

81. The Panel identified the products at issue in this dispute as being clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes.²⁵¹ Clove cigarettes are composed of tobacco combined with flavouring additives, which is presented to the consumer in a paper wrapped with a filter.²⁵² More specifically, clove cigarettes are generally manufactured with 60 to 80 per cent tobacco content, usually resulting from a blend of

²⁵²Panel Report, para. 7.157 (referring to Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, para. 54; and Indonesia's second written submission to the Panel, para. 67).

²⁴⁴House Report, p. 14.

²⁴⁵House Report, p. 37.

²⁴⁶"General Questions and Answers on the Ban of Cigarettes that Contain Characterizing Flavors (Edition 2)", 23 December 2009 (Panel Exhibit IND-41).

²⁴⁷The Panel noted that, in referring to cigarettes *not containing any characterizing flavours*, the parties often used the terms "regular" and "tobacco-flavoured" cigarettes interchangeably, and found this ambiguity to be "susceptible of causing confusion". The Panel observed that referring to tobacco-flavoured cigarettes may confuse the reader into believing that cigarettes such as clove-flavoured or menthol-flavoured cigarettes do not contain tobacco. In fact, *all* cigarettes contain tobacco, but "flavoured" cigarettes such as menthol, kreteks, bidis, and so on, contain, as well, an additive that imparts a characterizing flavour to cigarettes. Therefore, the Panel decided to use the term "regular" cigarettes, and not "tobacco-flavoured" cigarettes, as it better describes the fact that they do not include *additional* characterizing flavours. (Panel Report, para. 7.131)

²⁴⁸United States Code, Title 15, Chapter 36.

²⁴⁹FDA Guidance, answer to Question 2.

²⁵⁰FDA Guidance, answers to Questions 3 and 4.

²⁵¹Panel Report, para. 7.147.

different varieties of tobacco.²⁵³ As for the additives, clove cigarettes contain approximately 20 to 40 per cent cloves, either in the form of clove buds or ground/minced cloves.²⁵⁴ They also generally include a "sauce" as part of the flavouring ingredients chosen by each manufacturer²⁵⁵, as well as other components inherent to cloves, such as benzyl acetate, methyl salicylate, trans-anethole, and methyl eugenol.²⁵⁶ Before the Panel, the parties did not dispute that clove cigarettes contain eugenol²⁵⁷—a substance that the United States defined as "a common topical anesthetic used in dental procedures"²⁵⁸—and they also agreed that the Polzin paper, a study on certain ingredients of Indonesian clove cigarettes, shows that 19 of 33 clove cigarette brands analyzed contained coumarin, a flavouring additive.²⁵⁹

82. Menthol cigarettes, in contrast, have approximately 90 per cent tobacco content by weight and are composed of a blend of Virginia, Maryland burley, Oriental, and reconstituted tobacco.²⁶⁰ The Panel noted that the March 2011 report by the Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee to the FDA²⁶¹ (the "March 2011 TPSAC Report") specifies that "[m]enthol cigarettes are typically blended using more flue-cured and less burley tobacco ... because some of the chemicals in burley tobaccos create an incompatible taste character with menthol."²⁶² The main additive in menthol cigarettes is menthol oil, a chemical compound extracted from the peppermint plant (*Mentha piperita*), the corn mint plant (*Mentha arvensis*), or produced by synthetic or semi-synthetic means. Menthol is added to cigarettes in several different ways²⁶³ and diffuses throughout the cigarette, irrespective of the means of application.²⁶⁴ According to the March 2011 TPSAC Report, menthol is added to cigarettes both as a characterizing flavour and for other taste reasons, which include brightening the flavour of tobacco blends and/or smoothing the taste of the blend. Menthol amounts

²⁵³Panel Report, para. 7.158 (referring to S. Farrer, "Alternative Cigarettes May Deliver More Nicotine Than Conventional Cigarettes" (August 2003) 18(2) *National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) Notes* (Panel Exhibit IND-29); United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 163; and Indonesia's and United States' responses to Panel Question 33).

²⁵⁴Panel Report, para. 7.159.

²⁵⁵Panel Report, para. 7.160 (referring to United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 165).

²⁵⁶Panel Report, para. 7.164 (referring to Indonesia's response to Panel Question 30).

²⁵⁷Panel Report, para. 7.162.

²⁵⁸Panel Report, para. 7.161 (quoting United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 38).

²⁵⁹Panel Report, para. 7.163 (referring to Polzin et al., "Determination of eugenol, anethole, and coumarin in the mainstream cigarette smoke of Indonesian clove cigarettes" (October 2007) 45(10) *Food & Chemical Toxicology* (Panel Exhibit US-45); and Indonesia's and United States' responses to Panel Question 34).

Question 34). ²⁶⁰Panel Report, para. 7.166 (referring to United States' response to Panel Question 31). The Panel noted that Indonesia did not provide any specific information in that respect. (*Ibid.*, footnote 357 to para. 7.166)

²⁶¹Available at http://www.fda.gov/downloads/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/ TobaccoProductsScientificAdvisoryCommittee/UCM247689.pdf.

²⁶²Panel Report, para. 7.166.

 $^{^{263}}$ The different ways in which menthol is added to cigarettes are the following: (a) by spraying the cut tobacco during blending; (b) by applying it to the pack foil; (c) by injecting it into the tobacco stream; (d) by injecting it into the filter; (e) by inserting a crushable capsule in the filter; (f) by placing a menthol thread in the filter; or (g) any combination of the above. (Panel Report, para. 7.167)

²⁶⁴Panel Report, para. 7.167.

to roughly 1 per cent of the content of the cigarette, although the specific amount varies from brand to brand.²⁶⁵ Moreover, menthol may have cooling, analgesic, or irritating properties, and is reported to reduce sensitivity to noxious chemicals, including nicotine.²⁶⁶

83. In this Report, we first consider the United States' claim that the Panel erred in finding that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. We then address the United States' claim that the Panel erred in finding that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* by according to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes. Lastly, we consider the United States' claim that the Panel erred in finding that, by not allowing a period of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A), the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

V. Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement

A. Introduction

84. The Panel found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is a "technical regulation" within the meaning of Annex 1.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and that it is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* because it accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like menthol cigarettes of national origin.²⁶⁷ In particular, the Panel found that "clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are 'like products' for the purpose of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*"²⁶⁸, and that, "by banning clove cigarettes while exempting menthol cigarettes from the ban, Section 907(a)(1)(A) does accord imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes, for the purpose of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*".²⁶⁹

85. The United States appeals the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, and argues that the Panel erred in finding that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products and that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like products of national origin within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. We address separately in this Report the United States' claims in respect of the Panel's findings on like products and on less favourable treatment under Article 2.1 of

²⁶⁵According to Indonesia, the menthol content can range up to 3 per cent. (Panel Report, para. 7.169 (referring to Indonesia's response to Panel Question 32))

²⁶⁶Panel Report, para. 7.168 (referring to March 2011 TPSAC Report, pp. 18-20 and 22).

²⁶⁷Panel Report, paras. 7.293, 8.1(a), and 8.1(b).

²⁶⁸Panel Report, para. 7.248.

²⁶⁹Panel Report, para. 7.292.

the *TBT Agreement*. Before doing so, however, we consider Article 2.1 as a whole in its context and in the light of the object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement*.

86. Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* provides that, with respect to their central government bodies:

Members shall ensure that in respect of technical regulations, products imported from the territory of any Member shall be accorded treatment no less favourable than that accorded to like products of national origin and to like products originating in any other country.

87. Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* contains a national treatment and a most-favoured nation treatment obligation. In this dispute, we are called upon to clarify the meaning of the national treatment obligation. For a violation of the national treatment obligation in Article 2.1 to be established, three elements must be satisfied: (i) the measure at issue must be a technical regulation; (ii) the imported and domestic products at issue must be like products; and (iii) the treatment accorded to imported products must be less favourable than that accorded to like domestic products. The United States' appeal concerns only the second and the third elements of this test of inconsistency, namely, whether the products at issue are like and whether the treatment accorded to like domestic products is less favourable than that accorded to like domestic products of the products at issue are like and whether the treatment accorded to like domestic products in the United States.²⁷⁰

88. In sections V.B and V.C of this Report, we interpret Article 2.1 of *TBT Agreement* and, in particular, the terms "like products" and "treatment no less favourable". However, before engaging in this interpretative effort, we wish to make some observations of general import on: the preamble of the *TBT Agreement*; the definition of "technical regulation"; the relevance of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 in interpreting Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*; and the absence among the provisions of the *TBT Agreement* of a general exception provision similar to Article XX of the GATT 1994.

89. The preamble of the *TBT Agreement* is part of the context of Article 2.1 and also sheds light on the object and purpose of the Agreement. We find guidance for the interpretation of Article 2.1, in particular, in the second, fifth, and sixth recitals of the preamble of the *TBT Agreement*.

90. The second recital links the *TBT Agreement* to the GATT 1994. It states:

Desiring to further the objectives of GATT 1994;

 $^{^{270}}$ We recall that it was not disputed before the Panel that Section 907(a)(1)(A) is a technical regulation and that the United States has not appealed the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) is a technical regulation within the meaning of Annex 1.1 to the *TBT Agreement* (Panel Report, paras. 7.21 and 7.41).

91. While this recital may be read as suggesting that the *TBT Agreement* is a "development" or a "step forward" from the disciplines of the GATT 1994^{271} , in our view, it also suggests that the two agreements overlap in scope and have similar objectives. If this were not true, the *TBT Agreement* could not serve to "further the objectives" of the GATT 1994. The second recital indicates that the *TBT Agreement* expands on pre-existing GATT disciplines and emphasizes that the two Agreements should be interpreted in a coherent and consistent manner.

92. The fifth recital reflects the trade-liberalization objective of the *TBT Agreement* by expressing the "desire" that technical regulations, technical standards, and conformity assessment procedures do not create unnecessary obstacles to international trade. It states:

Desiring however to ensure that technical regulations and standards, including packaging, marking and labelling requirements, and procedures for assessment of conformity with technical regulations and standards do not create unnecessary obstacles to international trade;

93. We see the fifth recital reflected in those TBT provisions that aim at reducing obstacles to international trade and that limit Members' right to regulate, for instance, by prohibiting discrimination against imported products (Article 2.1) or requiring that technical regulations be no more trade restrictive than necessary to fulfil a legitimate objective (Article 2.2).

94. The objective of avoiding the creation of unnecessary obstacles to international trade through technical regulations, standards, and conformity assessment procedures is, however, qualified in the sixth recital by the explicit recognition of Members' right to regulate in order to pursue certain legitimate objectives. The sixth recital states:

Recognizing that no country should be prevented from taking measures necessary to ensure the quality of its exports, or for the protection of human, animal or plant life or health, of the environment, or for the prevention of deceptive practices, at the levels it considers appropriate, subject to the requirement that they are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where the same conditions prevail or a disguised restriction on international trade, and are otherwise in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;

95. We read the sixth recital as counterbalancing the trade-liberalization objective expressed in the fifth recital. The sixth recital "recognizes" Members' right to regulate versus the "desire" to avoid creating unnecessary obstacles to international trade, expressed in the fifth recital. While the fifth recital clearly suggests that Members' right to regulate is not unbounded, the sixth recital affirms

²⁷¹Panel Report, para. 7.112.

that such a right exists while ensuring that trade-distortive effects of regulation are minimized. The sixth recital suggests that Members' right to regulate should not be constrained if the measures taken are necessary to fulfil certain legitimate policy objectives, and provided that they are not applied in a manner that would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination or a disguised restriction on international trade, and are otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement. We thus understand the sixth recital to suggest that Members have a right to use technical regulations in pursuit of their legitimate objectives, provided that they do so in an even-handed manner and in a manner that is otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the *TBT Agreement*.

96. The balance set out in the preamble of the *TBT Agreement* between, on the one hand, the desire to avoid creating unnecessary obstacles to international trade and, on the other hand, the recognition of Members' right to regulate, is not, in principle, different from the balance set out in the GATT 1994, where obligations such as national treatment in Article III are qualified by the general exceptions provision of Article XX.

97. We observe that Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* applies only in respect of technical regulations, which are defined in Annex 1.1 as "[d]ocument[s] which lay[] down product characteristics or their related processes and production methods, including the applicable administrative provisions, with which compliance is mandatory".²⁷² Product characteristics laid down in a technical regulation may themselves be relevant to the determination of whether products are like within the meaning of Article 2.1. Thus, we consider that, in the case of technical regulations, the measure itself *may* provide elements that are relevant to the determination of whether products are like and whether less favourable treatment has been accorded to imported products.

98. The definition of technical regulations as documents laying down product characteristics gives an indication that, under the *TBT Agreement*, measures making distinctions based on product characteristics are in principle permitted. However, the fact that a technical regulation defines a product's characteristics with a view to fulfilling a legitimate policy objective does not mean that it may do so by treating imported products less favourably than like domestic products.

99. We note that the language of the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* closely resembles the language of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994. Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 reads, in relevant part:

²⁷²The second sentence of Annex 1.1 reads as follows: "It may also include or deal exclusively with terminology, symbols, packaging, marking or labelling requirements as they apply to a product, process or production method".

The products of the territory of any Member imported into the territory of any other Member shall be accorded treatment no less favourable than that accorded to like products of national origin in respect of all laws, regulations and requirements affecting their internal sale, offering for sale, purchase, transportation, distribution or use.

100. The national treatment obligations of Article 2.1 and Article III:4 are built around the same core terms, namely, "like products" and "treatment no less favourable". We further note that technical regulations are in principle subject not only to Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, but also to the national treatment obligation of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, as "laws, regulations and requirements affecting the internal sale, offering for sale, purchase, transportation, distribution or use" of products. The very similar formulation of the provisions, and the overlap in their scope of application in respect of technical regulations, confirm that Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 is relevant context for the interpretation of the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.²⁷³ We consider that, in interpreting Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, a panel should focus on the text of Article 2.1, read in the context of the *TBT Agreement*, including its preamble, and also consider other contextual elements, such as Article III:4 of the GATT 1994.²⁷⁴

101. Finally, we observe that the *TBT Agreement* does not contain among its provisions a general exceptions clause. This may be contrasted with the GATT 1994, which contains a general exceptions clause in Article XX.

102. With these observations of general import in mind, we turn to the United States' appeal of the Panel's findings that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products, and that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords imported clove cigarettes from Indonesia less favourable treatment than that accorded to like domestic menthol cigarettes, within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

B. The Panel's Finding that Clove Cigarettes and Menthol Cigarettes are "Like Products" within the Meaning of Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement

103. We begin our analysis by addressing the Panel's interpretation of the concept of "like products" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. We then turn to the United States' claims that the

 $^{^{273}}$ We recall that, in *EC* – *Asbestos*, the Appellate Body found that the terms used in one provision "must be interpreted in light of the context, and of the object and purpose, of the provision at issue, and of the object and purpose of the covered agreement in which the provision appears" and that the meaning attributed to the same terms in other provisions of the same agreement or in other covered agreements, may also be relevant context. (Appellate Body Report, *EC* – *Asbestos*, paras. 88-89)

 $^{^{274}}$ In setting out its interpretative approach to Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, the Panel considered that, "[e]ven if the GATT 1994 were considered to serve as context for Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, it would not be the immediate context of that provision" and that "an interpreter should first assess the immediate context of the provision subject to interpretation before reaching for an interpretative aid that is further removed." (Panel Report, para. 7.103)

Panel erred in its interpretation and application of the "likeness" criteria of end-use and consumer tastes and habits, as well as to its claim that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in its assessment of consumer tastes and habits. The United States does not appeal the Panel's findings concerning the products' physical characteristics and tariff classification.

1. <u>"Like Products" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*</u>

104. The Panel found that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.²⁷⁵ The Panel reached this conclusion after having evaluated the traditional "likeness" criteria (physical characteristics, end-uses, consumer tastes and habits, and tariff classification), "bearing in mind that the measure at issue is a technical regulation, with the immediate purpose of regulating cigarettes having a characterizing flavour, with a view to attaining the legitimate objective of reducing youth smoking".²⁷⁶ Before addressing the United States' appeal of the Panel's specific findings in respect of the "likeness" criteria of end-uses and consumer tastes and habits, we first consider the Panel's approach to interpreting "like products" in the context of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

105. The Panel considered that "it is far from clear that it is always appropriate to transpose automatically the competition-oriented approach to likeness under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 to Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*" in the absence of a general principle such as that expressed in Article III:1 of the GATT 1994.²⁷⁷ The Panel also noted that, despite the similarity in wording, Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* and Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 differ in that the former only applies to technical regulations whereas the latter applies to a much broader range of measures.²⁷⁸ The Panel stated that Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 could not be regarded as immediate context to Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* and noted that the Appellate Body's reference to an "accordion" of "likeness" allows, and potentially mandates, different interpretations of the term "like products" under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 and Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement.*²⁷⁹

106. The Panel turned to what it considered the immediate context of the term "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, namely, Article 2.1 itself and the *TBT Agreement* as a whole, and to that Agreement's object and purpose as set out in its preamble. The Panel considered that the fact that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is a technical regulation within the meaning of Annex 1.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, which has the immediate purpose of regulating cigarettes with characterizing flavours with the view to attaining the legitimate objective of reducing youth smoking, should have

²⁷⁵Panel Report, para. 7.248.

²⁷⁶Panel Report, para. 7.244.

²⁷⁷Panel Report, para. 7.99.

²⁷⁸Panel Report, para. 7.106.

²⁷⁹Panel Report, para. 7.105.

"some weight and potentially considerable weight" in the determination of whether the products at issue are like.²⁸⁰ The Panel also noted that the sixth recital of the preamble of the *TBT Agreement*, which recognizes Members' right to take measures for legitimate objectives, and Article 2.2 could justify a different interpretation of "likeness" under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* from that developed under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994.²⁸¹

107. The Panel thus found that, in the circumstances of this case, the interpretation of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* should not be approached primarily from a competition-oriented perspective, but that the weighing of the evidence relating to the "likeness" criteria should be influenced by the fact that Section 907(a)(1)(A) is a technical regulation having the immediate purpose of regulating cigarettes with a characterizing flavour for public health reasons.²⁸² Having developed this interpretative approach, the Panel turned to the analysis of the traditional "likeness" criteria, namely, the physical characteristics of the products, end-uses, consumer tastes and habits, and tariff classification. The Panel gave particular weight to the health objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) in its assessment of the products' physical characteristics and of consumer tastes and habits.²⁸³

108. We agree with the Panel that the interpretation of the term "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* should start with the text of that provision in the light of the context provided by Article 2.1 itself, by other provisions of the *TBT Agreement*, and by the *TBT Agreement* as a whole. We also agree that the relevant context includes the fact that Article 2.1 applies to technical regulations, which are documents laying down the characteristics of products. We further note that the preamble of the *TBT Agreement* recognizes Members' right to regulate through technical regulations. As explained below, however, we are not persuaded that these contextual elements and the object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement* suggest that the interpretation of the concept of "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* cannot be approached from a competition-oriented perspective.

109. As we have observed above, the balance that the preamble of the *TBT Agreement* strikes between, on the one hand, the pursuit of trade liberalization and, on the other hand, Members' right to regulate, is not, in principle, different from the balance that exists between the national treatment obligation of Article III and the general exceptions provided under Article XX of the GATT 1994. The second recital of the preamble links the two Agreements by expressing the "desire" "to further the objectives of the GATT 1994", while the "recognition" of a Member's right to regulate in the sixth recital is balanced by the "desire" expressed in the fifth recital to ensure that technical

²⁸⁰Panel Report, para. 7.109.

²⁸¹Panel Report, para. 7.114.

²⁸²Panel Report, para. 7.119.

²⁸³Panel Report, para. 7.119.

regulations, standards, and conformity assessment procedures do not create unnecessary obstacles to international trade. We note, however, that in the GATT 1994 this balance is expressed by the national treatment rule in Article III:4 as qualified by the exceptions in Article XX, while, in the TBT Agreement, this balance is to be found in Article 2.1 itself, read in the light of its context and of its object and purpose.

The Panel was also of the view that the absence of a provision like Article III:1 of the 110. GATT 1994 in the TBT Agreement would prevent the transposition of the GATT competition-oriented approach to likeness to Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement.²⁸⁴ Article III:1 provides that internal fiscal and regulatory measures "should not be applied to imported or domestic products so as to afford protection to domestic production". We observe, in this respect, that, in EC – Asbestos, the Appellate Body considered that the "general principle" articulated in Article III:1 of the GATT 1994 "seeks to prevent Members from applying internal taxes and regulations in a manner which affects the competitive relationship, in the marketplace, between the domestic and imported products involved, 'so as to afford protection to domestic production'".²⁸⁵ However, the Appellate Body did not base its conclusion that "likeness" in Article III:4 is about the "nature and extent of a competitive relationship between and among products"²⁸⁶ exclusively on the "general principle" expressed in Article III:1. Rather, the Appellate Body further clarified that "the word 'like' in Article III:4 is to be interpreted to apply to products that are in ... a competitive relationship", because it is "products that are in a competitive relationship in the marketplace [that] could be affected through treatment of imports 'less favourable' than the treatment accorded to *domestic* products".²⁸⁷

111. We agree that the very concept of "treatment no less favourable", which is expressed in the same words in Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 and in Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement, informs the determination of likeness, suggesting that likeness is about the "nature and extent of a competitive relationship between and among products". Indeed, the concept of "treatment no less favourable" links the products to the marketplace, because it is only in the marketplace that it can be determined how the measure treats like imported and domestic products. We note, however, that, in determining likeness based on the competitive relationship between and among the products, a panel should discount any distortive effects that the measure at issue may itself have on the competitive relationship, and reserve the consideration of such effects for the analysis of less favourable treatment. In such cases, a panel should determine the nature and the extent of the competitive relationship for

²⁸⁴Panel Report, para. 7.99.

²⁸⁵Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 98. (original emphasis)

²⁸⁶Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos, para. 99. ²⁸⁷Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos, para. 99. (original emphasis)

the purpose of determining likeness in isolation from the measure at issue, to the extent that the latter informs the physical characteristics of the products and/or consumers' preferences.

112. In the light of the above, we disagree with the Panel that the text and context of the *TBT Agreement* support an interpretation of the concept of "likeness" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* that focuses on the legitimate objectives and purposes of the technical regulation, rather than on the competitive relationship between and among the products.

113. We further observe that measures often pursue a multiplicity of objectives, which are not always easily discernible from the text or even from the design, architecture, and structure of the measure. Determining likeness on the basis of the regulatory objectives of the measure, rather than on the products' competitive relationship, would require the identification of all the relevant objectives of a measure, as well as an assessment of which objectives among others are relevant or should prevail in determining whether the products are like. It seems to us that it would not always be possible for a complainant or a panel to identify all the objectives of a measure and/or be in a position to determine which among multiple objectives are relevant to the determination of whether two products are like, or not.²⁸⁸

114. The appeal by the United States of the Panel's determination of consumer tastes and habits, which we address further below, highlights the difficulties that arise when attempting to determine likeness based on the regulatory purposes of the measure rather than on the competitive relationship between and among products. The Panel relied on the objective of the measure at issue, which it identified as reducing youth smoking, to determine the likeness of the products.²⁸⁹ The United States questions the basis for the Panel's narrow focus on the immediate objective of the measure²⁹⁰ and cites to other regulatory objectives related to health considerations associated with heavily used cigarettes to draw further distinctions between menthol and clove cigarettes.²⁹¹

115. Measures, such as technical regulations, may have more than one objective. However, a panel that is tasked with determining whether two products are like may not be able to reach a coherent result if, in determining likeness, it has to rely on various possible regulatory objectives of the measure. If a panel were to focus on one of the objectives of a measure to the exclusion of all others that are equally important, it may reach a somewhat arbitrary result in the determination of what are the like products at issue which, in turn, has implications for the determination of whether

²⁸⁸See Panel Report, Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II, para. 6.16.

²⁸⁹Panel Report, para. 7.119.

²⁹⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 60.

²⁹¹The United States cites to "possible countervailing public health factors" associated with banning heavily used cigarettes, such as "possible increases in unregulated black market cigarettes or strain to the healthcare system". (United States' appellant's submission, para. 61)

less favourable treatment has been accorded. Moreover, we note that a purpose-based approach to the determination of likeness does not, necessarily, leave more regulatory autonomy for Members, because it almost invariably puts panels into the position of having to determine which of the various objectives purportedly pursued by Members are more important, or which of these objectives should prevail in determining likeness or less favourable treatment in the event of conflicting objectives.

116. More importantly, however, we do not consider that the concept of "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* lends itself to distinctions between products that are based on the regulatory objectives of a measure. As we see it, the concept of "like products" serves to define the scope of products that should be compared to establish whether less favourable treatment is being accorded to imported products. If products that are in a sufficiently strong competitive relationship to be considered like are excluded from the group of like products on the basis of a measure's regulatory purposes, such products would not be compared in order to ascertain whether less favourable treatment has been accorded to imported products. This would inevitably distort the less favourable treatment comparison, as it would refer to a "marketplace" that would include some like products, but not others. As we consider further below in respect of the United States' appeal of the Panel's less favourable treatment finding, distinctions among products that have been found to be like are better drawn when considering, subsequently, whether less favourable treatment has been accorded, rather than in determining likeness, because the latter approach would alter the scope and result of the less favourable treatment comparison.

117. Nevertheless, in concluding that the determination of likeness should not be based on the regulatory purposes of technical regulations, we are not suggesting that the regulatory concerns underlying technical regulations may not play a role in the determination of whether or not products are like. In this respect, we recall that, in EC - Asbestos, the Appellate Body found that regulatory concerns and considerations may play a role in applying certain of the "likeness" criteria (that is, physical characteristics and consumer preferences) and, thus, in the determination of likeness under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994.

118. In EC – Asbestos, the Appellate Body found that, in examining whether products are like, panels must evaluate all relevant evidence, including evidence relating to the health risks associated with a product, which was the underlying concern of the challenged measure in that dispute. The Appellate Body found that such evidence would not be examined as a separate criterion but, rather, under the traditional "likeness" criteria. In particular, the Appellate Body stated that a product's health risks are relevant to the determination of the competitive relationship between products, and addressed health risks as part of the products' physical characteristics and of the tastes and habits of consumers.²⁹² In respect of physical characteristics, the Appellate Body considered that a panel should examine fully the physical properties of products, in particular, those physical properties that are likely to influence the competitive relationship between products in the marketplace. These include those physical properties that make a product toxic or otherwise dangerous to health.²⁹³ In respect of consumer tastes and habits, the Appellate Body found that the health risks associated with a product could influence the preference of consumers.²⁹⁴

119. Similarly, we consider that the regulatory concerns underlying a measure, such as the health risks associated with a given product, may be relevant to an analysis of the "likeness" criteria under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, as well as under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, to the extent they have an impact on the competitive relationship between and among the products concerned.

120. The interpretation of the concept of "likeness" in Article 2.1 has to be based on the text of that provision as read in the context of the *TBT Agreement* and of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, which also contains a similarly worded national treatment obligation that applies to laws, regulations, and requirements including technical regulations. In the light of this context and of the object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement*, as expressed in its preamble, we consider that the determination of likeness under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, as well as under Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, is a determination about the nature and extent of a competitive relationship between and among the products at issue. To the extent that they are relevant to the examination of certain "likeness" criteria and are reflected in the products' competitive relationship, regulatory concerns underlying technical regulations may play a role in the determination of likeness.

121. With this interpretative approach in mind, we now turn to the claims by the United States that the Panel committed errors in its assessments of the end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes and of the tastes and habits of consumers of clove and menthol cigarettes, as well as to the United States' claim that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in its assessment of consumer tastes and habits. We begin by examining the Panel's finding that clove and menthol cigarettes have the same end-use.

²⁹²Appellate Body Report, *EC* – *Asbestos*, para. 113.

²⁹³The Appellate Body noted that a characteristic of chrysotile asbestos fibres was that the microscopic particles and filaments of these fibres were carcinogenic for humans when inhaled. Thus, the Appellate Body concluded that the carcinogenicity, or toxicity, constituted a defining aspect of the physical properties of chrysotile asbestos fibres as opposed to polyvinyl alcohol, cellulose, and glass (PCG) fibres, which did not present the same health risk. (Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos, para. 114)

²⁹⁴The Appellate Body found that the health risks associated with chrysotile asbestos fibres influenced the behaviour of both manufacturers (who incorporate fibres into another product) and ultimate consumers. The Appellate Body noted that a manufacturer cannot ignore the preferences of the ultimate consumers of a product and, if the risks posed by a particular product are sufficiently great, the ultimate consumers may simply cease to buy that product. (Appellate Body Report, EC - Asbestos, para. 122)

2. <u>End-Uses</u>

122. In examining the end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes, the Panel found that both clove and menthol cigarettes have the same end-use, that is, "to be smoked"²⁹⁵, and disagreed with the United States that the end-uses of a cigarette include "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke". The Panel considered that the end-uses presented by the United States relate to the reasons why people smoke, but that does not mean that cigarettes have several end-uses.²⁹⁶ In particular, the Panel considered that the United States' comments on the appeal of flavours to certain smokers relate more properly to consumer tastes and habits than to end-use.²⁹⁷

123. The United States claims that a panel, when conducting an end-use analysis, must consider the different uses of the products and not just the use that is a "common denominator" of the products in question.²⁹⁸ According to the United States, it is undisputed that both clove and menthol cigarettes are used for smoking, but the Panel improperly limited its analysis to considering only this common use between the products while ignoring other relevant end-uses. Menthol cigarettes, the United States posits, are used to "satisfy the nicotine addictions of millions of smokers in the United States", whereas clove cigarettes are primarily used "for experimentation and special social settings" and generally are not smoked to satisfy nicotine addiction in the US market.²⁹⁹

124. Indonesia responds that the Panel did not err in finding that the end-use of clove and menthol cigarettes is "to be smoked". In Indonesia's view, moreover, even assuming *arguendo* that the end-uses put forward by the United States were pertinent ones, the United States presented no evidence showing that clove and menthol cigarettes were not both *capable* of performing the end-uses of satisfying a nicotine addiction and creating a pleasurable experience.³⁰⁰

125. We observe that end-uses describe the possible functions of a product, while consumer tastes and habits reflect the consumers' appreciation of these functions. In EC - Asbestos, the Appellate Body described end-uses as "the extent to which products are *capable* of performing the same, or similar, functions" and consumer tastes and habits as "the extent to which consumers are willing to

²⁹⁵Panel Report, para. 7.199.

²⁹⁶Panel Report, para. 7.198.

²⁹⁷Panel Report, para. 7.197.

²⁹⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 45.

²⁹⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 46.

³⁰⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 73.

use the products to perform these functions".³⁰¹ That a product is not principally used to perform a certain function does not exclude that it may nevertheless be *capable* of performing that function.

126. The Appellate Body has also considered that, while each criterion addresses, in principle, a different aspect of the products involved, which should be examined separately, the different criteria are "interrelated"³⁰² and "not mutually exclusive", so that certain evidence may well fall under more than one criterion.³⁰³ Thus, in our view, that consumers smoke to satisfy an addiction or that they smoke for pleasure are relevant to the examination of both end-uses and consumer tastes and habits, although different aspects are addressed in the analysis of these two separate "likeness" criteria.

127. We do not consider that it is correct to characterize "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke" as consumer tastes and habits and not end-uses. To the extent that they describe possible functions of the products, rather than the consumers' appreciation of these functions, they represent, in fact, different end-uses of the products at issue, rather than consumer tastes and habits. Consumer tastes and habits should indicate to what extent consumers are willing to substitute clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes to "satisfy an addiction to nicotine" and/or to "create a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke".

128. We also recall that, in EC – Asbestos, the Appellate Body found that the panel had not provided a complete picture of the various end-uses of the different fibres at issue, because its analysis was based on a "small number of applications" for which the products were substitutable, and because it had failed to examine other, different end-uses for the products. The Appellate Body noted that it is only by forming a complete picture of the various end-uses of a product that a panel can assess the significance of the fact that products share a limited number of end-uses.³⁰⁴

129. An analysis of end-use should be comprehensive and specific enough to provide meaningful guidance as to whether the products in question are like products. It is not disputed that both clove and menthol cigarettes are "to be smoked". Nevertheless, "to be smoked" does not exhaustively describe the functions of cigarettes. As a consequence, to find, as the Panel did, that the end-use of both clove and menthol cigarettes is "to be smoked" does not, in our view, provide sufficient guidance as to whether such products are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

³⁰¹Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 117. (emphasis added)

 $^{^{302}}$ Appellate Body Report, *EC* – *Asbestos*, para. 102.

³⁰³Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 131. In that dispute, the Appellate Body considered that factors such as the perceptibility of differences among the products and the products' presentation and labelling concern both physical characteristics and consumer tastes and habits. (*Ibid.*, paras. 128 and 132)

³⁰⁴Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 119.

Also cigars, loose tobacco, and herbs share the same end-use of being "smoked", although this does not say much as to whether all these products are like.³⁰⁵

130. In our view, the Panel did not perform an analysis of the end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes that was sufficiently comprehensive and specific to provide significant indications as to the likeness of these products. We agree with the United States that there are more specific permutations and functions of "smoking", which are relevant to the end-uses of cigarettes, such as "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke". The Panel should have considered these permutations and functions in its evaluation of whether the products at issue are like. We also note, however, the argument by Indonesia that, even assuming that the end-uses put forward by the United States were "legitimate end-uses", the United States did not show that clove and menthol cigarettes were not both *capable* of performing the functions of "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette end-uses", the United States did not show that clove and menthol cigarettes were not both *capable* of performing the functions of "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke".

131. The United States argues on appeal that menthol cigarettes are used to satisfy the nicotine addictions of millions of smokers in the United States, while clove cigarettes are primarily used for experimentation and special social settings and generally are not used to satisfy addiction. The Panel, however, found that "both menthol and clove cigarettes appeal to youth because of the presence of an additive that gives them a characterizing flavour having the effect of masking the harshness of tobacco".³⁰⁷ Both types of cigarettes are capable of performing a social/experimentation function and, thus, share the end-use of "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke". At the same time, both clove and menthol cigarettes are capable of performing the function of "satisfying an addiction to nicotine", considering that both types of cigarettes contain nicotine, whose addictiveness is scientifically proven.³⁰⁸ The fact that more "addicts" smoke menthol than clove cigarettes does not mean that clove cigarettes cannot be smoked to "satisfy an addiction to nicotine". As we have observed above, what matters in determining a product's end-use is that a product is *capable* of performing it, not that such end-use represents the principal or the most common end-use of that product.

³⁰⁵Similarly, to state that the end-use of alcoholic beverages is "to be drunk" would not distinguish alcoholic beverages from water, milk, or orange juice that are also consumed by drinking. In contrast, in *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, the specific end-use of alcoholic beverages was described as "thirst quenching, socialization, relaxation, pleasant intoxication". (Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 171 (quoting Panel Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 7.81))

³⁰⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 73.

³⁰⁷Panel Report, para. 7.231.

³⁰⁸In its response to Panel Question 37, the United States notes that, "[w]ith respect to the addictive effects of regular, menthol and clove cigarettes, all of these products contain nicotine and are thus addictive." (United States' response to Panel Question 37, para. 85)

132. In the light of the above, we disagree with the Panel that the end-use of cigarettes is simply "to be smoked" and agree with the United States that there are more specific end-uses of cigarettes such as "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke". We consider, however, that, based on the Panel's findings referred to above, it can be concluded that both clove and menthol cigarettes share the end-uses of "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke". Accordingly, we consider that the more specific products' end-uses put forward by the United States also support the Panel's overall finding that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products.

3. <u>Consumer Tastes and Habits</u>

133. In addressing consumer tastes and habits in respect of clove and menthol cigarettes, the Panel stated that the legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, namely, reducing youth smoking, delimited the scope of the consumers whose tastes and habits should be examined under this criterion.³⁰⁹ Accordingly, the Panel considered it appropriate to examine the substitutability of clove and menthol cigarettes from the perspective of the relevant group of consumers, which included young smokers and those ready to become smokers (potential consumers).³¹⁰ The Panel found that the evidence submitted by the parties showed that both clove and menthol cigarettes, because of their characterizing flavours, which help to mask the harshness of tobacco, appeal to youth and are better vehicles for youth to start smoking than regular cigarettes.³¹¹ Therefore, the Panel concluded that, from the point of view of the consumers at issue in this case, menthol-flavoured and clove-flavoured cigarettes are "similar for the purpose of starting to smoke".³¹²

134. The United States claims that the Panel erred in considering the tastes and habits of only young smokers and potential young smokers, and not of current adult smokers. The United States notes that Section 907(a)(1)(A) makes regulatory distinctions among cigarettes based not only on their appeal to young and potential smokers, but also on their use by current adult smokers.³¹³ The United States argues that nothing in the text of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* provides a basis for the Panel to have limited its consideration of the public health distinctions drawn under the measure according to what the Panel construed to be the immediate objective of the measure.³¹⁴

³⁰⁹Panel Report, para. 7.206.

³¹⁰Panel Report, para. 7.214.

³¹¹Panel Report, para. 7.217.

³¹²Panel Report, para. 7.232.

³¹³United States' appellant's submission, para. 54.

³¹⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 60.

135. The United States contends that a like product analysis under Article 2.1 must take account of the regulatory distinctions drawn under the measure at issue, which are not limited to the immediate or primary objective of a measure, but that often reflect a balancing of other considerations relevant to the public welfare. In particular, the United States argues that, even though the primary or immediate purpose of Section 907(a)(1)(A) is to reduce youth smoking, the measure was developed based on a consideration of the health benefits, risks, and consequences to the population as a whole, including the possible negative consequences of banning a type of cigarette, such as menthol cigarettes, to which millions of adults are chemically and psychologically addicted.³¹⁵

We have disagreed with the Panel's approach to interpreting the concept of "likeness" in 136. Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* in the light of the regulatory objectives of the measure, rather than based on the competitive relationship between and among the products.³¹⁶ In particular, we have observed that the context of the TBT Agreement and its object and purpose do not suggest that the regulatory objectives of a technical regulation should play a role that is separate from the determination of a competitive relationship between and among products. We have also noted that determining likeness primarily in the light of the regulatory objectives of the measure is further complicated by the fact that measures, including technical regulations, often have multiple objectives. In contrast, we have considered that the determination of likeness under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement is a determination about the nature and the extent of a competitive relationship between and among products, and that the regulatory concerns that underlie a measure may be considered to the extent that they have an impact on the competitive relationship.³¹⁷

137. In the light of the above, we also consider that the Panel was wrong in confining its analysis of consumer tastes and habits to those consumers (young and potential young smokers) that are the concern of the objective of the regulation (to reduce youth smoking). In an analysis of likeness based on products' competitive relationship, it is the market that defines the scope of consumers whose preferences are relevant. The proportion of youth and adults smoking different types of cigarettes may vary, but clove, menthol, and regular cigarettes are smoked by both young and adult smokers. To evaluate the degree of substitutability among these products, the Panel should have assessed the tastes and habits of all relevant consumers of the products at issue, not only of the main consumers of clove and menthol cigarettes, particularly where it is clear that an important proportion of menthol cigarette smokers are adult consumers.

³¹⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 62. The United States cites in particular to "possible increases in unregulated black market cigarettes or strain to the healthcare system". (United States' appellant's submission, para. 61) ³¹⁶Section V.B.1 of this Report.

³¹⁷See *supra*, para. 119.

138. Moreover, without at this stage entering into the merits of the other objectives of the regulation advocated by the United States, the Panel's approach discounts the fact that the technical regulation at issue may also have other objectives that concern other actual and potential consumers of the products at issue. Therefore, we disagree with the Panel that the legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A), that is, reducing youth smoking, delimits the scope of the consumers whose tastes and habits should be examined to young smokers and potential young smokers.³¹⁸

139. Having determined that the Panel was wrong in confining its analysis of consumer tastes and habits to young and potential young smokers, we now consider whether the Panel's failure to evaluate the tastes and habits of current adult consumers of menthol cigarettes undermines the proposition that there is a sufficient degree of substitutability between clove and menthol cigarettes to support an overall finding of likeness under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

140. The United States claims that "[e]vidence comparing the tastes and habits of younger, potential smokers and the tastes and habits of older, established smokers is directly relevant to the issue of consumer tastes and habits", because clove cigarettes are smoked disproportionately by youth, while menthol cigarettes are smoked more evenly among young and adult smokers. Accordingly, the United States argues, clove cigarettes present a unique risk to young, uninitiated smokers and have little to no impact on adults, while menthol cigarettes are a risk to young, uninitiated smokers, but also have a significant impact on adults.³¹⁹

141. Indonesia submits that the United States failed to present evidence showing that consumers, whether adult or youth, would be unwilling to substitute clove and menthol cigarettes for the end-use of smoking. Indonesia argues that the United States is wrong in presuming that consumer tastes and habits must be identical to be like, considering that the Appellate Body found that products that are close to being perfectly substitutable can be like products. Indonesia contends that there is sufficient evidence on record supporting the fact that young smokers and pre-smoking youth view clove and menthol cigarettes "as at least close to substitutable".³²⁰

142. We consider that, in order to determine whether products are like under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, it is not necessary to demonstrate that the products are substitutable for all consumers or that they actually compete in the entire market. Rather, if the products are highly substitutable for some consumers but not for others, this may also support a finding that the products are like. In *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, the Appellate Body considered that the standard of "directly

³¹⁸Panel Report, paras. 7.206.

³¹⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 55.

³²⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 82 (referring to Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 149).

competitive or substitutable" relating to Article III:2, second sentence, of the GATT 1994 is satisfied even if competition does not take place in the whole market but is limited to a segment of the market. The Appellate Body found that "it was reasonable for the [p]anel to draw, from the Philippines' argument that imported distilled spirits are only available to a 'narrow segment' of its population, the inference that there is actual competition between imported and domestic distilled spirits at least in the segment of the market that the Philippines admitted has access to both imported and domestic distilled spirits".³²¹ In that same dispute, the Appellate Body found that Article III:2, second sentence, does not require that competition be assessed in relation to the market segment that is most representative of the "market as a whole", and that Article III of the GATT 1994 "does not protect just *some* instances or *most* instances, but rather, it protects *all* instances of direct competition".³²²

143. Although the Appellate Body's finding in *Philippines – Distilled Spirits* concerned the second sentence of Article III:2 of the GATT 1994, we consider this interpretation of "directly competitive or substitutable products" to be relevant to the concept of "likeness" in Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 and 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, since likeness under these provisions is determined on the basis of the competitive relationship between and among the products.³²³ In our view, the notion that actual competition does not need to take place in the whole market, but may be limited to a segment of the market, is separate from the question of the degree of competition that is required to satisfy the standards of "directly competitive or substitutable products" and "like products".

144. The Panel's consideration of consumer tastes and habits was too limited. At the same time, the mere fact that clove cigarettes are smoked disproportionately by youth, while menthol cigarettes are smoked more evenly by young and adult smokers does not necessarily affect the degree of substitutability between clove and menthol cigarettes. The Panel found that, from the perspective of young and potential young smokers, clove-flavoured cigarettes and menthol-flavoured cigarettes are similar for purposes of starting to smoke.³²⁴ We understand this as a finding that young and potential young smokers perceive clove and menthol cigarettes as sufficiently substitutable. This, in turn, is sufficient to support the Panel's finding that those products are like within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, even if the degree of substitutability is not the same for all adult smokers.

³²¹Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 220.

³²²Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 221 (referring to Panel Report, *Chile – Alcoholic Beverages*, para. 7.43). (original emphasis)

 $^{^{323}}$ In *EC* – *Asbestos*, the Appellate Body, while not defining the precise scope of the concept of "like products" in Article III:4, found that Article III:4 applies to products that are in a competitive relationship and that "the scope of 'like' in Article III:4 is broader than the scope of 'like' in Article III:2, first sentence". (Appellate Body Report, *EC* – *Asbestos*, para. 99)

³²⁴Panel Report, para. 7.232.

145. In the light of the above, we are of the view that, while the Panel should not have limited its analysis of consumer tastes and habits to young and potential young smokers to the exclusion of current adult smokers, this does not undermine the Panel's finding regarding consumer tastes and habits and its ultimate finding of likeness. This is so because the degree of competition and substitutability that the Panel found for young and potential young smokers is sufficiently high to support a finding of likeness under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

146. Finally, we turn to the claim by the United States that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU when it reached the conclusion that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are perceived similarly by the consumers at issue in this case, and that it disregarded critical evidence on how consumers actually use and perceive the products at issue in the relevant market.³²⁵

147. The United States emphasizes that clove cigarettes are smoked disproportionately by young, novice smokers while menthol cigarettes are smoked more evenly by young people and adults. It recalls that both parties presented evidence—in particular a set of surveys—aimed at shedding light on the tastes and habits of consumers in the United States in respect of clove and menthol cigarettes. However, the United States argues, the Panel disregarded this evidence after having erroneously concluded that it could not "rely on the information provide[d]" in the surveys on the basis that this information was "not directly comparable".³²⁶ The United States submits that the survey data before the Panel were "directly relevant to the question" before it because the data provided evidence on how consumers and potential consumers "used and perceived different cigarettes *in the United States*"³²⁷, that is, the relevant market. The United States further argues that, after disregarding this evidence, the Panel proceeded to base its conclusions "entirely on speculation and conjecture", without any evidentiary support as to how consumers in the relevant market actually use the cigarettes at issue.³²⁸

148. Indonesia responds that, given that the research parameters varied from survey to survey, the Panel properly concluded that the survey data did not provide clear guidance on "consumer tastes and habits". In its view, the Panel's approach to that evidence "hardly amounts to excluding it *a priori*".³²⁹ Instead, the Panel "clearly articulated the difficulties it encountered in comparing the survey data"³³⁰ and simply did not place the same weight on the evidence as did the United States. Indonesia further argues that the Panel identified and relied on evidence showing that both clove and menthol cigarettes

³²⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 64.

³²⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 66 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.210).

³²⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 67. (original emphasis)

³²⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 68.

³²⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 106.

³³⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 115.

are "trainer" or "starter" cigarettes that appeal to youth.³³¹ Based on this evidence on record, the Panel properly found that "all these flavoured cigarettes are perceived as vehicles to start smoking".³³²

149. We observe that Article 11 of the DSU requires a panel to make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case. Thus, Article 11 requires a panel to "consider all the evidence presented to it, assess its credibility, determine its weight, and ensure that its factual findings have a proper basis in that evidence."³³³ In addition. panels "are not required to accord to factual evidence of the parties the same meaning and weight as do the parties."³³⁴ In this respect, the Appellate Body will not "interfere lightly" with a panel's fact-finding authority, and will not "base a finding of inconsistency under Article 11 simply on the conclusion that [it] might have reached a different factual finding".³³⁵ Instead, for a claim under Article 11 to succeed, the Appellate Body must be satisfied that the panel has exceeded its authority as the initial trier of facts. As the initial trier of facts, a panel must provide "reasoned and adequate explanations and coherent reasoning"³³⁶, must base its finding on a sufficient evidentiary basis³³⁷, and must treat evidence with "even-handedness".³³⁸ Moreover, a participant claiming that a panel disregarded certain evidence must explain why the evidence is so material to its case that the panel's failure to address such evidence has a bearing on the objectivity of the panel's factual assessment.³³⁹

150. Both the United States and Indonesia relied on a series of surveys addressing smoking patterns in the United States in order to support their respective arguments.³⁴⁰ The Panel observed,

³³¹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 111.

³³²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 113 (quoting Panel Report, para. 7.231).

³³³Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 135 (quoting Appellate Body Report, Brazil – Retreaded Tyres, para. 185, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, EC – Hormones, paras. 132 and 133). ³³⁴Appellate Body Report, *Australia – Salmon*, para. 267. *Beilinnines – Distilled Spirit*.

³³⁵Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 136 (quoting Appellate Body Report, US – Wheat Gluten, para. 151).

³⁶Appellate Body Report, US – Upland Cotton (Article 21.5 – Brazil), footnote 618 to para. 293.

³³⁷See Appellate Body Report, *US – Carbon Steel*, para. 148.

³³⁸Appellate Body Report, US – Upland Cotton (Article 21.5 – Brazil), para. 292.

³³⁹See Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 442.

³⁴⁰Indonesia relied on the following four surveys: (i) the 2006-2008 National Survey on Drug Use and Health; (ii) the 2009 Western Watts Survey; (iii) the 2009 Monitoring the Future Survey; and (iv) a 2010 telephone survey conducted by Opinion Research Corporation. (Panel Report, footnote 426 to para. 7.210 (referring to National Survey on Drug Use and Health 2006-2008, "Essential Facts About Clove Cigarettes" (Panel Exhibit IND-3); Western Watts Data Collection, "Clove Cigarettes Attitude, Awareness and Usage Survey", 16-19 February 2009 (Panel Exhibit IND-26); L.D. Johnston et al., "Smoking continues gradual decline among U.S. teens, smokeless tobacco threatens a comeback," University of Michigan News Service, 14 December 2009 (Panel Exhibit IND-33); and Opinion Research Corporation, Teen CARAVAN Study No. 719381, 23-26 September 2010 (Panel Exhibit IND-34))) The United States based its arguments on two surveys: (i) the 2002-2003 National Survey on Drug Use and Health; and (ii) the National Youth Tobacco Survey. (Panel Report, footnote 426 to para. 7.210 (referring to FDA Survey Assessment, "Patterns of Use Among Menthol, Clove, and Other Flavored Cigarettes (Panel Exhibit US-53)))

however, that these surveys "do not share the same research parameters"³⁴¹; instead, they "examine[d] different age groups", "pose[d] different questions", and were "based on different methodological approaches".³⁴² Consequently, in the Panel's view, the information contained in the different surveys was "not directly comparable". On this basis, the Panel reached the conclusion that it could not "rely on the information [that the surveys] provide on market shares for the purposes of analyzing the consumers' tastes and habits criterion"³⁴³, and that "the evidence on consumer preferences submitted by the parties may not provide clear guidance" as to whether clove and menthol cigarettes are substitutable from the perspective of young smokers and potential young smokers.³⁴⁴

151. We acknowledge that extracting meaningful information from surveys that differ considerably in terms of research parameters might not be an easy task. Likewise, we do not suggest that panels must always be capable of engaging in sophisticated statistical exercises to solve data discrepancies that ultimately cannot be resolved. However, the fact that evidence relied on by the parties may be difficult to compare cannot excuse the panel from examining it. A panel has the obligation to "consider *all* the evidence presented to it"³⁴⁵, and it should at least attempt to extract potentially relevant information contained therein. It is only after such an examination that a panel might be able to provide "reasoned and adequate explanations"³⁴⁶ as to why it cannot or chooses not to rely on specific evidence submitted by the parties. In our view, a panel cannot determine a priori that some pieces of evidence are not reliable for the purposes of its analysis solely on the basis of a difference in the parameters and methodology used.

152. We recall, however, that not every error allegedly committed by a panel amounts to a violation of Article 11 of the DSU. A participant claiming that a panel ignored certain evidence must explain why that evidence is so material to its case that the panel's failure to address such evidence has a bearing on the objectivity of the panel's factual assessment.³⁴⁷ In that respect, the United States submits that, because the Panel did not examine the evidence related to consumers' tastes and habits, the Panel's finding with respect to this criterion "was fatally flawed".³⁴⁸ In the United States' view, the survey data presented by the parties "show that consumers and potential consumers use and perceive

³⁴¹Panel Report, para. 7.210.

³⁴²Panel Report, para. 7.210.

³⁴³Panel Report, para. 7.210.

³⁴⁴Panel Report, para. 7.209.

³⁴⁵Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 135 (quoting Appellate Body Report, Brazil – Retreaded Tyres, para. 185, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, EC – Hormones, paras. 132 and 133). ³⁴⁶Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton (Article 21.5 – Brazil)*, footnote 618 to para. 293.

³⁴⁷Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 442.

³⁴⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 68.

clove and menthol cigarettes differently—even though they are both cigarettes with characterizing flavors that appeal to youth".³⁴⁹

153. We have considered above, in respect of the claim by the United States that the Panel erred in the application of the consumer tastes and habits criterion, that, although the Panel should not have limited its analysis to young and potential young consumers, to the exclusion of current adult consumers, this did not affect its finding that there is sufficient substitutability between clove and menthol cigarettes to support its overall finding that the products are like. The Panel's findings show that, while clove and menthol cigarettes do not compete in the whole market, these products are substitutable for young and potential young consumers.

154. Therefore, in our view, the fact that the Panel did not rely on evidence demonstrating that clove cigarettes are disproportionally smoked by youth while menthol cigarettes are smoked by both youth and adults, does not have material consequences for the Panel's finding on consumer tastes and habits. This is so because the Panel found that there is a sufficient degree of substitutability, at least in some segments of the market, between clove and menthol cigarettes, to support a finding of likeness under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

155. In sum, we are not persuaded that the reasons advanced by the Panel for not relying on the surveys submitted by the parties justify the cursory treatment given by the Panel to these surveys. Even if this evidence was not directly comparable or based on different methodological approaches, the Panel was required to consider this evidence and extract relevant information that it contained. The Panel did not provide an adequate explanation as to why this was not possible. Nevertheless, in our view, the Panel's error does not amount to a violation of Article 11 of the DSU, considering that the evidence that the Panel did not engage with does not have material consequences for the Panel's finding that consumer tastes and habits indicate that clove and menthol cigarettes are sufficiently substitutable in certain segments of the market, and does not, therefore, undermine the Panel's finding that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

4. <u>Conclusion on "Like Products"</u>

156. We have disagreed with the Panel's interpretation of the concept of "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, which focuses on the purposes of the technical regulation at issue, as separate from the competitive relationship between and among the products. In contrast, we have concluded that the context provided by Article 2.1 itself, by other provisions of the *TBT Agreement*, by the *TBT Agreement* as a whole, and by Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, as well as the object and

³⁴⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 69.

purpose of the *TBT Agreement*, support an interpretation of the concept of "likeness" in Article 2.1 that is based on the competitive relationship between and among the products and that takes into account the regulatory concerns underlying a technical regulation, to the extent that they are relevant to the examination of certain likeness criteria and are reflected in the products' competitive relationship.

157. As a consequence of our interpretative approach to the concept of "like products" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, we have also disagreed with the Panel's decision to examine the extent of substitutability of clove and menthol cigarettes from the perspective of a limited group of consumers, that is, young smokers and potential young smokers. We have, nevertheless, considered that the Panel's error does not vitiate the conclusion that there is a sufficient degree of substitutability between clove and menthol cigarettes to support an overall finding of likeness under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. We have also determined that the Panel's decision that it could not rely on certain evidence submitted by the parties did not amount to an error under Article 11 of the DSU.

158. In respect of end-use, we have disagreed with the Panel's conclusion that the end-use of clove and menthol cigarettes is simply "to be smoked". Nevertheless, we have considered, based on the Panel's findings, that both clove and menthol cigarettes are *capable* of performing the more specific end-uses put forward by the United States, that is, "satisfying an addiction to nicotine" and "creating a pleasurable experience associated with the taste of the cigarette and the aroma of the smoke".³⁵⁰ We have thus concluded that the different end-uses of clove and menthol cigarettes support the Panel's overall finding of likeness.

159. Finally, we observe that the United States has not appealed the Panel's findings regarding the physical characteristics and the tariff classification of clove and menthol cigarettes. The Panel found that clove and menthol cigarettes are physically similar as "they share their main traits as cigarettes, that is, having tobacco as a main ingredient, and an additive which imparts a characterizing flavour, taste and aroma, and reduces the harshness of tobacco"³⁵¹; and that they are both classified under subheading 2402.20 of the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System.³⁵²

160. In the light of all of the above, while we disagree with certain aspects of the Panel's analysis, we agree with the Panel that the "likeness" criteria it examined support its overall conclusion that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. Therefore, we *uphold*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in

³⁵⁰Panel Report, para. 7.231; United States' response to Panel Question 37, para. 85.

³⁵¹Panel Report, para. 7.187.

³⁵²Panel Report, para. 7.239.

paragraph 7.248 of the Panel Report, that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement.

C. The Panel's Finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA Accords Imported Clove Cigarettes Less Favourable Treatment than That Accorded to Domestic Menthol Cigarettes, within the Meaning of Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement

1. Introduction

In this section, we address the United States' appeal of the Panel's finding that the 161. United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement by according to clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic like products.

162. Having concluded that clove and menthol cigarettes are like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, the Panel undertook a four-step analysis to determine whether Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA accords to clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia less favourable treatment than that accorded to like domestic products. First, the Panel sought to determine the products to be compared in its analysis.³⁵³ The Panel found that Article 2.1 called for a comparison between treatment accorded to, on the one hand, clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia, and, on the other hand, domestic menthol cigarettes.³⁵⁴ Second, the Panel determined that under Section 907(a)(1)(A) clove and menthol cigarettes are treated differently, in that clove cigarettes are banned while menthol cigarettes are excluded from the ban.³⁵⁵ Third, the Panel found that such difference in treatment modifies the conditions of competition to the detriment of the imported products, insofar as imported clove cigarettes are banned while domestic menthol cigarettes are allowed to remain in the market.³⁵⁶ Fourth and finally, the Panel rejected the United States' argument that such detrimental impact could be "explained by factors or circumstances unrelated to the foreign origin of the products"³⁵⁷, because Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposes costs on foreign producers, notably producers in Indonesia, while at the same time imposing no costs on any US entity.358

163. On appeal, the United States claims that the Panel improperly narrowed the *product scope* of its analysis by focusing exclusively on treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes and to

³⁵³Panel Report, para. 7.270.

³⁵⁴Panel Report, paras. 7.275-7.277.

³⁵⁵Panel Report, paras. 7.279 and 7.280.

³⁵⁶Panel Report, para. 7.281.

³⁵⁷Panel Report, para. 7.283 (referring to United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 127, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, Dominican Republic - Import and Sale of Cigarettes, para. 96). ³⁵⁸Panel Report, para. 7.289.

domestic menthol cigarettes. The United States posits that the Panel should have compared the treatment accorded to the group of imported and to the group of domestic like products. The United States also claims that the Panel improperly narrowed the *temporal scope* of its analysis by focusing exclusively on the effects of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on domestic like products at the time the ban on flavoured cigarettes came into effect. The United States claims further that the Panel erred in finding that the less favourable treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes was related to the origin of the products, because Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposes costs on foreign producers while at the same time imposing no costs on any US entity. Finally, the United States claims that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in reaching these findings.

164. Indonesia responds that the Panel properly identified the products to be compared in its less favourable treatment analysis, and did not err in establishing the appropriate timeframe for its comparison. Indonesia also asserts that the Panel correctly found that the less favourable treatment accorded to clove cigarettes could not be explained by factors unrelated to the foreign origin of the imported products. Finally, Indonesia claims that the Panel acted in accordance with Article 11 of the DSU in performing its analysis.

165. Before turning to the specific issues raised by the United States on appeal, we find it useful to interpret the "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* in the light of the conflicting interpretations of this phrase offered by the participants on appeal.

2. <u>"Treatment No Less Favourable" under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement</u>

166. Referring to the Appellate Body's interpretation of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994³⁵⁹, the United States and Indonesia agree that the "treatment no less favourable" standard of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* requires a panel to determine whether the technical regulation at issue modifies the conditions of competition in the relevant market to the detriment of the imported products. However, Indonesia considers that the existence of any detrimental effect on competitive opportunities for imported products is sufficient to establish less favourable treatment under Article 2.1.³⁶⁰ In contrast, the United States argues that the existence of a detrimental effect on competitive opportunities for imports is necessary, but not sufficient, to establish a violation of Article 2.1. Referring to the Appellate Body report in *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, the United States

³⁵⁹See Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 137.

³⁶⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 172.

argues that Article 2.1 requires further inquiry into whether "the detrimental effect is explained by factors or circumstances unrelated to the foreign origin of the product".³⁶¹

167. Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* provides that, with respect to their central government bodies:

Members shall ensure that in respect of technical regulations, products imported from the territory of any Member shall be accorded treatment no less favourable than that accorded to like products of national origin and to like products originating in any other country.

168. As already set out above, for a violation of the national treatment obligation in Article 2.1 to be established, three elements must be satisfied: (i) the measure at issue must be a "technical regulation"; (ii) the imported and domestic products at issue must be like products; and (iii) the treatment accorded to imported products must be less favourable than that accorded to like domestic products. In this part of its appeal, the United States challenges only the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA violates the national treatment obligation provided in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, insofar as it accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like domestic products.

169. The "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* applies "in respect of technical regulations". A technical regulation is defined in Annex 1.1 thereto as a "[d]ocument which lays down product characteristics or their related processes and production methods ... with which compliance is mandatory". As such, technical regulations are measures that, by their very nature, establish distinctions between products according to their characteristics or their related processes and production methods. This suggests, in our view, that Article 2.1 should not be read to mean that *any* distinction, in particular those that are based *exclusively* on particular product characteristics or their related processes and production methods, would *per se* accord less favourable treatment within the meaning of Article 2.1.

170. We next observe that Article 2.2 of the *TBT Agreement* provides, in relevant part, that:

Members shall ensure that technical regulations are not prepared, adopted or applied with a view to or with the effect of creating unnecessary obstacles to international trade. For this purpose, technical regulations shall not be more trade-restrictive than necessary to fulfil a legitimate objective, taking account of the risks non-fulfilment would create.

³⁶¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 101 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.269; and Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96).

171. The context provided by Article 2.2 suggests that "obstacles to international trade" may be permitted insofar as they are not found to be "unnecessary", that is, "more trade-restrictive than necessary to fulfil a legitimate objective". To us, this supports a reading that Article 2.1 does not operate to prohibit *a priori* any obstacle to international trade. Indeed, if *any* obstacle to international trade would be sufficient to establish a violation of Article 2.1, Article 2.2 would be deprived of its *effet utile*.

172. This interpretation of Article 2.1 is buttressed by the sixth recital of the preamble of the *TBT Agreement*, in which WTO Members recognize that:

... no country should be prevented from taking measures necessary to ensure the quality of its exports, or for the protection of human, animal, or plant life or health, of the environment, or for the prevention of deceptive practices, at the levels it considers appropriate, subject to the requirement that they are not applied in a manner that would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where the same conditions prevail or a disguised restriction on international trade, and are otherwise in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

173. The language of the sixth recital expressly acknowledges that Members may take measures necessary for, *inter alia*, the protection of human life or health, provided that such measures "are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination" or a "disguised restriction on international trade" and are "otherwise in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement". We consider that the sixth recital of the preamble of the *TBT Agreement* provides relevant context regarding the ambit of the "treatment no less favourable" requirement in Article 2.1, by making clear that technical regulations may pursue the objectives listed therein, provided that they are not applied in a manner that would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where the same conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on international trade, and are otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the *TBT Agreement*.

174. Finally, as noted earlier³⁶², the object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement* is to strike a balance between, on the one hand, the objective of trade liberalization and, on the other hand, Members' right to regulate. This object and purpose therefore suggests that Article 2.1 should not be interpreted as prohibiting any detrimental impact on competitive opportunities for imports in cases where such detrimental impact on imports stems exclusively from legitimate regulatory distinctions.

175. Accordingly, the context and object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement* weigh in favour of reading the "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 as prohibiting both *de jure* and

³⁶²*Supra*, paras. 94 and 95.

de facto discrimination against imported products, while at the same time permitting detrimental impact on competitive opportunities for imports that stems exclusively from legitimate regulatory distinctions.

176. Like the participants, we also find it useful to consider the context provided by the other covered agreements. In particular, we note that the non-discrimination obligation of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* is expressed in the same terms as that of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994.³⁶³ In the context of Article III:4, the "treatment no less favourable" requirement has been widely interpreted by previous GATT and WTO panels and by the Appellate Body. Beginning with the GATT panel in US – *Section 337 Tariff Act*, the term "treatment no less favourable" in Article III:4 was interpreted as requiring "effective equality of opportunities for imported products".³⁶⁴ Subsequent GATT and WTO panels followed a similar approach, and found violations of Article III:4 in cases where regulatory distinctions in enforcement procedures³⁶⁵, distribution channels³⁶⁶, statutory content requirements³⁶⁷, and allocation of import licenses³⁶⁸ resulted in alteration of the competitive opportunities in the market of the regulating Member to the detriment of imported products vis-à-vis domestic like products.

177. In *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, the Appellate Body agreed that the analysis of less favourable treatment under Article III:4 focuses on the "conditions of competition" between imported and domestic like products.³⁶⁹ The Appellate Body further clarified that a formal difference in treatment between imported and like domestic products is:

... neither necessary, nor sufficient, to show a violation of Article III:4. Whether or not imported products are treated "less favourably" than like domestic products should be assessed instead by examining whether a measure modifies the *conditions of competition* in the relevant market to the detriment of imported products.³⁷⁰ (original emphasis)

178. Subsequently, in EC – Asbestos, the Appellate Body explained that imports will be treated less favourably than domestic like products when regulatory distinctions disadvantage the group of

³⁶³Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 reads:

The products of the territory of any Member imported into the territory of any other Member shall be accorded treatment no less favourable than that accorded to like products of national origin in respect of all laws, regulations and requirements affecting their internal sale, offering for sale, purchase, transportation, distribution or use.

³⁶⁴GATT Panel Report, US – Section 337 Tariff Act, para. 5.10.

³⁶⁵GATT Panel Report, US – Section 337 Tariff Act, para. 5.20.

³⁶⁶GATT Panel Report, *Canada – Provincial Liquor Boards (US)*, paras. 5.12-5.16.

³⁶⁷Panel Report, US – *Gasoline*, para. 6.10.

³⁶⁸Panel Reports, *EC – Bananas III*, paras. 7.179-7.180.

³⁶⁹Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 136.

³⁷⁰Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 137.

imported products vis-à-vis the group of domestic like products. The Appellate Body reasoned that the "treatment no less favourable" clause of Article III:4:

... expresses the general principle, in Article III:1, that internal regulations "should not be applied ... so as to afford protection to domestic production." If there is "less favourable treatment" of the group of "like" imported products, there is, conversely, "protection" of the group of "like" domestic products. However, a Member may draw distinctions between products which have been found to be "like", without, for this reason alone, according to the group of "like" *imported* products "less favourable treatment" than that accorded to the group of "like" *domestic* products.³⁷¹ (original emphasis)

179. Thus, the "treatment no less favourable" standard of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 prohibits WTO Members from modifying the conditions of competition in the marketplace to the detriment of the group of imported products vis-à-vis the group of domestic like products.³⁷²

180. Although we are mindful that the meaning of the term "treatment no less favourable" in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* is to be interpreted in the light of the specific context provided by the *TBT Agreement*, we nonetheless consider these previous findings by the Appellate Body in the context of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994 to be instructive in assessing the meaning of "treatment no less favourable", provided that the specific context in which the term appears in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* is taken into account. Similarly to Article III:4 of the GATT 1994, Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* requires WTO Members to accord to the group of imported products treatment no less favourable than that accorded to the group of like domestic products. Article 2.1 prescribes such

(Appellate Body Report, Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes, para. 96)

³⁷¹Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 100.

³⁷²We disagree with the United States to the extent that it suggests that *Dominican Republic – Import* and Sale of Cigarettes stands for the proposition that, under Article III:4, panels should inquire further whether "the detrimental effect is unrelated to the foreign origin of the product". (United States' appellant's submission, para. 101 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96)) Although the statement referred to by the United States, when read in isolation, could be viewed as suggesting that further inquiry into the rationale for the detrimental impact is necessary, in that dispute the Appellate Body rejected Honduras' claim under Article III:4 because:

^{...} the difference between the per-unit costs of the bond requirement alleged by Honduras is explained by the fact that the importer of Honduran cigarettes has a smaller market share than two domestic producers (the per-unit cost of the bond requirement being the result of dividing the cost of the bond by the number of cigarettes sold on the Dominican Republic market).

Thus, in that dispute, the Appellate Body merely held that the higher *per unit* costs of the bond requirement for imported cigarettes did not conclusively demonstrate less favourable treatment, because it was not attributable to the specific measure at issue but, rather, was a function of sales volumes. In *Thailand – Cigarettes (Philippines)*, the Appellate Body further clarified that for a finding of less favourable treatment under Article III:4 "there must be in every case a genuine relationship between the measure at issue and its adverse impact on competitive opportunities for imported versus like domestic products to support a finding that imported products are treated less favourably". (Appellate Body Report, *Thailand – Cigarettes (Philippines)*, para. 134) The Appellate Body eschewed an additional inquiry as to whether such detrimental impact was related to the foreign origin of the products or explained by other factors or circumstances.

treatment specifically in respect of technical regulations. For this reason, a panel examining a claim of violation under Article 2.1 should seek to ascertain whether the technical regulation at issue modifies the conditions of competition in the market of the regulating Member to the detriment of the group of imported products vis-à-vis the group of like domestic products.

181. However, as noted earlier, the context and object and purpose of the *TBT Agreement* weigh in favour of interpreting the "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 as not prohibiting detrimental impact on imports that stems exclusively from a legitimate regulatory distinction. Rather, for the aforementioned reasons³⁷³, the "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 only prohibits *de jure* and *de facto* discrimination against the group of imported products.

182. Accordingly, where the technical regulation at issue does not *de jure* discriminate against imports, the existence of a detrimental impact on competitive opportunities for the group of imported vis-à-vis the group of domestic like products is not dispositive of less favourable treatment under Article 2.1. Instead, a panel must further analyze whether the detrimental impact on imports stems exclusively from a legitimate regulatory distinction rather than reflecting discrimination against the group of imported products. In making this determination, a panel must carefully scrutinize the particular circumstances of the case, that is, the design, architecture, revealing structure, operation, and application of the technical regulation at issue, and, in particular, whether that technical regulation is even-handed, in order to determine whether it discriminates against the group of imported products.

3. <u>Product Scope of the "Treatment No Less Favourable" Comparison</u>

183. We now turn to the specific issues raised by the United States on appeal. We begin with the United States' appeal of the scope of products considered by the Panel to determine whether imported clove cigarettes are treated less favourably than US domestic like products within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

184. Before the Panel, Indonesia argued that the "treatment no less favourable" requirement of Article 2.1 calls for a comparison between, on the one hand, treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes and, on the other hand, treatment accorded to any like domestic cigarettes that are not banned by Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA (that is, menthol or regular cigarettes, but not other flavoured cigarettes, which are prohibited under Section 907(a)(1)(A)).³⁷⁴ The United States responded that the Panel should compare treatment accorded under Section 907(a)(1)(A) to all

³⁷³See *supra*, paras. 97-101.

³⁷⁴Panel Report, para. 7.271.

imported cigarettes (to the extent they are like) and not just clove cigarettes, with the treatment accorded to all domestically produced like cigarettes.³⁷⁵

185. The Panel determined that the comparison should be between the treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes and that accorded to the domestically produced cigarettes that it had earlier found to be like products, that is, menthol cigarettes. It reasoned that:

Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* calls for a comparison of "products imported from the territory of any Member" with "like products of national origin". These provisions refer to the products imported from the territory of "*any other* Member", and not "Members" or "other Members" more generally. The imported products in this case are the products imported from the territory of *Indonesia*. And it appears to be common ground between the parties that the vast majority of cigarettes that were imported from Indonesia into the United States were *clove* cigarettes.³⁷⁶ (original emphasis; footnote omitted)

On the domestic side, we recall that we have found that menthol cigarettes are "like" clove cigarettes for the purpose of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* because, *inter alia*, they both contain an additive that provides them with a characterizing flavour which makes them appealing to youth. We have not entered into an analysis of whether domestic regular cigarettes are "like" imported clove cigarettes as we consider that we would be exceeding our terms of reference.³⁷⁷

186. On appeal, the United States claims that the Panel erred in *a priori* limiting its less favourable treatment comparison to one imported product (Indonesian clove cigarettes) and one domestic like product (menthol cigarettes). Referring to the Appellate Body report in EC – *Asbestos* and the panel report in US – *Tuna II (Mexico)*, the United States argues that Article 2.1 required the Panel to compare the treatment accorded to all imported and domestic like products as a group.³⁷⁸ For the United States, a proper comparison would have demonstrated that Section 907(a)(1)(A) does not alter the conditions of competition between imported and domestic like products as a group.³⁷⁹

187. With respect to the imported products, the United States argues that the Panel erred in failing to consider the treatment accorded to menthol cigarettes imported from other countries.³⁸⁰ According to the United States, the reference to imported products of "*any other* Member" in Article 2.1 does not justify the Panel's focus on Indonesian clove cigarettes, because Article 2.1 aims at discerning

³⁷⁵Panel Report, para. 7.272.

³⁷⁶Panel Report, para. 7.275.

³⁷⁷Panel Report, para. 7.277.

³⁷⁸United States' appellant's submission, paras. 75-77 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 100; and quoting Panel Report, *US – Tuna II (Mexico)*, para. 7.295).

³⁷⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 81.

³⁸⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 79.

legitimate regulatory distinctions from those that serve as a proxy for singling out the like products of the complaining Member³⁸¹ for less favourable treatment.

188. With respect to like domestic products, the United States argues that the Panel erred in failing to consider the treatment accorded to domestic flavoured cigarettes.³⁸² To the extent that the Panel limited its analysis to domestic menthol cigarettes by virtue of the product scope of Indonesia's panel request, the United States maintains that a panel's terms of reference do not limit the scope of the products to be considered in a discrimination claim.³⁸³

189. For its part, Indonesia responds that the Panel did not err in comparing the treatment accorded to imported clove cigarettes with the treatment accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes. Indonesia argues that the Panel correctly limited its less favourable treatment comparison to those imported and domestic products that it reviewed in its likeness analysis.³⁸⁴ Whereas the Appellate Body in *EC* – *Asbestos* and the panel in *US* – *Tuna II (Mexico)* engaged in a likeness analysis on the basis of groups of products, the Panel in this case correctly limited its analysis to the specific products at issue, namely, imported clove cigarettes and domestic menthol cigarettes.³⁸⁵ Indonesia further maintains that the Panel did not rely on its terms of reference to limit the product scope of its less favourable treatment comparison, but rather on its determination of the scope of its likeness analysis.³⁸⁶

190. Article 2.1 provides that "products imported from the territory of *any* Member"³⁸⁷ shall be accorded treatment no less favourable than that accorded to "like products of national origin and like products originating in any other country". The text of Article 2.1 thus calls for a comparison of treatment accorded to, on the one hand, products imported from any Member alleging a violation of Article 2.1, and treatment accorded to, on the other hand, like products of domestic and any other origin. Therefore, for the purposes of the less favourable treatment analysis, treatment accorded to products imported from the complaining Member is to be compared with that accorded to like domestic products and like products of any other origin.

191. In determining what are the "like products of national origin and like products originating in any other country", a panel must seek to establish, based on the nature and extent of the competitive relationship between the products in the market of the regulating Member, the products of domestic (and other) origin(s) that are like the products imported from the complaining Member. In

³⁸¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 84.

³⁸²United States' appellant's submission, para. 79.

³⁸³United States' appellant's submission, para. 87.

³⁸⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 138 and 139.

³⁸⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 123-130.

³⁸⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 147 and 148.

³⁸⁷Emphasis added.

determining what the like products at issue are, a panel is not bound by its terms of reference to limit its analysis to those products identified by the complaining Member in its panel request. Rather, Article 2.1 requires the panel to identify the domestic products that stand in a sufficiently close competitive relationship with the products imported from the complaining Member to be considered like products within the meaning of that provision.

192. To be clear, a panel's duty under Article 2.1 to identify the products of domestic and other origins that are like the products imported from the complaining Member does not absolve the complainant from making a *prima facie* case of violation of Article 2.1. Ordinarily, in discharging that burden, the complaining Member will identify the imported and domestic products that are allegedly like and whose treatment needs to be compared for purposes of establishing a violation of Article 2.1. The products identified by the complaining Member are the starting point in a panel's likeness analysis. However, Article 2.1 requires panels to assess objectively, on the basis of the nature and extent of the competitive relationship between the products in the market of the regulating Member, the universe of domestic products that are like the products imported from the complaining Member.³⁸⁸

193. Once the imported and domestic like products have been properly identified, Article 2.1 requires a panel dealing with a national treatment claim to compare, on the one hand, the treatment accorded under the technical regulation at issue to all like products imported from the complaining Member with, on the other hand, that accorded to all like domestic products. However, the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1 does not require Members to accord no less favourable treatment to each and every imported product as compared to each and every domestic like product. Article 2.1 does not preclude any regulatory distinctions between products that are found to be like, as long as treatment accorded to the *group* of imported products is no less favourable than that accorded to the *group* of like domestic products. As noted by the Appellate Body in the context of Article III:4 of the GATT 1994:

[A] Member may draw distinctions between products which have been found to be "like", without, for this reason alone, according to the group of "like" *imported* products "less favourable treatment" than that accorded to the group of "like" *domestic* products.³⁸⁹ (original emphasis)

194. In sum, the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1 calls for a comparison of treatment accorded to, on the one hand, the group of products imported from the complaining Member and, on the other hand, the treatment accorded to the group of like domestic products. In determining what

³⁸⁸See Appellate Body Report, *EC and certain member States – Large Civil Aircraft*, para. 1131.

³⁸⁹Appellate Body Report, EC – Asbestos, para. 100.

the scope of like imported and domestic products is, a panel is not limited to those products specifically identified by the complaining Member. Rather, a panel must objectively assess, based on the nature and extent of their competitive relationship, what are the domestic products that are like the products imported from the complaining Member. Once the universe of imported and domestic like products has been identified, the treatment accorded to all like products imported from the complaining Member does not prohibit regulatory distinctions between products found to be like, provided that the group of like products imported from the complaining Member is treated no less favourably than the group of domestic like products.

195. Against this analytical framework, we turn to the United States' specific allegations of error. The United States essentially claims that the Panel impermissibly narrowed the scope of products to be compared for the purpose of assessing Indonesia's claim that Section 907(a)(1)(A) violates the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1.

196. With respect to the group of imported products, the United States claims that the Panel erred in failing to include in its analysis treatment accorded to menthol cigarettes imported into the United States from all Members. We cannot agree. As noted earlier, the national treatment obligation of Article 2.1 calls for a comparison of treatment accorded to the group of like products imported from the Member alleging a violation of Article 2.1, and treatment accorded to the group of like domestic products. It follows that the Panel did not err in finding that a determination of Indonesia's claims under Article 2.1 required an examination of whether Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to the group of like products imported *from Indonesia* less favourable treatment than that accorded to the group of like products of US origin.³⁹⁰

197. In determining the group of products imported from Indonesia whose treatment needed to be compared with the treatment accorded to like domestic products, the Panel found that it was uncontested that the "vast majority" of cigarettes that were imported from Indonesia into the United States were clove cigarettes.³⁹¹ The Panel also observed that only "a small percentage of non-clove cigarettes" was imported from Indonesia into the United States.³⁹² Accordingly, the Panel did not err in finding that the group of products imported from Indonesia essentially consisted of clove cigarettes.

198. With respect to the group of like domestic products, the United States' challenge focuses on the Panel's exclusion of domestically produced flavoured cigarettes from its less favourable treatment

³⁹⁰Panel Report, paras. 7.275-7.276.

³⁹¹Panel Report, para. 7.275.

³⁹²Panel Report, footnote 503 to para. 7.275 (referring to United States' response to Panel Question 81, in turn referring to World Trade Atlas, Indonesia Cigarette Exports to the United States, 1998-2009 (Panel Exhibit US-134)).

analysis. The Panel felt bound by its terms of reference to limit its likeness analysis to two categories of products regulated under Section 907(a)(1)(A)—imported clove cigarettes and domestic menthol cigarettes³⁹³—and accordingly limited its less favourable treatment analysis to a comparison of the treatment accorded to those two product groups.³⁹⁴ The Panel did not address domestic flavoured cigarettes at either the likeness or the less favourable treatment stage of its analysis.

199. We note, however, that the United States does not challenge on appeal the Panel's exclusion of domestically produced flavoured cigarettes from the likeness stage of its analysis. Rather, the United States' challenge focuses exclusively on the Panel's exclusion of domestically produced flavoured cigarettes from the less favourable treatment stage of the Panel's analysis. Because Article 2.1 expressly limits the scope of the less favourable treatment comparison to imported and domestic like products, in the absence of specific findings by the Panel that domestically produced flavoured cigarettes other than menthol are like clove cigarettes, we cannot determine whether the Panel erred in failing to include domestically produced flavoured cigarettes in its less favourable treatment comparison.

200. Even assuming, for the sake of argument, that the Panel had found that domestic flavoured cigarettes are like clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia, we are not persuaded that this would have changed the Panel's ultimate conclusion that Section 907(a)(1)(A) modifies the conditions of competition to the detriment of the group of imported products vis-à-vis like domestic products. Aside from the Panel's finding that, "at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol cigarettes"³⁹⁵ in the US market—which is challenged by the United States and addressed below-the Panel did not have evidence on the record that flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes had "any sizeable market share in the United States prior to the implementation of the ban in 2009".³⁹⁶ To the contrary, in response to a Panel question, the United States confirmed that the non-clove-flavoured cigarettes banned under Section 907(a)(1)(A) "were on the market for a relatively short period of time and represented a relatively small market share".³⁹⁷ Therefore, we consider it safe to assume that, given their relatively low share in the US market, the inclusion of domestically produced flavoured cigarettes in the comparison would not have altered the Panel's ultimate conclusion that the group of like domestic products essentially consisted of domestic menthol cigarettes.

³⁹³Panel Report, para. 7.147.

³⁹⁴Panel Report, para. 7.277.

³⁹⁵Panel Report, para. 7.289.

³⁹⁶Panel Report, para. 2.28.

³⁹⁷United States' response to Panel Question 17, para. 43.

4. <u>Temporal Scope of the "Treatment No Less Favourable" Comparison</u>

201. To the extent that the Panel's exclusion of domestic flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes from its analysis stemmed from its finding that those products were not on the market at the time when the ban came into effect, the United States submits that this constitutes legal error. In particular, the United States claims that the Panel erred in *a priori* excluding from its analysis evidence concerning the effects of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA on domestic like products prior to the entry into force of the ban on flavoured cigarettes. Moreover, the United States claims that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in ignoring evidence demonstrating that there were domestic flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes on the US market at the time of the ban.³⁹⁸

(a) Application of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*

202. The United States argues that Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* does not establish a rigid temporal limitation in relation to the evidence that a panel may consider in performing a less favourable treatment analysis. For this reason, the United States argues that the Panel should have taken into account evidence demonstrating that there were domestically produced flavoured cigarettes on the market "in the years closely preceding the effective date of the ban".³⁹⁹ Section 907(a)(1)(A) was enacted specifically to respond to an "emerging trend of products", and closed off a "potential market" that US producers were actively exploring as recently as 2008.⁴⁰⁰ Therefore, the fact that the ban on flavoured cigarettes went into effect before US producers were able to "saturate" the market with those products should not be construed as evidence that US producers were not affected by the ban.⁴⁰¹

203. Indonesia responds that the United States' appeal of the relevant timeframe for the Panel's analysis is irrelevant, because the Panel properly compared only the treatment accorded to the products found to be like in this dispute—imported clove and domestic menthol cigarettes—both of which were on the market before the ban went into effect.⁴⁰² Indonesia agrees with the United States that Article 2.1 establishes "no rigid temporal limitation" on the timeframe of the analysis, and affords panels discretion in selecting the appropriate period.⁴⁰³

³⁹⁸United States' appellant's submission, paras. 97 and 98.

³⁹⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 92.

⁴⁰⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 93.

⁴⁰¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 94.

⁴⁰²Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 151.

⁴⁰³Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 152 (quoting United States's appellant's submission, para. 92).

204. The United States' challenge is directed at the Panel's statement that:

... at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol cigarettes which accounted for approximately 25 per cent of the market and for a very significant proportion of the cigarettes smoked by youth in the United States. (emphasis added; footnote omitted)

205. In the present dispute, the Panel's mandate was established by its terms of reference, as defined in Indonesia's panel request. These terms of reference required the Panel to determine whether Section 907(a)(1)(A) was consistent with various provisions of the *TBT Agreement* and of the GATT 1994 at the date of the Panel's establishment. Accordingly, the Panel was required to assess whether there existed a violation of those Agreements at that time and, if so, to make a recommendation that the United States bring its measure into compliance. It follows that, in relation to Indonesia's claim under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, the Panel was required to assess, as of the date of its establishment, whether Section 907(a)(1)(A) is a technical regulation that accords to products imported from Indonesia less favourable treatment than that accorded to like domestic products.

206. We agree with the participants that Article 2.1 does not establish a rigid temporal limitation on the evidence that the Panel could review in assessing Indonesia's claim under Article 2.1. Nothing in Article 2.1 enjoins panels from taking into account evidence pre-dating the establishment of a panel to the extent that such evidence informs the panel's assessment of the consistency of the measure at that point in time. This is particularly so in the case of a *de facto* discrimination claim, where a panel must base its determination on the totality of facts and circumstances before it, including the design, architecture, revealing structure, operation, and application of the technical regulation at issue. Therefore, evidence that Section 907(a)(1)(A) had "chilling" regulatory effects on domestic producers of flavoured cigarettes prior to the entry into force of the ban on those cigarettes could be relevant in the Panel's assessment of Indonesia's claim under Article 2.1.

207. In the present dispute, it is not clear that the Panel considered Article 2.1 to prohibit review of evidence pre-dating the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A). As noted earlier, the Panel did not explain why it did not include domestic flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes in the group of like domestic products. In any event, the Panel's statement that, "at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol" on the US market, was not the basis for the Panel's exclusion of domestic flavoured cigarettes from the less favourable treatment analysis. Rather, it was the basis for its finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposes "costs on producers in other Members, notably producers in Indonesia, while at the same time imposing no costs on any

US entity."⁴⁰⁴ This finding by the Panel is challenged by the United States on appeal, and addressed in subsection V.C.5 of this Report.

> Article 11 of the DSU (b)

208. The United States claims that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in disregarding evidence demonstrating that, at the time of the ban, domestic flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes were marketed in the United States.⁴⁰⁵

Indonesia responds that the Panel did consider the evidence submitted by the United States in 209. this regard but was ultimately not persuaded by it.⁴⁰⁶ According to Indonesia, in weighing the evidence before it, the Panel did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU.

210. We recall that Article 11 of the DSU requires a panel to "consider all the evidence presented to it, assess its credibility, determine its weight, and ensure that its factual findings have a proper basis in that evidence".⁴⁰⁷ Within these parameters, "it is generally within the discretion of the [p]anel to decide which evidence it chooses to utilize in making findings"⁴⁰⁸, and panels "are not required to accord to factual evidence of the parties the same meaning and weight as do the parties".⁴⁰⁹

211. We observe that, in finding that "at the time of the ban there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol cigarettes which accounted for 25 per cent of the market"⁴¹⁰, the Panel noted:

> The United States argues that there is evidence showing that U.S.-produced cigarettes with characterizing flavours were on the market in 2008 and 2009 (United States' second written submission, para. 132). In this regard, the United States points to exhibits US-52 and US-62. In our view, none of the exhibits submitted demonstrate that U.S.-produced flavour cigarettes were being sold on the market as of the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A). Exhibit US-52 only contains the "known and possible 'flavored' cigarette brands sold in the United States" as of 2008. Thus, it does not shed light upon the brands of cigarettes present in the U.S. market at the time Section 907(a)(1)(A) entered into force. Exhibit US-62 lists the flavoured cigarette brands that were certified as "fire-safe" brands in the States of New York and Maine as of 2009. Although this exhibit

⁴⁰⁴Panel Report, para. 7.289.

⁴⁰⁵United States' appellant's submission, paras. 97 and 98.

⁴⁰⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 158 and 162.

⁴⁰⁷Appellate Body Reports, *Philippines – Distilled Spirits*, para. 135 (quoting Appellate Body Report, Brazil – Retreaded Tyres, para. 185, in turn referring to Appellate Body Report, EC – Hormones, paras. 132 and 133). ⁴⁰⁸Appellate Body Report, *EC – Hormones*, para. 135.

⁴⁰⁹Appellate Body Report, Australia – Salmon, para. 267.

⁴¹⁰Panel Report, para. 7.289.

extends until the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A), it does not demonstrate which brands and types of cigarettes were actually being sold on the U.S. market on that date. Rather, it merely lists the brands cigarettes certified as "fire-safe". We therefore stand by our conclusion.⁴¹¹

212. Thus, it appears that the Panel did not disregard the evidence that, according to the United States, demonstrated the presence of domestically produced flavoured cigarettes other than menthol cigarettes on the US market at the time of the ban. Rather, the Panel reviewed that evidence but was ultimately not persuaded by it. In determining the weight to be attributed to the evidence before it, the Panel did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU. In particular, the Panel did not exceed its authority under Article 11 of DSU merely by attributing to the evidence a weight and significance different from that attributed to it by the United States.

5. Detrimental Impact on Imported Products

213. Finally, the United States claims that, even if the Appellate Body were to agree with the comparison undertaken by the Panel in its less favourable treatment analysis, the Panel nonetheless erred in finding that the detrimental effect on competitive opportunities for imported clove cigarettes was not "explained by factors unrelated to the foreign origin of those products".⁴¹²

214. The United States does not challenge on appeal the Panel's findings that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA accords different treatment to imported clove cigarettes and to domestic menthol cigarettes, and that such differential treatment is to the detriment of the imported product, insofar as clove cigarettes are banned while menthol cigarettes are permitted.⁴¹³ Accordingly, the Panel's conclusion that Section 907(a)(1)(A) modifies the conditions of competition in the US market to the detriment of imported clove cigarettes stands.

215. However, as noted earlier⁴¹⁴, the existence of a detrimental impact on competitive opportunities in the relevant market for the group of imported products vis-à-vis the group of domestic like products is not sufficient to establish a violation of the national treatment obligation contained in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*. Where the technical regulation at issue does not *de jure* discriminate against imports, a panel must carefully scrutinize the particular circumstances of the case, that is, the design, architecture, revealing structure, operation, and application of the technical regulation at issue, and, in particular, whether that technical regulation is even-handed, in

⁴¹¹Panel Report, footnote 524 to para. 7.289.

⁴¹²United States' appellant's submission, para. 99 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 96).

⁴¹³Panel Report, paras. 7.279-7.281.

⁴¹⁴See *supra*, paras. 174 and 175.

order to determine whether the detrimental impact on imports stems exclusively from a legitimate regulatory distinction rather than reflects discrimination against the group of imported products.

216. Before the Panel, the United States argued that the exemption of menthol cigarettes from the ban on flavoured cigarettes is unrelated to the origin of the products, because it addresses two distinct objectives: one relates to the potential impact on the US health care system associated with the need to treat "millions" of menthol cigarette addicts with withdrawal symptoms; and the other relates to the risk of development of a black market and smuggling to supply the needs of menthol cigarette smokers.⁴¹⁵

217. The Panel considered that "the potential impact on the health care system and the potential development of a black market and smuggling of menthol cigarettes"⁴¹⁶ did not constitute legitimate objectives, because:

These reasons which the United States has presented as constituting a legitimate objective by themselves, appear to us as relating in one way or another to the costs that might be incurred by the United States were it to ban menthol cigarettes. Indeed, the United States is not banning menthol cigarettes because it is not a type of cigarette with a characterizing flavour that appeals to youth. but rather because of the costs that might be incurred as a result of such a ban. We recall that at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol cigarettes which accounted for approximately 25 per cent of the market and for a very significant proportion of the cigarettes smoked by youth in the United States. It seems to us that the effect of banning cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol is to impose costs on producers in other Members, notably producers in Indonesia, while at the same time imposing no costs on any U.S. entity.⁴¹⁷ (footnotes omitted)

218. On appeal, the United States claims that the Panel erred in concluding that any detriment to the competitive opportunities for imported clove cigarettes could not be explained by factors unrelated to the foreign origin of the products.⁴¹⁸ In addition, the United States claims that the Panel failed to make an objective assessment of the matter under Article 11 of the DSU in finding that there were no costs imposed on any US entity.⁴¹⁹

⁴¹⁵Panel Report, para. 7.289 and footnote 522 thereto.

⁴¹⁶Panel Report, para. 7.289.

⁴¹⁷Panel Report, para. 7.289.

⁴¹⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 99.

⁴¹⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 109.

(a) Application of Article 2.1

219. We begin with the United States' claim that the Panel erred in concluding that any detriment to the competitive opportunities for imported clove cigarettes could not be explained by factors unrelated to the foreign origin of the products.⁴²⁰ The United States argues that, "even where a technical regulation adversely affects the competitive situation of imported products compared to like domestic products, this does not constitute less favourable treatment when the detrimental effect is unrelated to the foreign origin of the product."⁴²¹ According to the United States, many factors affect the costs associated with a technical regulation, such as transportation costs, production methods, the age of the producer's facility, size, efficiency, productivity, and marketing strategy. As a result, Article 2.1 does not prohibit the imposition of costs on imported products as compared to domestic products, where those costs are not related to the origin of the product.⁴²² The Panel did not examine the "architecture, structure and design" of Section 907(a)(1)(A), including the fact that it allows Indonesia to import and sell regular and menthol cigarettes in the United States.⁴²³ For the United States, reference to unspecified "costs" on foreign producers does not establish that the effects of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on competitive opportunities for imported products are related to their origin.⁴²⁴ The United States underscores that the costs that Section 907(a)(1)(A) allegedly avoids would be incurred by the US regulatory enforcement and health care systems (and not by domestic menthol cigarette producers), even if all menthol cigarettes were imported.⁴²⁵

220. For Indonesia, the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) modifies the conditions of competition in the United States to the detriment of imported clove cigarettes vis-à-vis domestic menthol cigarettes was sufficient to establish a violation of Article 2.1.⁴²⁶ Although Indonesia maintains that an additional "national origin" test was not required, Indonesia argues that, nevertheless, the Panel was correct in concluding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) had a "discriminatory intent", because menthol cigarettes accounted for 25 per cent of the market, and for a significant proportion of the cigarettes smoked by youth in the United States.⁴²⁷ The Panel correctly rejected the potential costs on the US health care and enforcement systems as "legitimate reasons" for exempting menthol cigarettes from the ban on flavoured cigarettes. The Panel also appropriately found that the

⁴²⁰United States' appellant's submission, para. 99.

⁴²¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 101.

⁴²²United States' appellant's submission, para. 101.

⁴²³United States' appellant's submission, para. 103.

⁴²⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 106.

⁴²⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 107.

⁴²⁶Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 172.

⁴²⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 183.

disproportionate allocation of costs between Indonesian and US entities evidenced *de facto* discrimination against imports.⁴²⁸

221. At the outset, we agree with the United States that the Panel did not clearly articulate its reasons for concluding that "the effect of banning cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol is to impose costs on producers in other Members, notably producers in Indonesia, while at the same time imposing no costs on any US entity."⁴²⁹ To the extent that actual or potential costs are relevant to the analysis of less favourable treatment under Article 2.1, the Panel did not elaborate on why, in its view, Section 907(a)(1)(A) does not impose costs "on any US entity" beyond observing that, "at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than menthol cigarettes"⁴³⁰ on the US market.⁴³¹

222. Nonetheless, we are not persuaded that the Panel erred in ultimately finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) is inconsistent with Article 2.1. By design, Section 907(a)(1)(A) prohibits all cigarettes with characterizing flavours other than tobacco or menthol. In relation to the cigarettes that are banned under Section 907(a)(1)(A), the Panel made a factual finding that "virtually all clove cigarettes" that were imported into the United States in the three years prior to the ban came from Indonesia.⁴³² The Panel also noted that the "vast majority" of clove cigarettes consumed in the United States came from Indonesia.⁴³³ Although the United States stated that it was "unable to attain market share data for all non-clove products banned under Section 907(a)(1)(A)"⁴³⁴, the Panel did not find evidence that these products had "any sizeable market share in the United States confirmed that non-clove-flavoured cigarettes banned under Section 907(a)(1)(A) "were on the market for a relatively short period of time and represented a relatively small market share".⁴³⁶

⁴²⁸Indonesia's appellee's submission, paras. 184-185.

⁴²⁹Panel Report, para. 7.289.

⁴³⁰Panel Report, para. 7.289.

⁴³¹Moreover, to the extent that the Panel's finding could be read as suggesting that reducing potential costs of regulation *per se* constitutes an illegitimate regulatory objective, we disagree. Nothing in Article 2.1 prevents a Member from seeking to minimize the potential costs arising from technical regulations, provided that the technical regulation at issue does not overtly or covertly discriminate against imports.

⁴³²Panel Report, para. 2.26 (referring to Indonesia's first written submission to the Panel, para. 18; United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 35; World Trade Atlas, United States – Imports, Clove Cigarette Market Share Data (Panel Exhibit US-100); and World Trade Atlas, Indonesia Cigarette Exports to the United States, 1998-2009 (Panel Exhibit US-134)).

⁴³³Panel Report, para. 2.27. The Panel nonetheless was able to identify at least one US company that manufactured clove cigarettes prior to the entry into force of the FSPTCA. (*Ibid.* (referring to United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 35))

⁴³⁴Panel Report, footnote 58 to para. 2.28.

⁴³⁵Panel Report, para. 2.28.

⁴³⁶United States' response to Panel Question 17, para. 43.

223. With respect to the cigarettes that are *not* banned under Section 907(a)(1)(A), the record demonstrates that, in the years 2000 to 2009, between 94.3 and 97.4 per cent of all cigarettes sold in the United States were domestically produced⁴³⁷, and that menthol cigarettes accounted for about 26 per cent of the total US cigarette market.⁴³⁸ Information on the record also shows that three domestic brands dominate the US market for menthol cigarettes: Kool, Salem (Reynolds American), and Newport (Lorillard), with Marlboro having a smaller market share.⁴³⁹

224. Given the above, the design, architecture, revealing structure, operation, and application of Section 907(a)(1)(A) strongly suggest that the detrimental impact on competitive opportunities for clove cigarettes reflects discrimination against the group of like products imported from Indonesia. The products that are prohibited under Section 907(a)(1)(A) consist primarily of clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia, while the like products that are actually permitted under this measure consist primarily of domestically produced menthol cigarettes.

225. Moreover, we are not persuaded that the detrimental impact of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on competitive opportunities for imported clove cigarettes does stem from a legitimate regulatory distinction. We recall that the stated objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A) is to reduce youth smoking. One of the particular characteristics of flavoured cigarettes that makes them appealing to young people is the flavouring that masks the harshness of the tobacco, thus making them more pleasant to start smoking than regular cigarettes.⁴⁴⁰ To the extent that this particular characteristic is present in both clove and menthol cigarettes⁴⁴¹, menthol cigarettes have the same product characteristic that, from the perspective of the stated objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A), justified the prohibition of clove cigarettes. Furthermore, the reasons presented by the United States for the exemption of menthol cigarettes for imported clove cigarettes does stem from a legitimate regulatory distinction. The United States argues that the exemption of menthol cigarettes from the ban on flavoured cigarettes aims at minimizing: (i) the impact on the US health care system associated with treating "millions" of menthol cigarette smokers affected by withdrawal symptoms;

⁴³⁷Cigarettes: Domestic and Imported, 2000-2009 (Panel Exhibit US-31).

⁴³⁸United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 27 (referring to US Federal Trade Commission, *Cigarette Report for 2006*, Table 1A (2009) (Panel Exhibit US-29); and P.S. Gardiner, "The African Americanization of menthol cigarette use in the United States" (February 2004) 6(1) *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* S55 (Panel Exhibit US-30)).

⁴³⁹See United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 29 and P.S. Gardiner, "The African Americanization of menthol cigarette use in the United States" (February 2004) 6(1) *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* S55 (Panel Exhibit US-30), p. 58.

⁴⁴⁰Panel Report, paras. 7.216-7.221.

⁴⁴¹Panel Report, para. 7.221 (referring to "Use of Menthol Cigarettes", The National Survey on Drug Use and Health Report, 19 November 2009 (Panel Exhibit IND-66); and American Lung Association, Tobacco Policy Trend Alert, *From Joe Camel to Kauai Kolada – the Marketing of Candy-Flavored Cigarettes* (2006) (Panel Exhibit US-35), p. 1, available at <http://slati.lungusa.org/reports/CandyFlavoredUpdatedAlert.pdf>).

and (ii) the risk of development of a black market and smuggling of menthol cigarettes to supply the needs of menthol cigarette smokers. Thus, according to the United States, the exemption of menthol cigarettes from the ban on flavoured cigarettes is justified in order to avoid risks arising from withdrawal symptoms that would afflict menthol cigarette smokers in case those cigarettes were banned. We note, however, that the addictive ingredient in menthol cigarettes is nicotine, not peppermint or any other ingredient that is exclusively present in menthol cigarettes, and that this ingredient is also present in a group of products that is likewise permitted under Section 907(a)(1)(A), namely, regular cigarettes. Therefore, it is not clear that the risks that the United States claims to minimize by allowing menthol cigarettes to remain in the market would materialize if menthol cigarettes were to be banned, insofar as regular cigarettes would remain in the market.

226. Therefore, even though Section 907(a)(1)(A) does not expressly distinguish between treatment accorded to the imported and domestic like products, it operates in a manner that reflects discrimination against the group of like products imported from Indonesia. Accordingly, despite our reservations on the brevity of the Panel's analysis, we agree with the Panel that, by exempting menthol cigarettes from the ban on flavoured cigarettes, Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords to clove cigarettes imported from Indonesia less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic like products, within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

(b) Article 11 of the DSU

227. Finally, the United States argues that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU because it found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) avoids costs on any US entity, in the absence of any basis in the Panel record that would have allowed it to reach such conclusion.⁴⁴² The United States argues that the measure imposed enforcement costs on the United States Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA"), and on domestic producers of cigarettes with characterizing flavours whose potential market was closed off. By reducing youth smoking, Section 907(a)(1)(A) also reduces subsequent demand for cigarettes. Therefore, it also shrinks the "adult" cigarette market, which is comprised almost entirely of domestic producers.⁴⁴³

228. Indonesia responds that the Panel did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in reaching its finding, which is supported by evidence showing that the exemption of menthol cigarettes from the ban was the result of a political compromise with the US tobacco industry.⁴⁴⁴

⁴⁴²United States' appellant's submission, para. 110.

⁴⁴³United States' appellant's submission, para. 111.

⁴⁴⁴Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 189.

229. We recall that, in *EC* – *Fasteners (China)*, the Appellate Body considered that "[i]t is ... unacceptable for a participant effectively to recast its arguments before the panel under the guise of an Article 11 claim" and that "a claim that a panel failed to comply with its duties under Article 11 of the DSU must stand by itself and should not be made merely as a subsidiary argument or claim in support of a claim that the panel failed to apply correctly a provision of the covered agreements."⁴⁴⁵ With these considerations in mind, we turn to review the United States' appeal that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposed no costs on any US entity.

230. As noted above, we believe that the Panel did not fully explain the basis for the statement that Section 907(a)(1)(A), while imposing "costs" on foreign producers, imposed "no costs on any US entity". However, the Panel's statement should be read in the light of the fact that, in paragraph 7.289 of its Report, the Panel considered the costs imposed on producers "at the time of the ban" and that it equated the concept of "entity" with that of "producer", thus comparing the costs imposed on producers in Indonesia with the costs imposed on US producers, to the exclusion of government entities such as the FDA.

231. It seems to us that the United States' claim is concerned with the Panel's less favourable treatment comparison, rather than with the alleged absence of evidence in the Panel record justifying the lack of costs on any US entity. We note that the United States argues that the Panel erred, under Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, in limiting the scope of its less favourable treatment analysis to the effects of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on all domestic cigarettes at the time the measure entered into force, to the exclusion of flavoured cigarettes that were produced in the United States before the ban came into force.⁴⁴⁶ In our view, the United States' argument that the Panel erred in not considering the impact of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on US producers before the entry into force of the ban also implies that the Panel was wrong in stating that the measure imposed no costs on any US producers. We thus consider that the claim by the United States that the Panel violated Article 11 of the DSU because it found that Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposed "no costs on any US entity" is subsidiary to its claim that the Panel erred in concluding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords less favourable treatment to imported clove cigarettes than to like menthol cigarettes of national origin within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

232. In the light of the above, we do not consider that the Panel acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords imported clove cigarettes less

⁴⁴⁵Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 442. See also Appellate Body Report, *US – Steel Safeguards*, para. 498; and Appellate Body Report, *Chile – Price Band System (Article 21.5 – Argentina)*, para. 238.

⁴⁴⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 96.

favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes, within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

6. <u>Conclusion on "Treatment No Less Favourable"</u>

233. Given the above, we *uphold*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.292 of the Panel Report, that, by banning clove cigarettes while exempting menthol cigarettes from the ban, Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA accords imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to domestic menthol cigarettes, within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*.

D. Conclusions under Article 2.1 of the TBT Agreement

234. In the light of the foregoing considerations with regard to the Panel's findings on likeness and less favourable treatment, we therefore *uphold*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraphs 7.293 and 8.1(b) of the Panel Report, that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* because it accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like menthol cigarettes of national origin.

235. In reaching this conclusion, we wish to clarify the implications of our decision. We do not consider that the *TBT Agreement* or any of the covered agreements is to be interpreted as preventing Members from devising and implementing public health policies generally, and tobacco-control policies in particular, through the regulation of the content of tobacco products, including the prohibition or restriction on the use of ingredients that increase the attractiveness and palatability of cigarettes for young and potential smokers. Moreover, we recognize the importance of Members' efforts in the World Health Organization on tobacco control.

236. While we have upheld the Panel's finding that the specific measure at issue in this dispute is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*, we are not saying that a Member cannot adopt measures to pursue legitimate health objectives such as curbing and preventing youth smoking. In particular, we are not saying that the United States cannot ban clove cigarettes: however, if it chooses to do so, this has to be done consistently with the *TBT Agreement*. Although Section 907(a)(1)(A) pursues the legitimate objective of reducing youth smoking by banning cigarettes containing flavours and ingredients that increase the attractiveness of tobacco to youth, it does so in a manner that is inconsistent with the national treatment obligation in Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* as a result of the exemption of menthol cigarettes, which similarly contain flavours and ingredients that increase the attractiveness of tobacco to youth, from the ban on flavoured cigarettes.

VI. Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*

A. Introduction

237. We turn now to the United States' appeal of the Panel's finding that, by failing to allow a period of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

238. The FSPTCA was enacted on 22 June 2009. The measure at issue, Section 907(a)(1)(A), entered into force three months thereafter. Before the Panel, Indonesia argued that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision on Implementation-Related Issues and Concerns⁴⁴⁷ ("the Doha Ministerial Decision")—which defined the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* as at least six months—constitutes a legally binding interpretation pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*. Thus, according to Indonesia, by not allowing a reasonable interval of at least six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A), the United States acted inconsistently with its obligations under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. ⁴⁴⁸ The Panel framed the question before it as whether the United States acted inconsistently with its obligations under Article 2.12 by allowing an interval of three months between the enactment of the FSPTCA and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A). In particular, the Panel considered whether, as Indonesia claimed, Article 2.12 "obliged the United States to allow *as a minimum* a period of *six months* between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A)".

239. In its analysis of Indonesia's claim under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, the Panel considered the interpretative value of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision. The Panel took the view that, although the United States and Indonesia disagreed on the categorization of paragraph 5.2 as an authoritative interpretation under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, it would "be guided by [the Doha Ministerial Decision] in its interpretation of the phrase 'reasonable interval' as [the Doha Ministerial Decision] was agreed by all WTO Members meeting in the form of Ministerial Conference, the highest ranking body of the WTO". Moreover, the Panel stated that, in its view, "paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision could be considered as a subsequent agreement

⁴⁴⁷Decision of 14 November 2001, WT/MIN(01)/17, para. 5.2.

⁴⁴⁸Panel Report, para. 7.552.

⁴⁴⁹Panel Report, para. 7.561. (original emphasis)

of the parties", within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.⁴⁵⁰

240. The United States claims on appeal that: (i) the Panel attributed an incorrect "interpretative value" to paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision in its interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*; and (ii) the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, that the United States failed to rebut.

B. The Interpretative Value of Paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision

241. We recall that, with regard to the interpretative value of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, the Panel stated that it "must be guided by [paragraph 5.2] in its interpretation of the phrase 'reasonable interval', as [paragraph 5.2] was agreed by all WTO Members meeting in the form of Ministerial Conference, the highest ranking body of the WTO".⁴⁵¹

242. According to the United States, the Panel "declined to formally determine" whether paragraph 5.2 constitutes an authoritative interpretation of Article 2.12, "only saying that it 'must be guided' by paragraph 5.2" because it was agreed by all WTO Members meeting in the form of Ministerial Conference, the highest ranking body of the WTO.⁴⁵² The United States submits that, despite not having found that paragraph 5.2 has the legal status of an authoritative interpretation adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, the Panel erred by applying paragraph 5.2 as a "rule" that amended the text of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.⁴⁵³ The United States claims that the legal value of paragraph 5.2 is at most a supplementary means of interpretation within the meaning of Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention*.⁴⁵⁴

243. Indonesia responds that "the Panel *did* establish that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is a binding interpretation as per Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*", and that it may also be considered a subsequent agreement between the parties, within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.⁴⁵⁵

244. In paragraph 7.575 of its Report, the Panel stated that the wording of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision "*appears to suggest* that the intention of the Ministerial Conference, and thus the highest level organ of the WTO where all Members meet, was that paragraph 5.2 is

⁴⁵⁰Panel Report, para. 7.576.

⁴⁵¹Panel Report, para. 7.576.

⁴⁵²United States' appellant's submission, para. 124 (referring to Panel Report, para. 7.576).

⁴⁵³United States' appellant's submission, para. 129.

⁴⁵⁴United States' appellant's submission, para. 126.

⁴⁵⁵Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 222. (original emphasis)

binding".⁴⁵⁶ On appeal, Indonesia relies on this latter statement made by the Panel and argues that the Panel found that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is a binding interpretation "as per" Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*.⁴⁵⁷

245. In paragraph 7.576 of its Report, the Panel stated that, although the United States and Indonesia disagreed on the categorization of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision as an authoritative interpretation under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, it would be "guided by [paragraph 5.2] in its interpretation of the phrase 'reasonable interval', as it was agreed by all WTO Members meeting in the form of Ministerial Conference, the highest ranking body of the WTO". On appeal, the United States relies on this statement of the Panel and argues that the Panel did not find that paragraph 5.2 constitutes an authoritative interpretation adopted by the Ministerial Conference pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*.⁴⁵⁸

246. As we see it, in paragraph 7.575 of its Report, the Panel identified certain features of the Doha Ministerial Decision that *suggest* that Members intended to adopt a "binding" interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. The Panel's statement in paragraph 7.575 was, by its own terms, tentative. Moreover, the Panel's statement was not followed by any "finding" that paragraph 5.2 constitutes an interpretation adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*. Thus, we do not agree with Indonesia that the Panel *found* that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision "is a binding interpretation as per Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*".⁴⁵⁹

247. Despite our conclusion that the Panel did not formally determine whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision constitutes a multilateral interpretation under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, we will consider, nevertheless, whether paragraph 5.2, in fact, has that legal status. Before doing so, we set forth some general considerations on the role and function of multilateral interpretations adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*.

⁴⁵⁶Emphasis added.

⁴⁵⁷Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 222.

⁴⁵⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 124.

⁴⁵⁹Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 222.

248. Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement provides:

The Ministerial Conference and the General Council shall have the exclusive authority to adopt interpretations of this Agreement and of the Multilateral Trade Agreements. In the case of an interpretation of a Multilateral Trade Agreement in Annex 1, they shall exercise their authority on the basis of a recommendation by the Council overseeing the functioning of that Agreement. The decision to adopt an interpretation shall be taken by a three-fourths majority of the Members. This paragraph shall not be used in a manner that would undermine the amendment provisions in Article X.

249. In EC - Bananas III (Article 21.5 - Ecuador II) / EC - Bananas III (Article 21.5 - US), the Appellate Body opined that multilateral interpretations adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the*WTO Agreement*are "meant to clarify the meaning of existing obligations, not to modify their content".⁴⁶⁰ Article IX:2 establishes that a decision to adopt a multilateral interpretation can only be taken by Members sitting in the form of the Ministerial Conference or the General Council, and that such decisions must be taken by a three-fourths majority of Members. With regard to decisions adopting multilateral interpretations of a Multilateral Trade Agreement contained in Annex 1 to the*WTO Agreement*, Article IX:2 requires the Ministerial Conference or the General Council to exercise its authority on the basis of a recommendation by the Council overseeing the functioning of that Agreement. Thus, while Article IX:2 confers upon the Ministerial Conference and the General Council the exclusive authority to adopt multilateral interpretations of the*WTO Agreement*, the exercise of this authority is situated within defined parameters established by Article IX:2.

250. Multilateral interpretations adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* have a pervasive legal effect. Such interpretations are binding on all Members. As we see it, the broad legal effect of these interpretations is precisely the reason why Article IX:2 subjects the adoption of such interpretations to clearly articulated and strict decision-making procedures.

251. Turning to the question of whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision can be characterized as a multilateral interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, we recall that Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* establishes two specific requirements that apply to the adoption of multilateral interpretations of the Multilateral Trade Agreements contained in Annex 1 to the *WTO Agreement*: (i) a decision by the Ministerial Conference or the General Council to adopt such interpretations shall be taken by a three-fourths majority of Members; and (ii) such interpretations shall be taken on the basis of a recommendation by the Council overseeing the functioning of the

⁴⁶⁰Appellate Body Reports, *EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 383.

relevant Agreement. Thus, we will consider whether the decision to adopt paragraph 5.2 conforms with these specific decision-making procedures.

252. With regard to the first requirement, the Panel observed that the Ministerial Conference decided on the matters addressed in the Doha Ministerial Decision *by consensus*. The issue of whether the first requirement was met has not been raised in this appeal. With regard to the second requirement, the Panel noted that, "it *appears* that when adopting the Doha Ministerial Decision, the Ministerial Conference did not comply with the preliminary requirement under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*" to exercise its authority on the basis of a recommendation from the Council for Trade in Goods.⁴⁶¹ The Panel stated, further, that "it could be argued" that the absence of this "formal requirement" is insufficient to conclude that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is not an authoritative interpretation under Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement.⁴⁶² On appeal, the United States argues that "[a] panel is not authorized to waive the requirements of Article IX:2 or to impose on Members an interpretation that is not adopted in the manner required."⁴⁶³

253. We do not agree with the Panel to the extent that it suggested that the absence of a recommendation from the Council for Trade in Goods "is insufficient to conclude that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision is not an authoritative interpretation under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*".⁴⁶⁴ While Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* confers upon the Ministerial Conference and the General Council the exclusive authority to adopt multilateral interpretations of the *WTO Agreement*, this authority must be exercised within the defined parameters of Article IX:2. It seems to us that the view expressed by the Panel does not respect a specific decision-making procedure established by Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*. In our view, to characterize the requirement to act on the basis of a recommendation by the Council overseeing the functioning of the relevant Agreement as a "formal requirement" neither permits a panel to read that requirement out of a treaty provision, nor to dilute its effectiveness.

254. Although the Panel's reasoning may be read as suggesting that the Ministerial Conference could dispense with a specific requirement established by Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, the terms of Article IX:2 do not suggest that compliance with this requirement is dispensable. In this connection, we recall that, pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, the Ministerial Conference or the General Council "*shall*" exercise their authority to adopt an interpretation of a Multilateral Trade Agreement contained in Annex 1 to the *WTO Agreement* "on the basis of a

⁴⁶¹Panel Report, para. 7.574 (referring to United States' response to Panel Question 6, para. 5). (emphasis added)

⁴⁶²Panel Report, para. 7.575.

⁴⁶³United States' appellant's submission, para. 125.

⁴⁶⁴Panel Report, para. 7.575.

recommendation" by the Council overseeing the functioning of that Agreement. We consider that the recommendation from the relevant Council is an essential element of Article IX:2, which constitutes the legal basis upon which the Ministerial Conference or the General Council exercise their authority to adopt interpretations of the *WTO Agreement*. Thus, an interpretation of a Multilateral Trade Agreement contained in Annex 1 to the *WTO Agreement must* be adopted on the basis of a recommendation from the relevant Council overseeing the functioning of that Agreement.

255. We note that, before the Panel, Indonesia relied on paragraph 12 of the Doha Ministerial Declaration⁴⁶⁵ and on the preamble of the Doha Ministerial Decision, and argued that the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* was reached on the basis of discussions carried out within the General Council and the WTO subsidiary bodies.⁴⁶⁶ Whereas the content of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision might very well have been based on discussions within the Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade, we are not persuaded that this is sufficient to establish that the Ministerial Conference exercised its authority to adopt an interpretation of the *TBT Agreement* on the basis of a *recommendation* from the Council for Trade in Goods. Accordingly, we find that, in the absence of evidence of the existence of a specific recommendation from the Council for Trade in Goods concerning the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision does not constitute a multilateral interpretation adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*.⁴⁶⁷

256. In the light of our finding that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision does not qualify as a multilateral interpretation within the meaning of Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, we address whether, as the Panel found, paragraph 5.2 "could be considered as a subsequent agreement of the parties within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the [*Vienna Convention*], on the interpretation of 'reasonable interval' [in] Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*".⁴⁶⁸

257. We note that, in response to questioning at the oral hearing, the United States argued that a decision by the Ministerial Conference that does not conform with the specific decision-making procedures established by Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* cannot constitute a "subsequent agreement between the parties" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*. We observe that multilateral interpretations adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, on

⁴⁶⁵Adopted on 14 November 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/1.

⁴⁶⁶Panel Report, para. 7.574 (referring to Indonesia's response to Panel Question 6, para. 27).

⁴⁶⁷In reaching this finding, we are not saying that the Ministerial Conference failed to comply with a specific decision-making procedure established by Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*. Rather, we are saying that the absence of a recommendation from the Council for Trade in Goods concerning the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* supports a conclusion that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision does not constitute a multilateral interpretation adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*.

⁴⁶⁸Panel Report, para. 7.576. (footnote omitted)

the one hand, and subsequent agreements on interpretation within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the other hand, serve different functions and have different legal effects under WTO law. Multilateral interpretations under Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* provide a means by which Members—acting through the highest organs of the WTO—may adopt binding interpretations that clarify WTO law for all Members. Such interpretations are binding on all Members, including in respect of all disputes in which these interpretations are relevant.

258. On the other hand, Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* is a rule of treaty interpretation, pursuant to which a treaty interpreter uses a subsequent agreement between the parties on the interpretation of a treaty provision as an interpretative tool to determine the meaning of that treaty provision. Pursuant to Article 3.2 of the DSU, panels and the Appellate Body are required to apply the customary rules of interpretation of public international law—including the rule embodied in Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*—to clarify the existing provisions of the covered agreements. Interpretations developed by panels and the Appellate Body in the course of dispute settlement proceedings are binding only on the parties to a particular dispute.⁴⁶⁹ Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement* does not preclude panels and the Appellate Body from having recourse to a customary rule of interpretation of public international law that, pursuant to Article 3.2 of the DSU, they are required to apply.

259. We also recall that, in EC - Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC - Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US), the Appellate Body stated that "multilateral interpretations are meant to clarify the meaning of existing obligations"⁴⁷⁰, and that "multilateral interpretations adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the WTO Agreement are most akin to subsequent agreements within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the Vienna Convention".⁴⁷¹ Thus, given the specific function of multilateral interpretations are adopted by

⁴⁶⁹In *US* – *Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, the Appellate Body stated:

It is well settled that Appellate Body reports are not binding, except with respect to resolving the particular dispute between the parties. This, however, does not mean that subsequent panels are free to disregard the legal interpretations and the *ratio decidendi* contained in previous Appellate Body reports that have been adopted by the DSB.

Thus, the legal interpretation embodied in adopted panel and Appellate Body reports becomes part and parcel of the *acquis* of the WTO dispute settlement system. Ensuring "security and predictability" in the dispute settlement system, as contemplated in Article 3.2 of the DSU, implies that, absent cogent reasons, an adjudicatory body will resolve the same legal question in the same way in a subsequent case.

⁽Appellate Body Report, US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras. 158 and 160 (footnotes omitted))

⁴⁷⁰Appellate Body Reports, *EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 383.

⁴⁷¹Appellate Body Reports, *EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 390. (emphasis added)

Members sitting in the form of the highest organs of the WTO, such interpretations are most akin to, but *not exhaustive of*, subsequent agreements on interpretation within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*.

260. We consider, therefore, that a decision adopted by Members, *other than* a decision adopted pursuant to Article IX:2 of the *WTO Agreement*, may constitute a "subsequent agreement" on the interpretation of a provision of a covered agreement under Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*. Accordingly, we turn to the issue of whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision can be considered to be a subsequent agreement, within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*. Accordingly, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

261. Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* provides:

There shall be taken into account, together with the context: (a) any subsequent agreement between the parties regarding the interpretation of the treaty or the application of its provisions[.]

262. Based on the text of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, we consider that a decision adopted by Members may qualify as a "subsequent agreement between the parties" regarding the interpretation of a covered agreement or the application of its provisions if: (i) the decision is, in a temporal sense, adopted subsequent to the relevant covered agreement; and (ii) the terms and content of the decision express an *agreement* between Members on the *interpretation* or *application* of a provision of WTO law.

263. With regard to the first element, we note that the Doha Ministerial Decision was adopted by consensus on 14 November 2001 on the occasion of the Fourth Ministerial Conference of the WTO. Thus, it is beyond dispute that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision was adopted subsequent to the relevant WTO agreement at issue, the *TBT Agreement*. With regard to the second element, the key question to be answered is whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

264. We recall that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision provides:

Subject to the conditions specified in paragraph 12 of Article 2 of the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, the phrase "reasonable interval" shall be understood to mean normally a period of not less than 6 months, except when this would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objectives pursued.

265. In addressing the question of whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision expresses an agreement between Members on the interpretation or application of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, we find useful guidance in the Appellate Body reports in *EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)*. The Appellate Body observed that the International Law Commission (the "ILC") describes a subsequent agreement within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* as "a further *authentic element of interpretation* to be taken into account together with the context". According to the Appellate Body, "by referring to 'authentic interpretation of the treaty."⁴⁷² Thus, we will consider whether paragraph 5.2 bears specifically upon the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

266. Paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision refers explicitly to the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* and defines this interval as "normally a period of not less than 6 months, except when this would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objectives pursued" by a technical regulation. In the light of the terms and content of paragraph 5.2, we are unable to discern a function of paragraph 5.2 *other than* to interpret the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. We consider, therefore, that paragraph 5.2 *bears specifically* upon the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. We turn now to consider whether paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision reflects an "agreement" among Members—within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*—on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*—on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

267. We note that the text of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* does not establish a requirement as to the form which a "subsequent agreement between the parties" should take. We consider, therefore, that the term "agreement" in Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* refers, fundamentally, to substance rather than to form. Thus, in our view, paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision can be characterized as a "subsequent agreement" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention* provided that it clearly expresses a common understanding, and an acceptance of that understanding among Members with regard to the meaning of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. In determining whether this is so, we find the terms and content of paragraph 5.2 to be dispositive. In this connection, we note that the understanding among Members with regard to the meaning of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* is expressed by terms—"*shall be understood to mean*"—that cannot be considered as merely hortatory.

 $^{^{472}}$ Appellate Body Reports, *EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – Ecuador II) / EC – Bananas III (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 390. (emphasis added)

268. For the foregoing reasons, we *uphold* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.576 of the Panel Report, that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision constitutes a subsequent agreement between the parties, within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

269. In the light of our characterization of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision as a subsequent agreement between the parties within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, we turn now to consider the meaning of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* in the light of the clarification of the term "reasonable interval" provided by paragraph 5.2. We observe that, in its commentaries on the *Draft articles on the Law of Treaties*, the ILC states that a subsequent agreement between the parties within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) "must be read into the treaty for purposes of its interpretation".⁴⁷³ As we see it, while the terms of paragraph 5.2 must be "read into" Article 2.12 for the purpose of interpreting that provision, this does not mean that the terms of paragraph 5.2 replace or override the terms contained in Article 2.12. Rather, the terms of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision constitute an interpretative clarification to be taken into account in the interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

270. Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* provides:

Except in those urgent circumstances referred to in paragraph 10, Members shall allow a reasonable interval between the publication of technical regulations and their entry into force in order to allow time for producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, to adapt their products or methods of production to the requirements of the importing Member.

271. Paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision provides:

Subject to the conditions specified in paragraph 12 of Article 2 of the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, the phrase 'reasonable interval' shall be understood to mean normally a period of not less than 6 months, except when this would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objectives pursued.

272. We note, as did the Panel, that Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* explains that "the reason for allowing an interval between the publication and the entry into force of a technical regulation is to allow time for producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, to

⁴⁷³Draft articles on the Law of Treaties with commentaries. Text adopted by the ILC at its eighteenth session, in 1966, and submitted to the United Nations General Assembly as a part of the Commission's report covering the work of that session (at para. 38). The ILC report, which also contains commentaries on the draft articles, appears in the *Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1966*, Vol. II, p. 221, para. 14.

adapt their products or methods of production" to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation.⁴⁷⁴ In our view, the term "normally" in paragraph 5.2 relates to the rationale of the obligation articulated in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. Seen in this light, the term "normally" provides the interpretative link between Article 2.12, on the one hand, and paragraph 5.2, on the other hand. Thus, we consider that, taking into account the interpretative clarification provided by paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* establishes a rule that "normally" producers in exporting Members require a period of "not less than 6 months" to adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of an importing Member's technical regulation.

273. On appeal, the United States argues that the use of the term "normally" in paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision does not support the conclusion that paragraph 5.2 represents a rule.⁴⁷⁵ We observe that the ordinary meaning of the term "normally" is defined as "under normal or ordinary conditions; as a rule".⁴⁷⁶ In our view, the qualification of an obligation with the adverb "normally" does not, necessarily, alter the characterization of that obligation as constituting a "rule". Rather, we consider that the use of the term "normally" in paragraph 5.2 indicates that the rule establishing that foreign producers require a minimum of "not less than 6 months" to adapt to the requirements of a technical regulation admits of derogation under certain circumstances.

274. The obligation imposed on Members by Article 2.12 to provide a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of their technical regulations carefully balances the interests of, on the one hand, the exporting Member whose producers might be affected by a technical regulation and, on the other hand, the importing Member that wishes to pursue a legitimate objective through a technical regulation. With regard to the former, Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, as clarified by paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, establishes a rule that, "normally", producers in exporting Members require a period of at least six months to adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation. Thus, Article 2.12 presumes that foreign producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, require a minimum of at least six months to adapt to the requirements of an importing Member's technical regulation.

275. With regard to the interests of the importing Member, we recall that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision tempers the obligation to provide a "reasonable interval" of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of a technical regulation by stipulating

⁴⁷⁴Panel Report, para. 7.582.

⁴⁷⁵United States' appellant's submission, para. 127.

⁴⁷⁶Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, 6th edn, A. Stevenson (ed.) (Oxford University Press, 2007), Vol. 2, p. 1945.

that this obligation applies "except when this would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objectives pursued" by the technical regulation. Thus, while Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* imposes an obligation on importing Members to provide a "reasonable interval" of not less than six months between the publication and entry into force of a technical regulation, an importing Member may depart from this obligation if this interval "would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives pursued" by the technical regulation.

C. The Panel's Finding that the United States Acted Inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement

276. We turn now to consider the United States' claim that the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* that the United States failed to rebut. The United States advances, essentially, two arguments in support of its claim that the Panel incorrectly found that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. First, the United States argues that the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had established a *prima facie* case because Indonesia did not establish that the three-month interval between the publication and entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA was unreasonable in the light of its impact on the ability of Indonesian producers to adapt to the requirements of that measure.⁴⁷⁷ Second, the United States argues that, even assuming *arguendo* that the Panel was correct in deciding that the elements of a *prima facie* case may be drawn exclusively from paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had case".⁴⁷⁸

277. According to the United States, in view of the elements contained in paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, Indonesia "would have to establish with evidence and argument" a *prima facie* case that: (i) "urgent circumstances" did not exist; (ii) the interval period was less than six months; (iii) "this is a 'normal' situation"; and (iv) allowing an interval of at least six months would not render the fulfilment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective.⁴⁷⁹ Indonesia, in response, argues that it did establish "a *prima facie* case that the 90-day interval provided by the United States was significantly shorter than the 6 months" normally required.⁴⁸⁰

278. The United States and Indonesia do not agree on the elements of a *prima facie* case that a complaining Member is required to establish under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. Moreover, it appears that the divergence stems from the fact that the United States and Indonesia attribute a different interpretative value to paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision. In this connection,

⁴⁷⁷United States' appellant's submission, paras. 132-134.

⁴⁷⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 135.

⁴⁷⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 136.

⁴⁸⁰Indonesia's appellee's submission, para. 237.

we note that the United States argues that the elements of a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 are to be drawn from the text of Article 2.12, but that, "[e]ven assuming *arguendo* that the Panel" could draw the elements of a *prima facie* case from paragraph 5.2, the Panel erred in finding that Indonesia had made such a case.⁴⁸¹

279. We do not consider that the elements of a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* are to be drawn exclusively from either the terms of Article 2.12, on the one hand, or of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, on the other hand. Article 2.12 imposes an obligation on importing Members to allow a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of their technical regulations. We recall our finding above that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision constitutes a subsequent agreement between the parties, within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*. Thus, it seems to us that the elements of a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* are to be drawn from a proper interpretation of Article 2.12, taking into account—pursuant to Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*—the interpretative clarification provided by the terms of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision.

280. We further recall our finding above that Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, properly interpreted in the light of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, establishes a rule that, "normally", producers in exporting Members require a period of at least six months to adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation. Based on our interpretation of Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, we consider that a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 is established where it is shown that an importing Member has failed to allow an interval of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of the technical regulation at issue.

281. In accordance with the general rules on burden of proof reflected in US – Wool Shirts and Blouses, we consider that, under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, it is for the complaining Member to establish that the responding Member has not allowed an interval of not less than six months

⁴⁸¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 135.

between the publication and the entry into force of the technical regulation at issue.⁴⁸² If the complaining Member establishes this *prima facie* case of inconsistency, it is for the responding Member to rebut the *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12. We recall that, in US – *Wool Shirts and Blouses*, the Appellate Body stated that "precisely how much and precisely what kind of evidence" will be required to establish a *prima facie* case "will necessarily vary from measure to measure, provision to provision, and case to case".⁴⁸³ We consider that, similarly, this reasoning applies with regard to the quantity and nature of evidence required to *rebut* a *prima facie* case of inconsistency.

282. The text of Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement read in the light of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision provides an indication of the nature of evidence that is required to rebut a prima facie case of inconsistency with that provision. First, Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement excludes from the obligation to provide a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of technical regulations "those urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 of the TBT Agreement. Thus, where "urgent problems of safety, health, environmental protection or national security" arise for a Member that is implementing a technical regulation, a period of six months or more cannot be considered to be a "reasonable interval" within the meaning of Article 2.12. Second, Article 2.12 expressly states that the rationale for providing a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of a technical regulation is "to allow time for producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, to adapt their products or methods of production" to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation. If these producers can adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of an importing Member's technical regulation in less than six months, a period of six months or more cannot be considered to be a "reasonable interval" within the meaning of Article 2.12. Third, paragraph 5.2 allows an importing Member to depart from the obligation to provide a "reasonable interval" of, "normally", not less than six months between the publication and entry into force of their technical regulation, if this interval would be "ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives pursued" by its technical regulation. Therefore, a period of "not less than six months" cannot be considered to be a "reasonable interval", within the meaning of Article 2.12, if this period would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives pursued by the technical regulation at issue.

(Appellate Body Report, US – Wool Shirts and Blouses, p. 14, DSR 1997:I, 323, at 335) ⁴⁸³Appellate Body Report, US – Wool Shirts and Blouses, p. 14, DSR 1997:I, 323, at 335.

 $^{^{482}}$ In US – Wool Shirts and Blouses, the Appellate Body outlined the general rules on burden of proof by stating that:

^{...} the burden of proof rests upon the party, whether complaining or defending, who asserts the affirmative of a particular claim or defence. If that party adduces evidence sufficient to raise a presumption that what is claimed is true, the burden then shifts to the other party, who will fail unless it adduces sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption.

283. Thus, in the light of the above, we consider that, in order to rebut a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, a responding Member that has allowed an interval of less than six months between the publication and entry into force of its technical regulation must submit evidence and argument sufficient to establish *either*: (i) that the "urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 of the *TBT Agreement* surrounded the adoption of the technical regulation at issue; (ii) that producers of the complaining Member could have adapted to the requirements of the technical regulation at issue within the shorter interval that it allowed; *or* (iii) that a period of "not less than" six months would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives of its technical regulation.

284. The Panel found that Indonesia had made a *prima facie* case that "allowing at least six months between the date of publication of Section 907(a)(1)(A) and its entry into force would not render the fulfilment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective."⁴⁸⁴ Thus, in the Panel's view, the burden was on Indonesia to establish a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* that included establishing that a period of at least six months between the publication of Section 907(a)(1)(A) and its entry into force would not render the fulfilment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective. The United States argues that Indonesia failed to establish such a *prima facie* case. Relying on the Appellate Body's ruling on the burden of proof under Article 2.4 of the *TBT Agreement* in *EC – Sardines*, the United States argues on appeal that the burden rests with the complaining Member to adduce sufficient evidence and argument to establish that an interval of not less than six months would be effective in fulfilling the objectives of the technical regulation at issue.⁴⁸⁵

285. In *EC* – *Sardines*, the Appellate Body was considering the allocation of the burden of proof in the context of a claim of inconsistency with Article 2.4 of the *TBT Agreement*. As we see it, the fact that two provisions manifest a degree of structural similarity does not, *necessarily*, support a conclusion that the allocation of the burden of proof in respect of each provision must be identical.⁴⁸⁶

286. We recall our view expressed above that the elements of a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* are to be drawn from a proper interpretation of Article 2.12, taking into account—pursuant to Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*—the interpretative clarification provided by the terms of paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision. In much the

⁴⁸⁴Panel Report, para. 7.592.

 $^{^{485}}$ United States' appellant's submission, para. 143 (referring to Appellate Body Report, EC - Sardines, para. 288).

⁴⁸⁶We are not saying that the fact that the burden of proof is allocated in a particular manner with respect to a particular provision of the covered agreements is not a relevant consideration in discerning how the burden of proof is allocated under a similar provision of the covered agreements. Rather, we are saying that the conceptual or structural similarity between two provisions does not, by itself, necessitate a conclusion that the burden of proof in respect of both provisions must be allocated in an identical manner.

same way, the manner in which the burden of proof is allocated under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* must be informed by an interpretation that properly canvasses the text, context, and object and purpose of Article 2.12. In our view, the burden of proof in respect of a particular provision of the covered agreements *cannot* be understood in isolation from the overarching logic of that provision, and the function which it is designed to serve. On the contrary, it is by having regard for the function and rationale of a particular provision that an adjudicator can, adequately, assess the manner in which the burden of proof should be allocated under that provision.

287. We recall that Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* explains that the reason for allowing an interval between the publication and the entry into force of a technical regulation is "to allow time for producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, to adapt their products or methods of production" to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation. By its own terms, Article 2.12 singles out producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, as the beneficiaries of a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of an importing Member's technical regulation. Thus, the concept of a "reasonable interval" within the meaning of Article 2.12 is meant to provide a degree of certainty to producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, and particularly in developing country between the meaning of Article 2.12 is meant to provide a degree of certainty to producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, with regard to the time within which an importing Member's technical regulation can reasonably be expected to enter into force.

288. Paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision provides interpretative clarification of the concept of a "reasonable interval" within the meaning of Article 2.12 by establishing a rule that producers in exporting Members require a period of at least six months to adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of the importing Member's technical regulation. Thus, paragraph 5.2 enhances the degree of certainty that the concept of a "reasonable interval" is meant to provide to producers in exporting Members, and particularly in developing country Members, with regard to the time within which an importing Member's technical regulation can reasonably be expected to enter into force.

289. The rule in Article 2.12, as clarified by paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, is expressly designed to allow producers in the complaining Member, and in particular in a complaining developing country Member, sufficient time to adapt their products or production methods to the requirements of the responding Member's technical regulation. Thus, it seems to us that, where a responding Member seeks to deviate from this rule, which, by its own terms, singles out producers in the complaining Member as the beneficiaries of a "reasonable interval" between the publication and the entry into force of a technical regulation, the responding Member must shoulder the burden of establishing a *prima facie* case that the conditions under which derogations from the rule are

permitted are extant. Thus, we disagree with the Panel that it was for Indonesia to establish a *prima facie* case that a period of at least six months between the publication of Section 907(a)(1)(A) and its entry into force would not render the fulfilment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective. Instead, we consider that, under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, as clarified by paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, the burden rests upon the responding Member to make a *prima facie* case that an interval of not less than six months "would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives pursued" by its technical regulation.

290. In sum, under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, as clarified by paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision, a complaining Member is required to establish a *prima facie* case that the responding Member has failed to allow for a period of at least six months between the publication and the entry into force of the technical regulation at issue. If the complaining Member establishes such a *prima facie* case, the burden rests on the responding Member that has allowed for an interval of less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of its technical regulation to establish *either*: (i) that the "urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 of the *TBT Agreement* surrounded the adoption of the technical regulation at issue; (ii) that producers of the complaining Member could have adapted to the requirements of the technical regulation at issue within the shorter interval that it allowed; *or* (iii) that a period of "not less than" six months would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives of its technical regulation.

291. In order to establish a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*, Indonesia was required to establish that the United States did not allow an interval of at least six months between the publication and the entry into force of the technical regulation at issue. In this connection, we note the Panel's finding that the actual interval allowed by the United States between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) was a "90-day period or a three-month period".⁴⁸⁷ Thus, we agree with the Panel that Indonesia established a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

292. In order to rebut the *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement* made by Indonesia, the United States was required to submit evidence and argument sufficient to establish *either*: (i) that the "urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 of the *TBT Agreement* surrounded the adoption of Section 907(a)(1)(A); (ii) that producers in Indonesia could have adapted to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) within a three-month interval; *or* (iii) that a period of "not less than" six months would be ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objectives of Section 907(a)(1)(A).

⁴⁸⁷Panel Report, para. 7.567.

293. With regard to whether the "urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 of the *TBT Agreement* surrounded the adoption of Section 907(a)(1)(A), we note that the Panel found that "[i]n the absence of any evidence or argument that such urgent problems of safety, health, environmental protection or national security arose or threatened to arise upon adoption of Section 907(a)(1)(A)", it could "only conclude that these urgent circumstances were not present".⁴⁸⁸ Thus, the United States did not contend that the "urgent circumstances" referred to in Article 2.10 surrounded the adoption of Section 907(a)(1)(A).

294. With regard to the question of whether producers in Indonesia could have adapted to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) within a three-month period, the United States argued before the Panel that "Indonesian producers have been and are able to market tobacco-flavoured and menthol-flavoured cigarettes in the United States' market", and that "Indonesian producers, even 16 months after the enactment of [Section 907(a)(1)(A)] have not adjusted their product lines to produce tobacco or menthol-flavoured cigarettes."⁴⁸⁹ Thus, according to the United States, whether it waited "three months or six months after the measure's enactment to allow it to enter into force appears not to have affected Indonesia producers in any way".⁴⁹⁰ On appeal, the United States submits that "[t]his evidence and argument" was sufficient to rebut the *prima facie* case that the Panel found Indonesia to have established.⁴⁹¹ We are not persuaded that the evidence and argument submitted by the United States before the Panel was sufficient to establish that producers in Indonesia could have adapted to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) within a three-month period. Contrary to what the United States argues, the fact that Indonesian producers had not adjusted to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) sixteen months after its entry into force is evidence that points in the direction of Indonesian producers requiring a significantly longer period than the three months allowed by the United States. Thus, the United States failed to establish that producers in Indonesia could have adapted to the requirements of Section 907(a)(1)(A) within a three-month period.

295. We turn now to consider whether the United States established, with sufficient evidence and argument, that a period of at least six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A). We note that the Panel stated that the United States had not explained "why it deemed that allowing a 90 day/three month interval between the publication and entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) was not ineffective in fulfilling the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A), while a six month interval would be".⁴⁹² Before the Panel, the United States argued that the

⁴⁸⁸Panel Report, para. 7.507.

 ⁴⁸⁹Panel Report, para. 7.583 (referring to United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 303).
 ⁴⁹⁰Panel Report, para. 7.583.

⁴⁹¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 153.

⁴⁹²Panel Report, para. 7.593.

FSPTCA "directly addresses a serious problem—youth smoking" and that "Congress intended to limit this behaviour as much as practicable".⁴⁹³ While the arguments advanced by the United States before the Panel identify the legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A), these arguments are insufficient to establish that allowing a period of not less than six months between the publication and entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) would have been ineffective to fulfil the legitimate objective of Section 907(a)(1)(A).

296. Thus, while we disagree with the Panel that it was for Indonesia to establish a *prima facie* case that an interval of at least six months between the publication of the FSPTCA and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) would not render the fulfilment of the objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A) ineffective, we nevertheless share the Panel's view that the United States failed to establish that an interval of at least six months between publication and entry into force would be ineffective in fulfilling the legitimate objective pursued by Section 907(a)(1)(A). Accordingly, we agree with the Panel that the United States failed to rebut the *prima facie* case of inconsistency that Indonesia established under Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

297. In the light of the foregoing reasons, we *uphold*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraphs 7.595 and 8.1(h) of the Panel Report, that, by failing to allow an interval of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

VII. Findings and Conclusions

298. For the reasons set out in this Report, the Appellate Body:

- (a) With respect to Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*:
 - (i) <u>upholds</u>, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.248 of the Panel Report, that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are "like products" within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*;
 - (ii) <u>finds</u> that the Panel did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in its analysis of consumer tastes and habits;
 - (iii) <u>upholds</u>, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.292 of the Panel Report, that, by banning clove cigarettes while exempting menthol cigarettes from the ban, Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA accords imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to

⁴⁹³Panel Report, para. 7.588 (referring to United States' first written submission to the Panel, para. 302).

domestic menthol cigarettes, within the meaning of Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement*;

- (iv) <u>finds</u> that the Panel did not act inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU in its less favourable treatment analysis; and, therefore,
- (v) <u>upholds</u>, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraphs 7.293 and 8.1(b) of the Panel Report, that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *TBT Agreement* because it accords to imported clove cigarettes less favourable treatment than that accorded to like menthol cigarettes of national origin; and
- (b) With respect to Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*:
 - (i) <u>upholds</u> the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.576 of the Panel Report, that paragraph 5.2 of the Doha Ministerial Decision constitutes a subsequent agreement between the parties, within the meaning of Article 31(3)(a) of the *Vienna Convention*, on the interpretation of the term "reasonable interval" in Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*; and
 - (ii) <u>upholds</u>, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraphs 7.595 and 8.1(h) of the Panel Report, that, by failing to allow an interval of not less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FFDCA, the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the *TBT Agreement*.

299. The Appellate Body <u>recommends</u> that the DSB request the United States to bring its measure, found in this Report, and in the Panel Report as modified by this Report, to be inconsistent with the *TBT Agreement*, into conformity with its obligations under that Agreement.

Signed in the original in Geneva this 22nd day of March 2012 by:

Shotaro Oshima Presiding Member

Ricardo Ramírez-Hernández Member Peter Van den Bossche Member

ANNEX I

WORLD TRADE

ORGANIZATION

WT/DS406/6 10 January 2012

(12-0103)

Original: English

UNITED STATES – MEASURES AFFECTING THE PRODUCTION AND SALE OF CLOVE CIGARETTES

<u>Notification of an Appeal by the United States</u> <u>under Article 16.4 and Article 17 of the Understanding on Rules</u> <u>and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes (DSU),</u> <u>and under Rule 20(1) of the *Working Procedures for Appellate Review*</u>

The following notification, dated 5 January 2012, from the Delegation of the United States, is being circulated to Members.

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU") and Rule 20 of the Working Procedures for Appellate Review, the United States hereby notifies its decision to appeal to the Appellate Body certain issues of law covered in the Report of the Panel in United States – Measures Affecting the Production and Sale of Clove Cigarettes (WT/DS406/R) ("Panel Report") and certain legal interpretations developed by the Panel.

1. The United States seeks review of the Panel's conclusion that Section 907(a)(1)(A) of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act (the "Tobacco Control Act"),¹ is inconsistent with Article 2.1 of the *Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade* (the "TBT Agreement").² The United States appeals this finding based on a series of erroneous legal interpretations developed by the Panel, and on failure by the Panel to make an objective assessment of the facts of the case as called for by Article 11 of the DSU.

2. The United States seeks review of the Panel's finding that clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes are like products.³ In making this erroneous finding, the Panel erred in its legal interpretation of Article 2.1 by excluding, *a priori*, evidence related to particular criteria and failing to analyze each criteria completely.⁴ Specifically the Panel erred by failing to perform a complete analysis of the end-uses⁵ of clove cigarettes and menthol cigarettes and failing to perform a complete

¹The Tobacco Control Act was adopted June 2009 and it went into effect September 2009 as an amendment to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. \$387g(a)(1)(A).

²*See*, *e.g.*, Panel Report, paras. 7.293, 8.1(b).

³See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.248.

⁴See, e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.116, 7.119, 7.197-199, 7.206, 7.209-210, 7.214, 7.230-231.

⁵*See*, *e.g.*, Panel Report, paras. 7.197-199.

analysis of consumer tastes and habits.⁶ In developing this faulty legal interpretation, the Panel also acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU by failing to make an objective assessment of the facts in the case by refusing to consider certain evidence related consumer tastes and habits.⁷

3. The United States also seeks review of the Panel's finding that Section 907(a)(1)(A) accords less favorable treatment to imported clove cigarettes.⁸ In making this finding, the Panel erred in its legal interpretations that the only products to be compared are imported clove cigarettes and domestic menthol cigarettes,⁹ and that the effect of Section 907(a)(1)(A) on U.S. production can be assessed by looking only at what products were on the market at the time the measure went into effect.¹⁰ The Panel also erred by applying an incorrect legal framework to assess whether the alleged detriment to the competitive conditions for clove cigarettes could be explained by factors or circumstances unrelated to the foreign origin of the products.¹¹ In developing these faulty legal interpretations, the Panel also acted inconsistently with Article 11 of the DSU by failing to make an objective assessment of the facts of the case in finding that at the time of the ban, there were no domestic cigarettes with characterizing flavors other than menthol cigarettes,¹² and that Section 907(a)(1)(A) imposes no costs on any U.S. entity.¹³

4. The United States seeks review by the Appellate Body of the Panel's conclusion and related findings that by not allowing an interval of no less than six months between the publication and the entry into force of Section 907(a)(1)(A), the United States acted inconsistently with Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement.¹⁴ This conclusion is in error and is based on erroneous findings on issues of law and legal interpretations with respect to Article 2.12 of the TBT Agreement.¹⁵

5. Finally, the United States also makes a conditional appeal regarding the Panel's legal analysis with respect to Indonesia's claims under Article 2.2 of the TBT Agreement. Should Indonesia seek review by the Appellate Body of the Panel's findings with respect to Indonesia's claims under Article 2.2, the United States seeks review by the Appellate Body of the Panel's finding that it could draw upon jurisprudence developed under Article XX(b) of the *General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* when assessing the consistency of Section 907(a)(1)(A) with the requirement that technical regulations "not be more trade-restrictive than necessary to fulfill a legitimate objective ...".¹⁶ While the United States agrees with the ultimate conclusion in the Panel Report regarding Indonesia's claims under Article 2.2 of the TBT Agreement, the United States considers the Panel's analysis on this particular aspect to be based on erroneous findings on issues of law and related legal interpretations with respect to Article 2.2 of the TBT Agreement.

⁶See, e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.116, 7.119, 7.206-7.232.

⁷See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.210.

⁸See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.292.

⁹See, e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.274, 7.277.

¹⁰See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.289.

¹¹See, e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.269, 7.286-7.291.

¹²See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.289.

¹³See, e.g., Panel Report, para. 7.289.

¹⁴See e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.595, 8.1(h).

¹⁵See e.g., Panel Report, paras. 7.561-7.595.

¹⁶Panel Report, paras. 7.351-7.369.